RIEMANN-HILBERT CORRESPONDENCE FOR HOLONOMIC D-MODULES

by ANDREA D'AGNOLO* and MASAKI KASHIWARA**

ABSTRACT

The classical Riemann-Hilbert correspondence establishes an equivalence between the triangulated category of regular holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules and that of constructible sheaves.

In this paper, we prove a Riemann-Hilbert correspondence for holonomic *D*-modules which are not necessarily regular. The construction of our target category is based on the theory of ind-sheaves by Kashiwara-Schapira and influenced by Tamarkin's work. Among the main ingredients of our proof is the description of the structure of flat meromorphic connections due to Mochizuki and Kedlaya.

CONTENTS

| 1. Introduction |
|--|
| 2. Notations and complements |
| 3. Bordered spaces |
| 4. Enhanced ind-sheaves |
| 5. Review of tempered functions |
| 6. Exponential $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$ -modules |
| 7. Normal form of holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules |
| 8. Enhanced tempered functions |
| 9. Riemann-Hilbert correspondence |
| Acknowledgements |
| References |

1. Introduction

1.1. On a complex manifold, the classical Riemann-Hilbert correspondence establishes an equivalence between the triangulated category of regular holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules and that of constructible sheaves (see [9]). Here \mathcal{D} denotes the sheaf of differential operators.

In particular, flat meromorphic connections with regular singularities correspond to local systems on the complementary of the singular locus (see [5]).

1.2. The problem of extending the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence to cover the case of holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules with irregular singularities has been open for 30 years. Some results in this direction have appeared in the literature.

In the one-dimensional case, classical results of Levelt-Turittin and Hukuhara-Turittin describe the formal structure and the asymptotic expansion on sectors of flat

^{*} The first author was partially supported by grant CPDA122824/12, Padova University, and by the project "Differential methods in Arithmetic, Geometry and Algebra", Fondazione Cariparo.

 $^{^{\}star\star}$ The second author was partially supported by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B) 22340005, Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

meromorphic connections which are not necessarily regular. Using these descriptions, Deligne and Malgrange established a Riemann-Hilbert correspondence on a complex curve for holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules with a fixed set of singular points (see [6]). See also the work of Babbitt and Varadarajan [1].

Recently, Mochizuki [19, 20] and Kedlaya [16, 17] extended the results of Levelt-Turittin and Hukuhara-Turittin to higher dimensions. Namely, they proved that any flat meromorphic connection becomes "good" after blowing-ups. Sabbah [24] obtained an analogue of the construction by Deligne and Malgrange on a complex manifold for "good" flat meromorphic connections with a fixed singular locus.

1.3. In this paper, we prove a Riemann-Hilbert correspondence for holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules on a complex manifold. The construction of our target category is based on the theory of ind-sheaves by Kashiwara and Schapira [13] and influenced by the work of Tamarkin [25]. The description of the structure of flat meromorphic connections by Mochizuki and Kedlaya is one of the key ingredients of our proof.

Let us explain our results in greater detail.

1.4. Let X be a complex manifold. As we have already mentioned, the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence of [9] establishes an equivalence between the triangulated category $D^{b}_{rh}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ of regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_{X} -modules and the triangulated category $D^{b}_{c-c}(\mathbf{C}_{X})$ of **C**-constructible sheaves on X. More precisely, there are functors

(1.1)
$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{rh}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}) \xrightarrow[\Psi_{\mathrm{X}}]{\cong} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{C}^{\mathrm{-c}}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})$$

quasi-inverse to each other. Here, $\mathcal{DR}_X(\mathcal{L}) := \Omega_X \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_X}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{L}$ is the holomorphic de Rham complex with Ω_X the sheaf of holomorphic differential forms of highest degree, and $\Psi_X(L) := \mathcal{T}hom(D_XL, \mathcal{O}_X)[d_X]$ is the complex of holomorphic functions tempered along the dual D_XL of L.

In particular, a regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{L} can be reconstructed from $\mathcal{DR}_X(\mathcal{L})$.

Let \mathcal{M} be an irregular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module, and consider the regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module $\mathcal{M}_{reg} := \Psi_X(\mathcal{DR}_X(\mathcal{M}))$. Since $\mathcal{DR}_X(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}_X(\mathcal{M}_{reg})$, it follows that \mathcal{M} cannot be reconstructed from $\mathcal{DR}_X(\mathcal{M})$.

1.5. The theory of ind-sheaves, that is, of ind-objects in the category of sheaves with compact support, was initiated and developed by Kashiwara and Schapira [13]. In such a framework, one can consider the complex \mathcal{O}_X^t of tempered holomorphic functions, which is an object of the derived category of ind-sheaves $\mathsf{D}^b(\mathsf{IC}_X)$. This is related to the functor Ψ_X in (1.1), since one has $\mathsf{RHom}(\mathsf{F}, \mathcal{O}_X^t) \simeq \mathcal{T}hom(\mathsf{F}, \mathcal{O}_X)$ for any **R**-constructible sheaf F.

Set $\Omega_X^t = \Omega_X \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_X^t$. For a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{M} , the tempered de Rham complex $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_X^t(\mathcal{M}) := \Omega_X^t \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_X}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}$ has been introduced and studied in [14] and studied further in [21, 22]. This complex retains some information on the irregularity of \mathcal{M} . For example, let $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$ be a meromorphic function with poles at a hypersurface Y, and denote by $\mathcal{E}_{X \setminus Y \mid X}^{\varphi}$ the exponential \mathcal{D}_X -module generated by e^{φ} (see Definition 6.1.1). Then one has

(1.2)
$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{X}\backslash\mathrm{Y}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\backslash\mathrm{Y}}, \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``Im}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{x \in \mathrm{X}\backslash\mathrm{Y}; -\operatorname{Re}\varphi(x) < a\}}\right)[\dim \mathrm{X}],$$

where \mathcal{I} hom denotes the inner-hom functor of ind-sheaves and $\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus Y}$ denotes the extension by zero to X of the constant sheaf on $X \setminus Y$.

Since $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{\mathsf{X}\setminus\mathsf{Y}|\mathsf{X}}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{E}^{2\varphi}_{\mathsf{X}\setminus\mathsf{Y}|\mathsf{X}})$, one cannot reconstruct \mathcal{M} from $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M})$.

1.6. Denote by $\tau \in \mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$ the affine variable in the complex projective line \mathbf{P} . In this paper, we will show that \mathcal{M} can be reconstructed from the tempered de Rham complex $\mathcal{DR}_{X\times\mathbf{P}}^{t}(\mathcal{M}\boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}}\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau})$, an object of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X\times\mathbf{P}})$. In the case where X is a complex curve, we outlined a proof of this fact in [3]. The proof in the general case follows from the arguments in the present paper. However, in this paper we take as target category a modification of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X\times\mathbf{P}})$. As we now explain, this is related to a construction by Tamarkin [25] (see also Guillermou and Schapira [7] for an exposition and some complementary results).

1.7. On a real analytic manifold M, the microlocal theory of sheaves by Kashiwara and Schapira [11] associates to an object of $D^{b}(\mathbf{C}_{M})$ its microsupport, a closed conic involutive subset of the cotangent bundle T*M. In his study of symplectic topology, Tamarkin [25] uses the techniques of [11] in order to treat involutive subsets of T*M which are not necessarily conic. To this end, he adds a real variable $t \in \mathbf{R}$ and, denoting by $(t; t^*) \in T^*\mathbf{R}$ the associated symplectic coordinates, considers the quotient category $D^{b}(\mathbf{C}_{M\times\mathbf{R}})/\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}}$ by the category $\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}}$ consisting of objects microsupported on $\{t^* \leq 0\}$.

An important observation in [25] is that there are equivalences

(1.3)
$${}^{\perp}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^* \le 0\}} \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}}) / \mathcal{C}_{\{t^* \le 0\}} \simeq \mathcal{C}_{\{t^* \le 0\}}^{\perp}$$

between the quotient category and the left and right orthogonal categories. Moreover, such categories can be described without using the notion of microsupport. For example, $C_{\{t^* \leq 0\}}$ is the full subcategory of $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}})$ of objects whose convolution with $\mathbf{C}_{\{t \geq 0\}}$ vanishes.

1.8. Back to our complex manifold X, recall that we aim to reconstruct a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{M} from the tempered de Rham complex $\mathcal{DR}^t_{X \times \mathbf{P}}(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}^{-\tau}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}})$. As

we explain in Section 1.13 below, a special important case is when $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{E}_{X \setminus Y \mid X}^{\varphi}$ for $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$. Then, (1.2) implies that the tempered de Rham complex is described in terms of the ind-sheaf

(1.4)
$$\underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{(x,\tau) \in (X \setminus Y) \times \mathbf{C}; t - \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x) < a\}}.$$

Here $t = \operatorname{Re} \tau$ is the real part of the affine coordinate τ of the complex projective line **P**. We are thus led to replace the target category $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X\times\mathbf{P}})$ with what we call the category of enhanced ind-sheaves and denote by $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$. This is a quotient category of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X\times\mathbf{P}})$, where **P** is the real projective line.

Let us describe the category $E^{b}(IC_{X})$ in greater detail.

1.9. As a preliminary step, we introduce the notion of bordered space. A bordered space is a pair (M, \check{M}) of a topological space \check{M} and an open subset $M \subset \check{M}$, and we associate the triangulated category $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{(M,\check{M})}) := \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{\check{M}})/\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{\check{M}\backslash M})$ to it. There is a natural fully faithful embedding

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{M}}) \subset \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{(\mathsf{M}\,\check{\mathsf{M}})}).$$

The main example for us is the bordered space $\mathbf{R}_{\infty} := (\mathbf{R}, \mathsf{P})$. This notion appears naturally when we deal with ind-sheaves such as (1.4). For example, for $\varphi = 0$ such an ind-sheaf becomes trivial when restricted to $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X\times\mathbf{R}})$, but is a non trivial object of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$.

1.10. We define the category $E^{b}(I C_{X})$ of enhanced ind-sheaves by

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}) = \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})/\{\mathsf{K}; \mathsf{K}\simeq\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L} \text{ for some } \mathsf{L}\in\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}})\}.$$

Here $\pi: X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to X$ is the projection. This is related with Tamarkin's construction as follows. We set

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{+}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}) := \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})/\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{C}_{\{t^{*}\leq 0\}},$$

where $IC_{\{t^* \leq 0\}}$ is the full subcategory of objects whose convolution with $C_{\{t \geq 0\}}$ vanishes. As in (1.3), we have

$${}^{\perp}\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}}\simeq\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_+(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})\simeq\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}}^{\perp}$$

Replacing $\mathbf{C}_{\{t \ge 0\}}$ with $\mathbf{C}_{\{t \le 0\}}$ one obtains the category $\mathbf{E}_{-}^{b}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{X})$. It turns out that

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})\simeq\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{+}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})\oplus\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{-}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}).$$

This is the target category of our Riemann-Hilbert correspondence. It is a triangulated tensor category whose tensor product is given by the convolution $\overset{+}{\otimes}$ in the *t* variable.

1.11. Set
$$\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} := \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``Im}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{t \ge a\}}$$
. We say that an object K of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}})$ is stable if

 $\mathbf{K} \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{\cdot}$

There is a natural fully faithful embedding of the category of ind-sheaves into the category of stable enhanced ind-sheaves

$$e: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}), \qquad \mathrm{F} \mapsto \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}.$$

Denote by $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{C}_{X\times \mathsf{P}})$ the full subcategory of $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{C}_{X\times \mathsf{P}})$ whose objects have **R**-constructible cohomology groups. We say that an object K of $\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X})$ is **R**-constructible if, for any relatively compact subanalytic open subset $U \subset X$, there exists $F \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{C}_{X\times \mathsf{P}})$ such that

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathrm{K}\simeq\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F}.$$

Note that such a K is a stable object, and that **R**-constructibility is a local property on X. We denote by $\mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ the full subcategory of $\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ consisting of **R**-constructible objects.

1.12. We can now state our Riemann-Hilbert correspondence.

The objects of $E^b(I \mathbb{C}_X)$ which play a role analogous to the objects \mathcal{O}_X^t and Ω_X^t of $D^b(I \mathbb{C}_X)$ are

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} := i^{!} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{H} om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}} \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{\tau}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \big) [2], \qquad \Omega_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} := \Omega_{\mathbf{X}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}},$$

where $i: X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to X \times \mathbf{P}$ is the embedding. It turns out that $\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}$ and Ω_{X}^{E} are stable objects endowed with a natural \mathcal{D}_{X} -module structure.

Denote by $D^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ the full subcategory of $D^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ consisting of objects with holonomic cohomologies. We define the enhanced de Rham functor

$$\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{D}_{\mathrm{hol}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{X}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X}), \qquad \mathcal{M} \mapsto \Omega_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}$$

and the reconstruction functor

$$\Psi_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}c}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}}), \qquad \mathbf{K} \mapsto \mathcal{H}\textit{om}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big)[d_{\mathbf{X}}],$$

where $\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}$ is the hom-functor between enhanced ind-sheaves, with values in sheaves on X, and D_{X}^{E} is a natural duality functor of $\mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X})$.

Our main result can be stated as follows.

Theorem.

(i) The functor $\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}$ is fully faithful and takes values in $\mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{IC}_{X})$.

(ii) There is an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Psi_X^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{D} \mathcal{R}_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \big)$$

functorial in $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{\mathsf{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})$. In particular, one can reconstruct \mathcal{M} from $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M})$.

We prove the compatibility of $\mathcal{DR}_X^{\mathsf{E}}$ with duality. We also prove compatibility with the classical Riemann-Hilbert correspondence (1.1). More precisely, there is a quasi-commutative diagram:

1.13. A key ingredient in our proofs is the following (see Lemma 7.3.7). Let $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ be a statement concerning a complex manifold X and a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{M} . For example,

$$P_{X}(\mathcal{M}) = "\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Psi_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} (\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}))".$$

In order to prove $P_X(\mathcal{M})$, the results of Mochizuki [19, 20] and Kedlaya [16, 17] allow one, heuristically speaking, to reduce to the case when $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{X \setminus Y \mid X}$ for $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$.

1.14. Recall that irregular holonomic modules are subjected to the Stokes phenomenon. In Section 9.8 we describe with an example how the Stokes data are encoded topologically in our construction.

1.15. The contents of this paper are as follows.

Section 2 fixes notations regarding sheaves, ind-sheaves and \mathcal{D} -modules. References are made to [10, 11, 13]. We also state some complementary results which are of use in later sections.

In Section 3, we introduce the notion of bordered space and of ind-sheaves on it, and develop the formalism of operations in this context. We also discuss a natural *t*-structure in the triangulated category of ind-sheaves on a bordered space.

In Section 4, we introduce the category $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{M}})$ of enhanced ind-sheaves, mentioned in Section 1.10, and develop the formalism of operations in this framework. We also introduce the notion of **R**-constructible objects in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{M}})$.

Section 5 recalls from [12, 13] the construction and main properties of the indsheaves of tempered distributions $\mathcal{D}b_{M}^{t}$ on a real analytic manifold M, and of tempered holomorphic functions \mathcal{O}_X^t on a complex manifold X. As explained above, this is a fundamental ingredient of our construction.

In Section 6, we prove the isomorphism (1.2). The fundamental example where $X = \mathbf{C} \ni z$ and $\varphi(z) = 1/z$ has been already treated in [14].

Mochizuki and Kedlaya's results on the structure of flat meromorphic connections are recalled in Section 7. There, we give a precise formulation of the heuristic argument mentioned in Section 1.13.

Section 8 introduces and studies the enhancement $\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}$ of $\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{t}}$ mentioned in Section 1.12, along with the enhancement $\mathcal{D}b_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}$ of $\mathcal{D}b_{M}^{\mathsf{t}}$.

Our main results, mentioned in Section 1.12, are stated and proved in Section 9.

2. Notations and complements

We fix here some notations regarding sheaves, ind-sheaves and \mathcal{D} -modules, and state some complementary results that we will need in later sections. Our notations follow those in [10, 11, 13], to which we refer for further detail.

Let us say that a topological space is *good* if it is Hausdorff, locally compact, countable at infinity and has finite flabby dimension.

In this paper, we take a field \mathbf{k} as base ring. However, after minor modifications, one can take any regular ring as base ring.

For a category C, we denote by C^{op} the opposite category of C. For a ring A, we denote by A^{op} the opposite ring of A.

2.1. Sheaves. — Let M be a good topological space. Denote by $Mod(\mathbf{k}_M)$ the abelian category of sheaves of **k**-vector spaces on M, and by $D^b(\mathbf{k}_M)$ its bounded derived category.

For a locally closed subset $S \subset M$, denote by \mathbf{k}_S the extension by zero to M of the constant sheaf on S.

For $f: M \to N$ a morphism of good topological spaces, denote by \otimes , $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om, f^{-1}$, $\mathsf{R}f_*, \mathsf{R}f_!, f^!$ the six Grothendieck operations for sheaves. Denote by \boxtimes the exterior product.

We define the duality functor D_M of $D^b(\mathbf{k}_M)$ by

 $D_M F = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om(F, \omega_M) \text{ for } F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_M),$

where ω_M denotes the dualizing complex. If M is a C⁰-manifold of dimension d_M , one has $\omega_M \simeq \operatorname{or}_M[d_M]$, where or_M denotes the orientation sheaf.

2.2. Ind-sheaves. — The theory of ind-sheaves has been introduced and developed in [13].

Let \mathcal{C} be a category and denote by \mathcal{C}^{\wedge} the category of contravariant functors from \mathcal{C} to the category of sets. Consider the Yoneda embedding $h: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}^{\wedge}, X \mapsto \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(*, X)$.

The category \mathcal{C}^{\wedge} admits small inductive limits. Since *h* does not commute with inductive limits, one denotes by "lim" instead of lim the inductive limits taken in \mathcal{C}^{\wedge} .

An ind-object in \mathcal{C} is an object of \mathcal{C}^{\wedge} isomorphic to $\underbrace{\lim_{i \in I}}^{i} X(i)$ for some functor $X: I \to \mathcal{C}$ with a small filtrant category I. Denote by $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{C})$ the full subcategory of \mathcal{C}^{\wedge} consisting of ind-objects in \mathcal{C}^{\wedge} .

Let M be a good topological space. The category of ind-sheaves on M is the category $I(\mathbf{k}_M) := Ind(Mod_{\ell}(\mathbf{k}_M))$ of ind-objects in the category $Mod_{\ell}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ of sheaves with compact support. Denote by $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ the bounded derived category of $I(\mathbf{k}_M)$.

There is a natural exact embedding $\iota_M \colon Mod(\mathbf{k}_M) \to I(\mathbf{k}_M)$ given by $F \mapsto$ "lim"($\mathbf{k}_U \otimes F$), for U running over the relatively compact open subsets of M. The functor

 ι_{M} has an exact left adjoint α_{M} : $I(\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to Mod(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ given by $\alpha_{M}(\underset{\longrightarrow}{}^{(\text{lim})}\mathbf{F}_{i}) = \underset{\longrightarrow}{}$ If \mathbf{k}_{i} . The functor α_{M} has an exact fully faithful left adjoint β_{M} : $Mod(\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to I(\mathbf{k}_{M})$. For example,

if $Z \subset M$ is a closed subset, one has

$$\beta_{\mathrm{M}}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{Z}}\simeq \lim_{U}\mathbf{k}_{\overline{\mathrm{U}}},$$

where U ranges over the family of open subsets of M containing Z.

For $f: \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{N}$ a morphism of good topological spaces, denote by \otimes , $\mathbb{RI}hom, f^{-1}$, $\mathbb{R}f_*, \mathbb{R}f_{!!}, f^!$ the six Grothendieck operations for ind-sheaves. Denote by \boxtimes the exterior product.

Since ind-sheaves form a stack, they have a sheaf-valued hom-functor $\mathcal{H}\textit{om}$. One has $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\textit{om} \simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\textit{hom}$.

We will need the following proposition to calculate RI hom.

For $a \leq b$ in **Z**, denote by $\mathbf{C}^{[a,b]}(Mod(\mathbf{k}_M))$ the category of complexes of sheaves \mathbf{F}^{\bullet} such that $\mathbf{F}^k = 0$ unless $a \leq k \leq b$.

Proposition **2.2.1.** — Let $f : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ be a morphism of good topological spaces. Let $\mathbf{G} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ and let $\{\mathbf{F}^{\bullet}_{n}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}}$ be an inductive system in $\mathsf{C}^{[a,b]}(\mathrm{Mod}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}))$ for some $a \leq b$ in \mathbb{Z} . Assume that the pro-object

$$\underset{n}{\overset{\text{``lim'}}{\underset{n}{\underset{n}{\overset{}}}}} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{F}_{n}^{\bullet},\mathsf{G}\right) \in \operatorname{Pro}\left(\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}})\right)$$

is represented by an object of $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$. Then

$$\mathsf{R}f_*\mathsf{RIhom}\left(\underset{n}{\overset{\text{``lim}}{\longrightarrow}}\mathsf{F}^\bullet_n,\mathsf{G}\right)\simeq\underset{n}{\overset{\text{``lim}}{\longrightarrow}}\mathsf{R}f_*\mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathsf{F}^\bullet_n,\mathsf{G}\right).$$

Proof. — Set $S_n^{\bullet} = \bigoplus_{k \le n} F_k^{\bullet}$ and denote by \tilde{F}_n^{\bullet} the mapping cone of the morphism $S_{n-1}^{\bullet} \to S_n^{\bullet}$. Note that the morphism $\tilde{F}_n^{\bullet} \to F_n^{\bullet}$ induced by the projection $S_n^{\bullet} \to F_n^{\bullet}$ is a

quasi-isomorphism. Consider the morphism $S_n^{\bullet} \to S_n^{\bullet} \oplus F_{n+1}^{\bullet} = S_{n+1}^{\bullet}$ obtained by $id_{S_n^{\bullet}}$ and $S_n^{\bullet} \to F_n^{\bullet} \to F_{n+1}^{\bullet}$. This induces a morphism $\tilde{F}_n^k \to \tilde{F}_{n+1}^k$ which has a cosection for any *k* and *n*. Hence, replacing F_n^{\bullet} with \tilde{F}_n^{\bullet} , we may assume from the beginning that the morphism $F_n^k \to F_{n+1}^k$ has a cosection for any *k* and *n*.

We may also assume that G^{\bullet} is a complex of quasi-injective sheaves, i.e. that the functor Hom $(*, G^n)$ is exact in Mod (\mathbf{k}_M) for any $n \in \mathbf{Z}$.

In order to prove that the morphism

$$\mathsf{R}f_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\underset{n}{\overset{(``\lim)}{\longrightarrow}}\mathsf{F}^\bullet_n,\mathsf{G}^\bullet\right)\xrightarrow{u}{\overset{(`)}{\longrightarrow}}\underset{n}{\overset{(``)}{\longrightarrow}}\mathsf{R}f_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{F}^\bullet_n,\mathsf{G}^\bullet\right)$$

is an isomorphism, it is enough to show that $\mathsf{RHom}(H, u)$ is a quasi-isomorphism for any $H \in \mathrm{Mod}(\mathbf{k}_N)$.

Set $E_n^{\bullet} = \text{Hom}(F_n^{\bullet} \otimes f^{-1}H, G^{\bullet})$. Then

$$\lim_{n} \mathbf{E}_{n}^{\bullet} \simeq \mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{H}, \mathsf{R}f_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\underset{n}{\overset{(\text{``lim})}{\longrightarrow}}\mathsf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}, \mathbf{G}^{\bullet}\right)\right),$$

$$``lim_{n}{\overset{(\text{``lim})}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{H}^{k}\left(\mathbf{E}_{n}^{\bullet}\right) \simeq \mathbf{H}^{k}\mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{H}, \underset{n}{\overset{(\text{``lim})}{\longrightarrow}} \mathsf{R}f_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}, \mathbf{G}^{\bullet}\right)\right).$$

Hence we have to show that

is an isomorphism for any k. Since $E_{n+1}^{\bullet} \to E_n^{\bullet}$ is an epimorphism and $\{H^k(E_n^{\bullet})\}_n$ satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition, we conclude that (2.2.1) is an isomorphism.

Let us recall the results of [15, Section 15.4]. These provide useful tools to reduce proofs of many results in the framework of ind-sheaves to analogous results in sheaf theory.

Recall that $Mod_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ denotes the category of sheaves with compact support. Then $D^{b}(Mod_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M}))$ is equivalent to the full triangulated subcategory of $D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ consisting of objects with compact support.

Proposition 2.2.2 (Cf. [15, Section 15.4]). — There exists a canonical functor

 $J_{\mathrm{M}} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathrm{Ind}\big(\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}\big(\mathrm{Mod}_{\scriptscriptstyle{\ell}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})\big)\big)$

which satisfies the following properties:

(i) For $F \in D^{b}(Mod_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M}))$, and $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$, we have

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})}(F,K) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ind}(\mathsf{D}^{b}(\operatorname{Mod}_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})))} (J_{M}(F),J_{M}(K)).$

- (ii) The functor J_M is conservative, i.e. a morphism u in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ is an isomorphism as soon as $J_M(u)$ is an isomorphism.
- (iii) $J_M(F) \simeq F$ for any $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathrm{Mod}_{\epsilon}(\mathbf{k}_M))$.
- (iv) $J_M(\text{``lim''} F_i) \simeq \lim_{M \to \infty} J_M(F_i)$ for any filtrant inductive system $\{F_i\}$ in Mod (\mathbf{k}_M) . Here,

lim denotes the inductive limit in the category $Ind(\mathsf{D}^{b}(Mod_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})))$.

- (v) J_M commutes with \otimes and $J_M \mathsf{RI}(F, G) \simeq \mathsf{RH}(F, J_M(G))$ for $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ and $G \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_M)$. Here, $\mathsf{RH}(F, *)$ denotes the endofunctor of $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Mod}_c(\mathbf{k}_M)))$ induced by the endofunctor $\mathsf{RH}(F, *)$ of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Mod}_c(\mathbf{k}_M))$.
- (vi) $H^n J_M(F) \simeq H^n F$ for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $F \in D^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$. Here, H^n on the right hand side is the cohomology functor $D^b(I\mathbf{k}_M) \to I(\mathbf{k}_M)$, and H^n on the left hand side is the functor $Ind(D^b(Mod_c(\mathbf{k}_M))) \to Ind(Mod_c(\mathbf{k}_M)) = I(\mathbf{k}_M)$ induced by the cohomology functor $D^b(Mod_c(\mathbf{k}_M)) \to Mod_c(\mathbf{k}_M)$.
- (vii) Let $f: \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ be a continuous map. Then
 - $(a) \ J_N \circ \mathsf{R} \mathit{f}_{!!} \simeq \mathsf{R} \mathit{f}_! \circ J_M.$
 - (b) $J_{M} \circ f^{-1} \simeq f^{-1} \circ J_{N}$ and $J_{M} \circ f^{!} \simeq f^{!} \circ J_{N}$. Here, for $u = f^{-1}, f^{!}$, we denote by the same letter the composition

$$\mathrm{Ind}\big(\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}\big(\mathrm{Mod}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathcal{C}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}})\big)\big) \xrightarrow{u} \mathrm{Ind}\big(\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})\big) \to \mathrm{Ind}\big(\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}\big(\mathrm{Mod}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathcal{C}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})\big)\big).$$

The last arrow is given by " \varinjlim_{i} " $F_i \mapsto$ " $\varinjlim_{i,U}$ " (F_i)_U, where U ranges over the relatively compact open subsets of M.

Note that $J_N \circ Rf_* \simeq Rf_* \circ J_M$ *does not* hold in general. As an example of application of Proposition 2.2.2, one has the following result.

Corollary **2.2.3.** — Let $G \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$, $K \in D^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $\{F_{i}\}$ a filtrant inductive system in $Mod(\mathbf{k}_{M})$. If supp G is compact, then

Proof. — One has $J_M(K \otimes \underset{i}{\overset{\text{``lim}`'}{\mapsto}} F_i) \simeq \underset{i}{\overset{\text{lim}}{\mapsto}} J_M(K \otimes F_i)$ by Proposition 2.2.2(iv) and (v). Then the assertion follows from Proposition 2.2.2(i).

Here is another application of Proposition 2.2.2.

Proposition **2.2.4.** — Let $f: \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ be a continuous map of good topological spaces and $\mathbf{K} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}})$. Let U be an open subset of M and $\{\mathbf{V}_n\}_{n \in \mathbf{Z}_{\geq 0}}$ an increasing sequence of open subsets of N. Assume that

$$U \cap \overline{f^{-1}(V_n)} \subset f^{-1}(V_{n+1})$$
 for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Then, setting $L = \underset{n}{\overset{\text{``Im}}{\underset{n}{\longrightarrow}}} \mathbf{k}_{V_n}$, there is an isomorphism

$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!} \mathrm{K} \otimes f^{-1} \mathrm{L} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!} (\mathrm{K} \otimes \mathrm{L}).$$

Proof. — Since the question is local on M, we may assume that U is relatively compact. By the assumption, $U \cap \sup(f^{!}(K \otimes \mathbf{k}_{V_{n}})) \subset f^{-1}(V_{n+1})$. Thus we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!}(\mathrm{K} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{V}_{n}}) & \xleftarrow{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!}(\mathrm{K} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{V}_{n}}) \otimes f^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{V}_{n+1}}, \\ & \longrightarrow \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!}\mathrm{K} \otimes f^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{V}_{n+1}}. \end{aligned}$$

By applying J_M and taking the inductive limit with respect to *n* in $Ind(D^b(Mod_c(\mathbf{k}_M)))$, we obtain a morphism

$$\lim_{n} J_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!}(\mathrm{K} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{V}_{n}})) \to \lim_{n} J_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!}\mathrm{K} \otimes f^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{V}_{n}}).$$

By Proposition 2.2.2(iv), (v) and (viib), this gives a morphism

$$J_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes f^{!}(\mathrm{K}\otimes \mathrm{L})) \longrightarrow J_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes f^{!}\mathrm{K}\otimes f^{-1}\mathrm{L}).$$

We can easily see that this is an inverse to the natural morphism

$$J_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!} \mathrm{K} \otimes f^{-1} \mathrm{L}) \to J_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}} \otimes f^{!} (\mathrm{K} \otimes \mathrm{L})).$$

Hence, the statement follows from Proposition 2.2.2(ii).

We will use the following lemma only in Remark 4.7.13.

Lemma 2.2.5. — Let M be a good topological space and $\{F_n^{\bullet}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}}$ an inductive system in $C^{[a,b]}(Mod(\mathbf{k}_M))$ for some $a \leq b$ in \mathbb{Z} . Then

$$\mathsf{RIhom}\left(\underset{n}{\overset{``}{\varinjlim}}, F_{n}^{\bullet}, \omega_{\mathrm{M}}\right) \xleftarrow{\sim} \mathsf{RIhom}\left(\underset{n}{\varinjlim} F_{n}^{\bullet}, \omega_{\mathrm{M}}\right).$$

Here, $\varinjlim_{n} \mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}$ *is the inductive limit of* $\{\mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}}$ *in* $\mathbf{C}^{[a,b]}(\mathrm{Mod}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}))$.

Proof. — By dévissage, we may assume that the morphism $F_n^k \to F_{n+1}^k$ has a cosection for each *k* and *n*, as in the proof of Proposition 2.2.1, and that all the sheaves F_n^k are soft sheaves.

Then, for any $G \in Mod_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$,

$$\mathsf{RHom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathrm{G}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\underset{n}{\overset{(``\lim)}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}, \omega_{\mathrm{M}}\right)\right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{RHom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathrm{G}\otimes\underset{n}{\overset{(``\lim)}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}, \omega_{\mathrm{M}}\right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{RHom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k})}\left(\mathsf{R}\Gamma_{\varepsilon}\left(\mathrm{M}; \mathrm{G}\otimes\underset{n}{\overset{(``im)}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}\right), \mathbf{k}\right).$$

Since $G \otimes F_n^k$ are soft sheaves (see [11, Lemma 3.1.2]),

$$\mathsf{R}\Gamma_{\varepsilon}\Big(\mathrm{M}; \mathrm{G}\otimes \underset{n}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathrm{F}_{n}^{\bullet}\Big)\simeq \underset{n}{\overset{\text{`'lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \Gamma_{\varepsilon}\big(\mathrm{M}; \mathrm{G}\otimes \mathrm{F}_{n}^{\bullet}\big).$$

Hence

$$\mathsf{RHom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k})}\Big(\mathsf{R}\Gamma_{c}\Big(\mathsf{M};\mathsf{G}\otimes\underset{n}{\overset{\underset{n}{\overset{\underset{n}{\overset{}}}{\overset{}}}{\underset{n}{\overset{}}}}\mathsf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}\Big),\mathbf{k}\Big)\simeq\mathsf{R}\pi\underset{n}{\overset{\underset{n}{\overset{\underset{n}{\overset{}}}{\overset{}}}{\underset{n}{\overset{}}}}\Gamma_{c}\big(\mathsf{M};\mathsf{G}\otimes\mathsf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}\big)^{*},$$

where π : Pro(Mod(**k**)) \rightarrow Mod(**k**) is the functor of taking the projective limit (see [15, Corollary 13.3.16]). Since $\Gamma_{c}(M; G \otimes F_{n}^{\bullet})^{*}$ satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition, one has

$$\mathsf{R}^{i}\pi$$
 " \lim_{n} " $\Gamma_{c}(\mathsf{M}; \mathsf{G}\otimes\mathsf{F}^{\bullet}_{n})^{*}\simeq 0$ for any $i\neq 0$.

Hence

This implies that

$$\mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{G}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\varinjlim_{n} \mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}, \omega_{\mathbf{M}}\right)\right)$$
$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{G}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\liminf_{n}^{\bullet} \mathbf{F}_{n}^{\bullet}, \omega_{\mathbf{M}}\right)\right)$$

for any $G \in Mod_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$, and hence we obtain the desired result.

2.3. R-constructible sheaves. — The notion of subanalytic subset and of **R**-constructible sheaf, usually defined on real analytic manifolds, naturally extend to subanalytic spaces (cf. [11, Exercise IX.2]).

Definition **2.3.1.** — A subanalytic space (M, S_M) is an **R**-ringed space which is locally isomorphic to (Z, S_Z) , where Z is a closed subanalytic subset of a real analytic manifold, and S_Z is the sheaf of **R**-algebras of real valued subanalytic continuous functions. In this paper, we assume that subanalytic spaces are good topological spaces.

One naturally defines the category of subanalytic spaces. The morphisms are morphisms of **R**-ringed spaces.

Let M be a subanalytic space. One says that an object of $D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ is **R**-constructible if all of its cohomologies are **R**-constructible. Denote by $D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ the full subcategory of **R**-constructible objects of $D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$. The category $D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ is triangulated and is closed under \otimes , $\mathbb{RH}om$ and the duality functor D_{M} .

The following two propositions are classical results (see e.g. [11, Propositions 3.4.3, 3.4.4, 8.4.9]).

Proposition **2.3.2.** — Let M be a subanalytic space and $F \in D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$. Then the natural morphism

$$F \rightarrow D_M D_M F$$

is an isomorphism.

Proposition **2.3.3.** — Let M be a subanalytic space and N a good topological space. Let $p_1: M \times N \to M$ and $p_2: M \times N \to N$ be the projections. Then for any $F \in D^{\rm b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{\rm M})$ and $G \in D^{\rm b}(\mathbf{k}_{\rm N})$ the natural morphism

$$p_1^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{M}} \mathbf{F} \otimes p_2^{-1} \mathbf{G} \to \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om(p_1^{-1} \mathbf{F}, p_2^! \mathbf{G})$$

is an isomorphism.

Hence, by applying Corollary 2.2.3, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 2.3.4. — Let M, N, p_1 and p_2 be as in Proposition 2.3.3. Let $F \in D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $G \in D^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{N})$. Then there are isomorphisms

$$p_{2}^{!} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes p_{2}^{-1} \mathbf{G} \xrightarrow{\sim} p_{2}^{!} \mathbf{G},$$
$$p_{1}^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{M}} \mathbf{F} \otimes p_{2}^{-1} \mathbf{G} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom (p_{1}^{-1} \mathbf{F}, p_{2}^{!} \mathbf{G}).$$

Corollary **2.3.5.** — Let M be a subanalytic space and N a good topological space. Let $F_1, F_2 \in D^b_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ and $G_1, G_2 \in D^b(\mathbf{Ik}_N)$. Then the canonical morphism

$$\mathsf{RHom}(\mathrm{F}_1,\mathrm{F}_2) \boxtimes \mathsf{RIhom}(\mathrm{G}_1,\mathrm{G}_2) \to \mathsf{RIhom}(\mathrm{F}_1 \boxtimes \mathrm{G}_1,\mathrm{F}_2 \boxtimes \mathrm{G}_2)$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. — Let
$$p_1 \colon \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \to \mathbf{M}$$
 and $p_2 \colon \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \to \mathbf{N}$ be the projections. We have
 $p_1^{-1} \mathbf{F}_2 \otimes p_2^{-1} \mathbf{G}_2 \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p_1^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}} \mathbf{F}_2, p_2^! \mathbf{G}_2\right).$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}_{1}\otimes p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{G}_{1}, p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}_{2}\otimes p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{G}_{2}\right)\\ \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}_{1}\otimes p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{G}_{1}\otimes p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{M}\mathrm{F}_{2}, p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{G}_{2}\right)\\ \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p_{1}^{-1}(\mathrm{F}_{1}\otimes \mathrm{D}_{M}\mathrm{F}_{2}), \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{G}_{1}, p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{G}_{2}\right)\right)\\ \approx \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{M}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathrm{F}_{1}, \mathrm{F}_{2}\right), p_{2}^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{G}_{1}, \mathrm{G}_{2}\right)\right)\\ \simeq p_{1}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathrm{F}_{1}, \mathrm{F}_{2}\right)\otimes p_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{G}_{1}, \mathrm{G}_{2}\right). \end{split}$$

Here, in (*) we have used

$$F_1 \otimes D_M F_2 \simeq D_M \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om(F_1, F_2),$$

which follows from

$$\begin{split} D_{M}(F_{1} \otimes D_{M}F_{2}) &= \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\textit{om}\,(F_{1} \otimes D_{M}F_{2},\omega_{M}) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\textit{om}\,\big(F_{1},\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\textit{om}\,(D_{M}F_{2},\omega_{M})\big) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\textit{om}\,(F_{1},F_{2}). \end{split}$$

2.4. Subanalytic ind-sheaves. — Let M be a subanalytic space. An ind-sheaf on M is called subanalytic if it is isomorphic to a small filtrant ind-limit of **R**-constructible sheaves. Let us denote by $I_{suban}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ the category of subanalytic ind-sheaves. Note that it is stable by kernels, cokernels and extensions in $I(\mathbf{k}_M)$. An object of $D^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ is called subanalytic if all of its cohomologies are subanalytic. Denote by $D^b_{suban}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ the full subcategory of subanalytic objects in $D^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$. It is a triangulated category.*

Let $\mathrm{Op}_{M_{sa}}$ be the category of relatively compact subanalytic open subsets of M, whose morphisms are inclusions.

^{*} In [13], subanalytic ind-sheaves are called ind-**R**-constructible sheaves, and $I_{suban}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ and $D^{b}_{suban}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ are denoted by $I_{\mathbf{R}c}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ and $D^{b}_{I\mathbf{R}c}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$, respectively.

Definition **2.4.1** (Cf. [12, 13]). — A subanalytic sheaf F is a functor $Op_{M_{sa}}^{op} \rightarrow Mod(\mathbf{k})$ which satisfies

(i)
$$F(\emptyset) = 0$$
.
(ii) For U, V $\in Op_{M_{sa}}$, the sequence

$$0 \to F(U \cup V) \xrightarrow{r_1} F(U) \oplus F(V) \xrightarrow{r_2} F(U \cap V)$$

is exact. Here r_1 is given by the restriction maps and r_2 is given by the restriction $F(U) \rightarrow F(U \cap V)$ and the opposite of the restriction $F(V) \rightarrow F(U \cap V)$.

Denote by $Mod(\mathbf{k}_{M_{sa}})$ the category of subanalytic sheaves.

The following result is proved in [13].

Proposition 2.4.2. — The category $I_{suban}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ of subanalytic ind-sheaves and the category $Mod(\mathbf{k}_{M_{sa}})$ of subanalytic sheaves are equivalent by the functor associating with $F \in I_{suban}(\mathbf{k}_M)$ the subanalytic sheaf

$$\operatorname{Op}_{M_{sa}}\ni U\longmapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{I(\boldsymbol{k}_M)}(\boldsymbol{k}_U,F).$$

In particular, we have

Proposition **2.4.3.** — Let $K \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{suban}(\mathbf{Ik}_{M})$. Then $K \simeq 0$ if and only if

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{U}}[n], \mathrm{K}) \simeq 0$

for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any relatively compact subanalytic open subset $U \subset M$.

We will need the following result.

Lemma **2.4.4.** — Let M be a subanalytic space and $K \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{suban}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times [0,1]})$. Then $K \simeq 0$ if and only if $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times [0,1]})}(\mathbf{k}_{U}[n], K) \simeq 0$ for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and any relatively compact subanalytic open subset $U \subset M \times [0, 1]$ such that each fiber of $U \to M$ is either empty or connected.

This follows from Proposition 2.4.3 and the following lemma.

Lemma **2.4.5.** — Any relatively compact subanalytic open subset of $M \times [0, 1]$ is a finite union of subanalytic open sets U such that each fiber of $U \rightarrow M$ is either empty or connected.

For a similar statement, see [12, Lemma 3.6].

2.5. \mathcal{D} -modules. — Let X be a complex manifold. We denote by d_X its (complex) dimension. Denote by \mathcal{O}_X and \mathcal{D}_X the sheaves of algebras of holomorphic functions and of differential operators, respectively. Denote by Ω_X the invertible sheaf of differential forms of top degree.

Denote by $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ the category of left \mathcal{D}_X -modules, and by $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ its bounded derived category. For $f: X \to Y$ a morphism of complex manifolds, denote by \otimes^{D} , $\mathsf{D}f^*$, $\mathsf{D}f_*$ the operations for \mathcal{D} -modules. Denote by \boxtimes^{D} the exterior product.

Let us denote by

$$(\mathbf{2.5.1}) \qquad r: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{op}})$$

the equivalence of categories given by the functor $\mathcal{M}^r = \Omega_X \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}$. Consider the dual of $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ given by

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{X}}\mathcal{M} = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}} \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\otimes -1})[d_{\mathrm{X}}],$$

where the shift is chosen so that $\mathbf{D}_{X}\mathcal{O}_{X} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{X}$.

Denote by $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{coh}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{q\text{-good}}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ the full subcategories of $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ whose objects have coherent, quasi-good and good cohomologies, respectively. Here, a \mathcal{D}_{X} -module \mathcal{M} is called *quasi-good* if, for any relatively compact open subset $U \subset X$, $\mathcal{M}|_{U}$ is the sum of a filtrant family of coherent $(\mathcal{O}_{X}|_{U})$ -submodules. A \mathcal{D}_{X} -module \mathcal{M} is called *good* if it is quasi-good and coherent.

Recall that to a coherent \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{M} one associates its characteristic variety char(\mathcal{M}), a closed conic involutive subset of the cotangent bundle T*X. If char(\mathcal{M}) is Lagrangian, \mathcal{M} is called holonomic. For the notion of regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module, refer e.g. to [10, Section 5.2].

Denote by $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{rh}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ the full subcategories of $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ whose objects have holonomic and regular holonomic cohomologies, respectively.

Note that $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{coh}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{q-good}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{rh}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ are triangulated categories.

If $Y \subset X$ is a closed hypersurface, denote by $\mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$ the sheaf of meromorphic functions with poles at Y. It is a regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module. For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^b(\mathcal{D}_X)$, set

$$\mathcal{M}(*Y) = \mathcal{M} \otimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{O}_{X}(*Y).$$

If Y is a closed submanifold of X, denoting by $i: Y \to X$ the inclusion morphism, one sets

$$(\mathbf{2.5.2}) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{Y}} = \mathsf{D}i_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{Y}}.$$

Then \mathcal{B}_{Y} is concentrated in degree zero, and is a regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_{X} -module.

For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{coh}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, denote by sing. $supp(\mathcal{M}) \subset X$ its singular support, that is the set of points where $char(\mathcal{M}) := \bigcup_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} char(\mathrm{H}^{i}\mathcal{M})$ is not contained in the zero-section of $\mathrm{T}^{*}X$.

Proposition **2.5.1** ([10, Theorem 4.33]). — Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of complex manifolds. Let $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ and $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_Y)$. If $\operatorname{supp}(\mathcal{M})$ is proper over Y, then $\mathsf{D}f_*\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_Y)$ and there is an isomorphism

$$\mathsf{R}_{f_*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_X}(\mathcal{M},\mathsf{D}_f^*\mathcal{N})[d_X] \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_Y}(\mathsf{D}_f*\mathcal{M},\mathcal{N})[d_Y].$$

In particular,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})}(\mathcal{M},\mathsf{D}f^{*}\mathcal{N}[d_{\mathrm{X}}]) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})}(\mathsf{D}f_{*}\mathcal{M},\mathcal{N}[d_{\mathrm{Y}}]).$$

Proposition **2.5.2** ([10, Theorem 4.40]). — If $f: X \to Y$ is a smooth morphism of complex manifolds, then for $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ and $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{coh}}(\mathcal{D}_Y)$ we have

$$\mathsf{R}f_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}(\mathsf{D}f^*\mathcal{N},\mathcal{M})[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}}}(\mathcal{N},\mathsf{D}f_*\mathcal{M})[d_{\mathrm{Y}}]$$

In particular,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})}(\mathsf{D}f^{*}\mathcal{N},\mathcal{M}[d_{X}]) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{Y})}(\mathcal{N},\mathsf{D}f_{*}\mathcal{M}[d_{Y}]).$$

A transversal Cartesian diagram is a commutative diagram

$$(2.5.3) \qquad \begin{array}{c} X' \xrightarrow{f'} Y' \\ \downarrow_{g'} & \Box & \downarrow_{g} \\ X \xrightarrow{f} & Y \end{array}$$

with $X' \simeq X \times_Y Y'$ and such that the map of tangent spaces

$$T_{g'(x)}X \oplus T_{f'(x)}Y' \to T_{f(g'(x))}Y$$

is surjective for any $x \in X'$.

Proposition **2.5.3.** — Consider the transversal Cartesian diagram (2.5.3). Then, for any $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{good}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$ such that $\mathrm{supp}(\mathcal{M})$ is proper over Y ,

$$\mathsf{D}g^*\mathsf{D}f_*\mathcal{M}\simeq \mathsf{D}f'_*\mathsf{D}g'^*\mathcal{M}.$$

3. Bordered spaces

Let \check{M} be a good topological space, and $M \subset \check{M}$ an open subset. For usual sheaves, the restriction functor $F \mapsto F|_M$ induces an equivalence

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}})/\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}).$$

This is no longer true for ind-sheaves, as seen by the following example.

Example. — Let $\check{M} = \mathbf{R}$ and M =]0, 1[. Consider the ind-sheaf on \check{M}

$$\beta_{\check{\mathrm{M}}}\mathbf{k}_{\{0\}} = \lim_{U \neq 0} \mathbf{k}_{\overline{\mathrm{U}}},$$

where U ranges over the family of open neighborhoods of $0 \in \check{\mathbf{M}}$. Then $\beta_{\check{\mathbf{M}}} \mathbf{k}_{\{0\}}|_{\mathbf{M}} \simeq 0$, but $\beta_{\check{\mathbf{M}}} \mathbf{k}_{\{0\}} \notin \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathbf{M}}\setminus\mathbf{M}})$.

Therefore, in the framework of ind-sheaves one should consider the quotient category $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})/\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\setminus M})$ attached to the pair (M, \check{M}). We will call such a pair a *bordered* space.

In this section, we define the category of bordered spaces, develop the formalism of external operations, and define the natural *t*-structure on the derived category of ind-sheaves on a bordered space.

3.1. Quotient categories. — Let \mathcal{D} be a triangulated category and $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathcal{D}$ a full triangulated subcategory. The quotient category \mathcal{D}/\mathcal{N} is defined as the localization \mathcal{D}_{Σ} of \mathcal{D} with respect to the multiplicative system Σ of morphisms u fitting into a distinguished triangle

$$X \xrightarrow{u} Y \longrightarrow Z \xrightarrow{+1}$$

with $Z \in \mathcal{N}$.

The right orthogonal \mathcal{N}^\perp and the left orthogonal $^\perp\mathcal{N}$ are the full subcategories of $\mathcal D$

$$\mathcal{N}^{\perp} = \{ \mathbf{X} \in \mathcal{D}; \text{ Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{X}) \simeq 0 \text{ for any } \mathbf{Y} \in \mathcal{N} \},\$$
$$^{\perp}\mathcal{N} = \{ \mathbf{X} \in \mathcal{D}; \text{ Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y}) \simeq 0 \text{ for any } \mathbf{Y} \in \mathcal{N} \}.$$

The following result is elementary (cf. [15, Exercise 10.15]).

Proposition **3.1.1.** — Assume that

if
$$X, Y \in \mathcal{D}, Z \in \mathcal{N}$$
 and $Z \simeq X \oplus Y$, then one has $X \in \mathcal{N}$.

Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) the composition $\mathcal{N}^{\perp} \to \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{D}/\mathcal{N}$ is an equivalence of categories,
- (ii) the embedding $\mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{D}$ has a right adjoint,
- (iii) the quotient functor $\mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{D}/\mathcal{N}$ has a right adjoint,
- (iv) for any $X \in \mathcal{D}$ there is a distinguished triangle $X' \to X \to X'' \xrightarrow{+1}$ with $X' \in \mathcal{N}$ and $X'' \in \mathcal{N}^{\perp}$.

Similar results hold for the left orthogonal.

86

3.2. Bordered spaces. — Let $M \subset \check{M}$ and $N \subset \check{N}$ be open embeddings of good topological spaces. For a continuous map $f \colon M \to N$, denote by Γ_f its graph in $M \times N$, and by $\overline{\Gamma}_f$ the closure of Γ_f in $\check{M} \times \check{N}$.

Definition **3.2.1.** — The category of bordered spaces is the category whose objects are pairs (M, \check{M}) with $M \subset \check{M}$ an open embedding of good topological spaces. Morphisms $f: (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ are continuous maps $f: M \rightarrow N$ such that

(3.2.1) $\overline{\Gamma}_f \rightarrow \check{M}$ is proper.

The composition of $(L, \check{L}) \xrightarrow{g} (M, \check{M}) \xrightarrow{f} (N, \check{N})$ is given by $f \circ g \colon L \to N$ (see Lemma 3.2.3 below), and the identity $\operatorname{id}_{(M,\check{M})}$ is given by id_{M} .

Remark **3.2.2.** — The properness assumption (3.2.1) is used in Lemma 3.3.10 below to prove the functoriality of external operations. It is satisfied in particular if either $M = \check{M}$ or \check{N} is compact.

Lemma **3.2.3.** — Let $f: (M, M) \rightarrow (N, N)$ and $g: (L, L) \rightarrow (M, M)$ be morphisms of bordered spaces. Then the composition $f \circ g$ is a morphism of bordered spaces.

Proof.—Note that $\overline{\Gamma}_g \times_{\check{M}} \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \overline{\Gamma}_g \times_{\check{M}} \check{M} \to \check{L}$ is proper. Hence $\overline{\Gamma}_g \times_{\check{M}} \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{L} \times \check{N}$ is proper. In particular, $\operatorname{Im}(\overline{\Gamma}_g \times_{\check{M}} \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{L} \times \check{N})$ is a closed subset of $\check{L} \times \check{N}$. Since it contains $\Gamma_{f \circ g}$, it also contains $\overline{\Gamma}_{f \circ g}$. Since $\overline{\Gamma}_{f \circ g} \times_{\check{L} \times \check{N}} (\overline{\Gamma}_g \times_{\check{M}} \overline{\Gamma}_f) \to \check{L}$ is proper, $\overline{\Gamma}_{f \circ g} \to \check{L}$ is proper.

Note that the category of bordered spaces has

- (i) a final object ({pt}, {pt}),
- (ii) fiber products.

In fact, the fiber product of $f: (M, \check{M}) \to (L, \check{L})$ and $g: (N, \check{N}) \to (L, \check{L})$ is represented by $(M \times_L N, \overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{L}} \overline{\Gamma}_g)$.

Regarding a space M as the bordered space (M, M), one gets a fully faithful embedding of the category of good topological spaces into that of bordered spaces.

Remark **3.2.4.** — For any bordered space (M, \check{M}) , using the identifications M = (M, M) and $\check{M} = (\check{M}, \check{M})$, there are natural morphisms

$$M \rightarrow (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow \check{M}.$$

Note however that id_M does not necessarily induce a morphism $(M, M) \to M$ of bordered spaces.

If a continuous map $f: M \to N$ extends to a continuous map $\check{f}: \check{M} \to \check{N}$, then f induces a morphism of bordered spaces $(M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$. However the converse is not true. If $f: (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ is a morphism of bordered spaces, the map $f: M \to N$ does not extend to a continuous map $\check{f}: \check{M} \to \check{N}$, in general. However, the next lemma shows how one can always reduce to this case.

Lemma **3.2.5.** — Any morphism of bordered spaces $f : (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ decomposes as $(M, \check{M}) \xleftarrow{q_1} (\Gamma_f, \overline{\Gamma}_f) \xrightarrow{q_2} (N, \check{N}),$

where the first arrow is an isomorphism and the maps $q_1 \colon \Gamma_f \to \mathbf{M}$ and $q_2 \colon \Gamma_f \to \mathbf{N}$ extend to maps $\check{q}_1 \colon \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{\mathbf{M}}$ and $\check{q}_2 \colon \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{\mathbf{N}}$.

Definition **3.2.6.** — The derived category of ind-sheaves on a bordered space (M, M) is the quotient category

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) := \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}})/\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}),$$

where $D^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\setminus M})$ is identified with its essential image in $D^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ by the fully faithful functor $R_{i_{!!}} \simeq R_{i_{*}}$, for $i: \check{M} \setminus M \to \check{M}$ the closed embedding.

Remark **3.2.7.** — In the framework of subanalytic sheaves, an analogue of $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ is the derived category of sheaves on some site considered in Definitions 6.1.1(iv) and 7.1.1 of [13].

Since the functor $Ri_{!!} \simeq Ri_*$ has both a right and a left adjoint, it follows from Proposition 3.1.1 that there are equivalences

$${}^{\perp}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}})\simeq\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})})\simeq\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}})^{\perp}.$$

Let us describe these equivalences more explicitly.

Lemma **3.2.8.** — For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$, one has $\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes \mathsf{RI}$ hom $(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}, F) \xleftarrow{}{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes F$, RI hom $(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes F) \xrightarrow{}{\sim} \mathsf{RI}$ hom $(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}, F)$.

Proposition **3.2.9.** — Let (M, M) be a bordered space.

(i) One has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M}) &= \left\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})\,;\,\, F \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M} \otimes F \right\} \\ &= \left\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})\,;\,\,\mathbf{k}_{M} \otimes F \simeq 0 \right\} \end{split}$$

RIEMANN-HILBERT CORRESPONDENCE

$$= \left\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}}) ; \ \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M}, F\right) \xrightarrow{\sim} F \right\} \\ = \left\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}}) ; \ \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{M}, F\right) \simeq 0 \right\}.$$

(ii) One has

$$\begin{split} {}^{\scriptscriptstyle L}\mathsf{D}^{\rm b}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M}) &= \left\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{\rm b}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})\,;\,\,\mathbf{k}_{\rm M}\otimes F \xrightarrow{\sim} F \right\} \\ &= \left\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{\rm b}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})\,;\,\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M}\otimes F \simeq 0 \right\}, \end{split}$$

and there is an equivalence

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} {}^{\perp}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}), \qquad \mathrm{F} \mapsto \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes \mathrm{F},$$

with quasi-inverse induced by the quotient functor.

(iii) One has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M})^{\perp} &= \big\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})\,;\; F \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\textit{hom}\left(\mathbf{k}_{M},F\right) \big\} \\ &= \big\{ F \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})\,;\; \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\textit{hom}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M},F\right) \simeq 0 \big\}, \end{split}$$

and there is an equivalence

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}})^{\perp}, \qquad \mathrm{F} \mapsto \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}},\mathrm{F}\right),$$

with quasi-inverse induced by the quotient functor.

Corollary **3.2.10.** — *For* $F, G \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ *one has*

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})}(F,G) &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{M}\otimes F,G) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})}(F,\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}(\mathbf{k}_{M},G)) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{M}\otimes F,\mathbf{k}_{M}\otimes G) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})}(\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}(\mathbf{k}_{M},F),\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}(\mathbf{k}_{M},G)) \end{split}$$

There is a quasi-commutative diagram of natural functors

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\boldsymbol{k}_{\check{M}}) & \overset{\iota_{\check{M}}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{\check{M}}) \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\boldsymbol{k}_{M}) & \overset{\iota_{(M,\check{M})}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{(M,\check{M})}), \end{array}$$

where the left vertical arrow is the functor of restriction to M, the right vertical arrow is the quotient functor, and the bottom arrow is the composition

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}})/\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}).$$

•

Notation **3.2.11.** — We sometimes write $D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ for $D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$, when considered as a full subcategory of $D^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ by $\iota_{(M,\check{M})}$.

3.3. *Operations.* — Let us discuss internal and external operations in the category of bordered spaces.

Definition **3.3.1.** — The functors \otimes and RI hom in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathsf{M}}})$ induce well defined functors

 $\otimes: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}),$ $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}).$

Lemma **3.3.2.** — For $F_1, F_2 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ one has

 $Hom_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{Ik}_{(M,\check{M})})}(\mathbf{k}_{M},\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}\,(F_{1},F_{2})) \simeq Hom_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{Ik}_{(M,\check{M})})}(F_{1},F_{2}).$

Lemma **3.3.3.** — For $F_1, F_2, F_3 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ one has

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\,(\mathsf{F}_1\otimes\mathsf{F}_2,\mathsf{F}_3)\simeq\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\,\big(\mathsf{F}_1,\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\,(\mathsf{F}_2,\mathsf{F}_3)\big),$$
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^b(\mathbf{Ik}_{\mathrm{CU}\check{\mathbf{v}}_D})}(\mathsf{F}_1\otimes\mathsf{F}_2,\mathsf{F}_3)\simeq\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^b(\mathbf{Ik}_{\mathrm{CU}\check{\mathbf{v}}_D})}\big(\mathsf{F}_1,\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\,(\mathsf{F}_2,\mathsf{F}_3)\big).$$

Let $f: (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ be a morphism of bordered spaces, and recall that Γ_f denotes the graph of the associated map $f: M \to N$. Since Γ_f is closed in $M \times N$, it is locally closed in $\check{M} \times \check{N}$. One can then consider the sheaf \mathbf{k}_{Γ_f} on $\check{M} \times \check{N}$.

Definition **3.3.4.** — Let $f : (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ be a morphism of bordered spaces. For $F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ and $G \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{N}})$, we set

$$\mathsf{R}f_{!!}\mathsf{F} = \mathsf{R}q_{2!!}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f}} \otimes q_{1}^{-1}\mathsf{F}), \qquad \mathsf{R}f_{*}\mathsf{F} = \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f}}, q_{1}^{!}\mathsf{F}),$$
$$f^{-1}\mathsf{G} = \mathsf{R}q_{1!!}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f}} \otimes q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{G}), \qquad f^{!}\mathsf{G} = \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f}}, q_{2}^{!}\mathsf{G}),$$

where $q_1: \check{M} \times \check{N} \to \check{M}$ and $q_2: \check{M} \times \check{N} \to \check{N}$ are the projections.

Remark **3.3.5.** — Considering a continuous map $f: M \to N$ as a morphism of bordered spaces with $\check{M} = M$ and $\check{N} = N$, the above functors are isomorphic to the usual external operations for ind-sheaves.

Lemma **3.3.6.** — The above definition induces well-defined functors

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R} & f_{!!} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to {}^{\perp}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{N}}\backslash\mathrm{N}}) \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}), \\ \mathsf{R} & f_{*} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{N}}\backslash\mathrm{N}})^{\perp} \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}), \end{split}$$

$$f^{-1} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}) \to {}^{\perp}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}) \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}),$$
$$f^{!} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}})^{\perp} \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}).$$

Proof. — Since the arguments are similar for all functors, let us only discuss Rf_* . Let $F \in D^b(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$.

(i) Assume that $F \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\backslash M}, F)$. Since $\Gamma_f \cap q_1^{-1}(\check{M} \setminus M) = \emptyset$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}f_*\mathrm{F} &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}, q_1^!\,\mathrm{F}\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}, q_1^!\,\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}, \mathrm{F}\right)\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}\otimes q_1^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M}}, q_1^!\,\mathrm{F}\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f\cap q_1^{-1}(\check{\mathrm{M}}\backslash\mathrm{M})}, q_1^!\,\mathrm{F}\right)\simeq 0. \end{split}$$

This shows that the functor $\mathsf{R}f_*: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{N}}})$ factors through $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{({\mathrm{M}},\check{\mathrm{M}})})$.

(ii) Since $q_2^{-1}(\mathbf{\tilde{N}} \setminus \mathbf{N}) \cap \Gamma_f = \emptyset$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\check{N}\backslash N},\mathsf{R}f_{*}F\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\check{N}\backslash N},\mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f}},q_{1}^{!}F\right)\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\check{N}\backslash N}\otimes\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f}},q_{1}^{!}F\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{q_{2}^{-1}(\check{N}\backslash N)\cap\Gamma_{f}},q_{1}^{!}F\right) \simeq 0. \end{split}$$

This shows that $\mathsf{R}f_*F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{N}\setminus N})^{\perp}$.

The following lemma is easy to prove.

Lemma **3.3.7.** — Let j_M : $(M, \check{M}) \rightarrow \check{M}$ be the morphism given by the open embedding $M \subset \check{M}$. Then

(i) The functors

$$j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1} \simeq j_{\mathrm{M}}^{!} : \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{\check{M}}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\mathrm{\check{M}})})$$

are isomorphic to the quotient functor.

(ii) For $F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ one has the isomorphisms in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$

$$\mathsf{R}_{\mathcal{J}_{M}:\mathcal{J}_{M}^{-1}}^{j}F \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M} \otimes F, \qquad \mathsf{R}_{\mathcal{J}_{M}*\mathcal{J}_{M}^{j}}^{j}F \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{M},F\right).$$

(iii) The functors \otimes and RI hom commute with $j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1} \simeq j_{\mathrm{M}}^!$.

(iv) The functor \otimes commutes with $Rj_{M!!}$ and the functor $R\mathcal{I}$ hom commutes with Rj_{M*} . More precisely, for $F_1, F_2 \in D^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ one has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}j_{M!!}(\mathbf{F}_{1}\otimes\mathbf{F}_{2}) &\simeq \mathsf{R}j_{M!!}\mathbf{F}_{1}\otimes\mathsf{R}j_{M!!}\mathbf{F}_{2}\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}j_{M!!}\mathbf{F}_{1}\otimes\mathsf{R}j_{M*}\mathbf{F}_{2},\\ \mathsf{R}j_{M*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{F}_{1},\mathbf{F}_{2}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}j_{M!!}\mathbf{F}_{1},\mathsf{R}j_{M!!}\mathbf{F}_{2}\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}j_{M!!}\mathbf{F}_{1},\mathsf{R}j_{M*}\mathbf{F}_{2}\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}j_{M*}\mathbf{F}_{1},\mathsf{R}j_{M*}\mathbf{F}_{2}\right). \end{split}$$

Convention **3.3.8.** — In the sequel, to avoid confusion, we distinguish between the objects of $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ and the objects of $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$. In other words, if $F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$, we avoid to denote by F its image in the quotient category $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$, and write instead $j_{M}^{-1}F$ or $j_{M}^{!}F$.

Let us now show that the external operations for bordered spaces satisfy similar properties to the external operations for usual spaces.

Lemma **3.3.9.** — Let $f: (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ be a morphism of bordered spaces.

- (i) The functor $Rf_{!!}$ is left adjoint to $f^{!}$.
- (ii) The functor f^{-1} is left adjoint to Rf_* .

Lemma **3.3.10.** — Let $g: (L, \check{L}) \rightarrow (M, \check{M})$ and $f: (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ be morphisms of bordered spaces. One has

$$\mathsf{R}(f \circ g)_{!!} \simeq \mathsf{R}f_{!!} \circ \mathsf{R}g_{!!}, \qquad \mathsf{R}(f \circ g)_* \simeq \mathsf{R}f_* \circ \mathsf{R}g_*$$

and

$$(f \circ g)^{-1} \simeq g^{-1} \circ f^{-1}, \qquad (f \circ g)^! \simeq g^! \circ f^!.$$

Proof. — Since the proofs are similar, we treat only the first isomorphism. For $F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{L}})$, one has

$$\mathsf{R}(f \circ g)_{!!} j_{\mathrm{L}}^{j-1} \mathrm{F} \simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{j-1} \mathsf{R} q_{2!!} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f \circ g}} \otimes q_{1}^{-1} \mathrm{F} \big),$$

where q_1 and q_2 are the projections from $\check{L} \times \check{N}$ to the corresponding factors. Using the projection formula, one easily checks the isomorphism

$$\mathsf{R} f_{!!} \mathsf{R} g_{!!} j_{\mathrm{L}}^{-1} \mathrm{F} \simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} q_{2!!} \big((\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g} \circ \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}) \otimes q_1^{-1} \mathrm{F} \big),$$

where

$$\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g} \circ \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f} := \mathsf{R}q_{13\,!!} \left(q_{12}^{-1} \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g} \otimes q_{23}^{-1} \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f} \right),$$

and q_{12} , q_{23} and q_{13} denote the projections from $\check{\mathbf{L}} \times \check{\mathbf{M}} \times \check{\mathbf{N}}$ to the corresponding factors. For example, $q_{13}(x, y, z) = (x, z)$.

Hence, writing explicitly the embedding functor ι of sheaves into ind-sheaves, it is enough to show

$$\iota_{\check{\mathrm{L}} imes \check{\mathrm{M}}} \, \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g} \circ \iota_{\check{\mathrm{M}} imes \check{\mathrm{N}}} \, \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f} \simeq \iota_{\check{\mathrm{L}} imes \check{\mathrm{M}}} \, \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_{f \circ g}}.$$

Recalling that ι commutes with tensor product, ordinary inverse image, and ordinary direct image, we have

$$\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{M}}}\,\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g}\circ\iota_{\check{\mathsf{M}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\,\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}:=\mathsf{R}q_{13}!!\left(q_{12}^{-1}\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{M}}}\,\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g}\otimes q_{23}^{-1}\iota_{\check{\mathsf{M}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\,\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}\right)$$

$$\simeq\mathsf{R}q_{13}!!\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{M}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\left(q_{12}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g}\otimes q_{23}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}\right)$$

$$\approx \iota_{\check{\mathsf{K}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\,\mathsf{R}q_{13}*\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{M}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\left(q_{12}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g}\otimes q_{23}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}\right)$$

$$\simeq\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\,\mathsf{R}q_{13}*\left(q_{12}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g}\otimes q_{23}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}\right)$$

$$\approx\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\,\mathsf{R}q_{13}!\left(q_{12}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g}\otimes q_{23}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}\right)$$

$$\simeq\iota_{\check{\mathsf{L}}\times\check{\mathsf{N}}}\,\mathsf{K}_{\Gamma_{f\circ g}}.$$

Here, in (*), we used the fact that $\operatorname{supp}(q_{12}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_g} \otimes q_{23}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma_f}) \subset \overline{\Gamma}_g \times_{\check{\mathbf{M}}} \overline{\Gamma}_f$ is proper over $\check{\mathbf{L}} \times \check{\mathbf{N}}$, which follows from the same arguments as in the proof of Lemma 3.2.3.

Corollary **3.3.11.** — If $f: (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ is an isomorphism of bordered spaces, then $\mathbb{R}f_* \simeq \mathbb{R}f_{!!}$ and $f^{-1} \simeq f^!$. Moreover, $\mathbb{R}f_*$ and f^{-1} are quasi-inverse to each other.

Lemma **3.3.12.** — Let $f : (\mathbf{M}, \check{\mathbf{M}}) \to (\mathbf{N}, \check{\mathbf{N}})$ be the morphism of bordered spaces associated with a continuous map $\check{f} : \check{\mathbf{M}} \to \check{\mathbf{N}}$ such that $\check{f}(\mathbf{M}) \subset \mathbf{N}$. Then

(i) For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ there are isomorphisms in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(N,\check{N})})$

$$\mathsf{R}f_{!!}\mathrm{F}\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\check{f}_{!!}\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}\,!!}\mathrm{F},\qquad\mathsf{R}f_{*}\mathrm{F}\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\check{f}_{*}\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}\,*}\mathrm{F}.$$

(ii) For $G \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(N,\check{N})})$ there are isomorphisms in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$

$$\begin{split} f^{-1}\mathbf{G} &\simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \check{f}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{N} ! !} \mathbf{G} \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \check{f}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{N} *} \mathbf{G}, \\ f^{!}\mathbf{G} &\simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \check{f}^{!} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{N} *} \mathbf{G} \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \check{f}^{!} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{N} ! !} \mathbf{G}. \end{split}$$

Proof. — We have a commutative diagram

Hence Lemma 3.3.10 implies

$$\mathsf{R}_{j_{\mathrm{N}}!!}^{j}\mathsf{R}_{f_{!!}}F \simeq \mathsf{R}_{f_{!!}}^{j}\mathsf{R}_{j_{\mathrm{M}}!!}F.$$

Then, by Lemma 3.3.7 we have

$$\mathsf{R} f_{!!} \mathbf{F} \simeq j_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathbf{N} !!} \mathsf{R} f_{!!} \mathbf{F} \simeq j_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} f_{!!} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} \mathbf{F}.$$

We can similarly obtain the other statements, except

$$j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1}\check{f}^{-1}\mathsf{R}j_{\mathbf{N}!!}\mathbf{G} \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1}\check{f}^{-1}\mathsf{R}j_{\mathbf{N}*}\mathbf{G},$$
$$j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1}\check{f}^{!}\mathsf{R}j_{\mathbf{N}*}\mathbf{G} \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1}\check{f}^{!}\mathsf{R}j_{\mathbf{N}!!}\mathbf{G}.$$

Since the proofs are similar, let us check only the last isomorphism.

For $K \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\check{N}})$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}},\check{f}^{!}\,\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}},\mathrm{K}\right)\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}},\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\check{f}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}},\check{f}^{!}\,\mathrm{K}\right)\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}\otimes\check{f}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}},\check{f}^{!}\,\mathrm{K}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}},\check{f}^{!}\,\mathrm{K}\right). \end{split}$$

Hence, applying this for $K = R_{j_{N}!!}G$, $R_{j_{N}*}G$, we obtain

$$j_{M}^{-1}\check{f}^{!} \mathsf{R} j_{N*} \mathbf{G} \simeq j_{M}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{M}, \check{f}^{!} \mathsf{R} j_{N*} \mathbf{G}\right)$$

$$\simeq j_{M}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{M}, \check{f}^{!} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{N}, \mathsf{R} j_{N*} \mathbf{G}\right)\right)$$

$$\simeq j_{M}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{M}, \check{f}^{!} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{N}, \mathsf{R} j_{N} \right)\right)$$

$$\simeq j_{M}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{M}, \check{f}^{!} \mathsf{R} j_{N} \right)$$

$$\simeq j_{M}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{k}_{M}, \check{f}^{!} \mathsf{R} j_{N} \right)$$

Proposition **3.3.13.** — Let $f: (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ be a morphism of bordered spaces. For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ and $G, G_1, G_2 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(N,\check{N})})$, one has isomorphisms

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{R} f_{!!}(f^{-1}\mathbf{G}\otimes\mathbf{F}) &\simeq \mathbf{G}\otimes\mathsf{R} f_{!!}\mathbf{F}, \\ f^{-1}(\mathbf{G}_{1}\otimes\mathbf{G}_{2}) &\simeq f^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{1}\otimes f^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{2}, \\ \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom\left(\mathbf{G},\mathsf{R} f_{*}\mathbf{F}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R} f_{*}\mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom\left(f^{-1}\mathbf{G},\mathbf{F}\right), \\ \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom\left(\mathsf{R} f_{!!}\mathbf{F},\mathbf{G}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R} f_{*}\mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom\left(\mathsf{F},f^{\,!}\mathbf{G}\right), \\ \mathbf{R} \mathcal{I} hom\left(\mathsf{G}_{1},\mathsf{G}_{2}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom\left(f^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{1},f^{\,!}\mathbf{G}_{2}\right), \end{aligned}$$

and a morphism

f

$$f^{-1}\mathsf{RI}hom(G_1,G_2) \to \mathsf{RI}hom(f^{-1}G_1,f^{-1}G_2).$$

Proof. — By Lemma 3.2.5, replacing (M, \check{M}) with $(\Gamma_f, \overline{\Gamma}_f)$, we may assume that there is a commutative diagram

$$(\mathbf{M}, \check{\mathbf{M}}) \xrightarrow{j_{\mathbf{M}}} \check{\mathbf{M}}$$
$$\left| \begin{array}{c} f \\ f \\ (\mathbf{N}, \check{\mathbf{N}}) \xrightarrow{j_{\mathbf{N}}} \check{\mathbf{N}}. \end{array} \right|$$

Then, by Lemmas 3.3.12 and 3.3.7 one has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R} f_{!!} \left(f^{-1} \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathbf{F} \right) &\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \check{f}_{!!} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} \left(j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1} \check{f}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{N}!!} \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathbf{F} \right) \\ &\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \check{f}_{!!} \left(\mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1} \check{f}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{N}!!} \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} \mathbf{F} \right) \\ &\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \check{f}_{!!} \left(\check{f}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{N}!!} \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} \mathbf{F} \right) \\ &\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \check{f}_{!!} \left(\check{f}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{N}!!} \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} \mathbf{F} \right) \\ &\simeq j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} (\mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{N}!!} \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathsf{R} \check{f}_{!!} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} \mathbf{F}) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{G} \otimes j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} \check{f}_{!!} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}!!} \mathbf{F} \\ &\simeq \mathbf{G} \otimes \mathsf{R} f_{!!} \mathsf{F}. \end{split}$$

This proves the first isomorphism in the statement. The other isomorphisms can be proved along the same lines. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma **3.3.14.** — Consider a Cartesian diagram in the category of bordered spaces

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (\mathbf{M}',\check{\mathbf{M}}') & \stackrel{f'}{\longrightarrow} & (\mathbf{N}',\check{\mathbf{N}}') \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ (\mathbf{M},\check{\mathbf{M}}) & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & (\mathbf{N},\check{\mathbf{N}}). \end{array}$$

Then there are isomorphisms of functors $D^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M',\check{M}')}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(N,\check{N})})$

$$g^{-1}\mathbf{R}f_{!!} \simeq \mathbf{R}f'_{!!}g'^{-1}, \qquad g^!\mathbf{R}f_* \simeq \mathbf{R}f'_*g'^!.$$

Proof. — By a similar argument as in the proof of the Proposition 3.3.13, the statement can be reduced to the corresponding statement for a Cartesian diagram

Definition **3.3.15.** — We say that a morphism of bordered spaces $f : (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ is proper if the following two conditions hold:

(i) $f: \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ is proper, (ii) the projection $\overline{\Gamma}_f \to \mathbf{N}$ is proper.

Lemma **3.3.16.** — A morphism $f: (M, M) \rightarrow (N, N)$ is proper if and only if the following two conditions hold:

(a) Γ_f ×_Ň N ⊂ Γ_f.
(b) the projection Γ_f → Ň is proper.

Proof. — Assume (a) and (b). Then $\mathbf{M} \simeq \overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N} \to \mathbf{N}$ is proper. Hence f is proper. Conversely, assume that $f \colon (\mathbf{M}, \check{\mathbf{M}}) \to (\mathbf{N}, \check{\mathbf{N}})$ is proper. Since the composite $f \colon \mathbf{M} \to \overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N} \to \mathbf{N}$ is proper, it follows that $\mathbf{M} \to \overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N}$ is proper. Hence Γ_f is a closed subset of $\overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N}$. It follows that

$$\overline{\Gamma}_f \cap (\overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N}) = \Gamma_f.$$

Proposition **3.3.17.** — Assume that $f: (M, \check{M}) \to (N, \check{N})$ is proper. Then $\mathsf{R}f_{!!} \simeq \mathsf{R}f_*$ as functors $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(N,\check{N})})$.

Proof. — Consider the projections $\check{M} \xleftarrow{\rho_1} \overline{\Gamma}_f \xrightarrow{\rho_2} \check{N}$. For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$, we have the isomorphisms (cf. Lemma 3.2.5)

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R} f_{!!} \mathbf{F} &\simeq j_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} p_{2!!} p_{1}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} \mathbf{F}, \\ \mathsf{R} f_{*} \mathbf{F} &\simeq j_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} p_{2*} p_{1}^{!} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} *} \mathbf{F} \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \mathsf{R} p_{2!!} p_{1}^{!} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} *} \mathbf{F}, \end{split}$$

where the last isomorphism follows from Definition 3.3.15(ii). Hence, it is enough to prove that

$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \mathsf{R}p_{2!!} \mathrm{L} \simeq 0,$$

where L enters the distinguished triangle

$$\mathbf{L} \to p_1^{-1} \mathbf{R}_{j_{\mathbf{M}!!}}^{\cdot} \mathbf{F} \to p_1^{!} \mathbf{R}_{j_{\mathbf{M}*}}^{\cdot} \mathbf{F} \xrightarrow{+1} .$$

Since $p_1^{-1}M \to M$ is an isomorphism, one has

$$\mathbf{k}_{p_1^{-1}\mathbf{M}} \otimes p_1^! \operatorname{P}_{j_{\mathbf{M}}*} \mathbf{F} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{p_1^{-1}\mathbf{M}} \otimes p_1^{-1} \operatorname{P}_{j_{\mathbf{M}}*} \mathbf{F} \simeq p_1^{-1} \operatorname{P}_{j_{\mathbf{M}}!!} \mathbf{F}.$$

Hence $\mathbf{k}_{p_1^{-1}\mathbf{M}} \otimes \mathbf{L} \simeq 0$. Then one has

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \mathsf{R} p_{2!!} \mathrm{L} &\simeq \mathsf{R} p_{2!!} (\mathbf{k}_{p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{N}} \otimes \mathrm{L}) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R} p_{2!!} (\mathbf{k}_{p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{N}} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{M}} \otimes \mathrm{L}) \simeq 0, \end{split}$$

where the second isomorphism follows from the inclusion $p_2^{-1}N \subset p_1^{-1}M$ due to Lemma 3.3.16(a).

Definition **3.3.18.** — Let $f : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ be a continuous map of good spaces. We say that f is topologically submersive *if*, for any point $x \in \mathbf{M}$, there exist an open neighborhood U of x and a commutative diagram



where S is a subanalytic space, q_2 is the projection, and i is an open embedding.

The following proposition follows from Proposition 2.3.4 and Corollary 2.3.5.

Proposition **3.3.19.** — Let $f: (\mathbf{M}, \check{\mathbf{M}}) \to (\mathbf{N}, \check{\mathbf{N}})$ be a morphism of bordered spaces. Assume that $f: \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ is topologically submersive. Then, for any $\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{G} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{Ik}_{(\mathbf{N},\check{\mathbf{N}})})$ there are isomorphisms in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{Ik}_{(\mathbf{M},\check{\mathbf{M}})})$

$$f^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{G}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(f^{-1}\mathbf{L},f^{-1}\mathbf{G}),$$
$$f^{!}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes f^{-1}\mathbf{G} \xrightarrow{\sim} f^{!}\mathbf{G}.$$

Lemma **3.3.20.** — For k = 1, 2, let $f_k: (\mathbf{M}_k, \check{\mathbf{M}}_k) \to (\mathbf{N}_k, \check{\mathbf{N}}_k)$ be a morphism of bordered spaces and $\mathbf{L}_k \in \mathbf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{Ik}_{(\mathbf{N}_k,\check{\mathbf{N}}_k)})$. Set $f = f_1 \times f_2$. Then there is a canonical morphism

 $(\mathbf{3.3.1}) \qquad \qquad f_1^! \operatorname{L}_1 \boxtimes f_2^! \operatorname{L}_2 \to f^! (\operatorname{L}_1 \boxtimes \operatorname{L}_2).$

Proof. — There are morphisms

$$\mathsf{R} f_{!!}(f_1^! \operatorname{L}_1 \boxtimes f_2^! \operatorname{L}_2) \simeq \mathsf{R} f_{1!!} f_1^! \operatorname{L}_1 \boxtimes \mathsf{R} f_{2!!} f_2^! \operatorname{L}_2 \to \operatorname{L}_1 \boxtimes \operatorname{L}_2,$$

and the desired morphism follows by adjunction.

Note that the morphism (3.3.1) is not an isomorphism in general.

$$\iota_{(M,\check{M})} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}).$$

Then, for $f : (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ a morphism of bordered spaces, one has

$$\begin{split} \iota_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})} \circ f^{-1} &\simeq f^{-1} \circ \iota_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}, \qquad \iota_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})} \circ f^{\,!} \simeq f^{\,!} \circ \iota_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}, \\ \mathsf{R}f_* \circ \iota_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})} &\simeq \iota_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})} \circ \mathsf{R}f_*. \end{split}$$

Moreover, if the projection $\overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{N}$ is proper, then

$$\mathsf{R}f_{!!} \circ \iota_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})} \simeq \iota_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})} \circ \mathsf{R}f_{!}.$$

3.4. *t-Structure.* — Let (M, \check{M}) be a bordered space and let $j: (M, \check{M}) \to \check{M}$ be the natural morphism.

Notation 3.4.1.

- (i) Let $I_M(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ be the full subcategory of $I(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ consisting of ind-sheaves F on \check{M} such that $\mathbf{k}_M \otimes F \simeq F$.
- (ii) Let $I(\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ be the quotient category $I(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})/I(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}\setminus M})$.

Note that $I_M(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}})$ is an abelian category.

Lemma 3.4.2.

- (i) The composition $I_M(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}}) \to I(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}}) \to I(\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ is an equivalence of categories.
- (ii) There is an equivalence $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathbf{k}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}})) \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})})$.

Let us denote by $(\mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}), \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}))$ the *t*-structure of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})$ induced by the canonical *t*-structure of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}_{M}(\mathbf{k}_{\check{M}}))$. By the definition, we have

$$D^{\leq 0}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) = \{F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}); H^{n}(\mathsf{R}_{j_{M}!!}F) = 0 \text{ for } n > 0\},\$$
$$D^{\geq 0}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) = \{F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}); H^{n}(\mathsf{R}_{j_{M}!!}F) = 0 \text{ for } n < 0\}.$$

The following two propositions are easily obtained.

Proposition 3.4.3.

(i) The functor \otimes is exact, i.e. it induces functors

$$\begin{split} &\otimes : \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \times \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}), \\ &\otimes : \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \times \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}). \end{split}$$

(ii) The functor **R**I hom is left exact, i.e. it induces a functor

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom:\mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})^{\mathrm{op}}\times\mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})})\to\mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(I\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}).$$

Proposition **3.4.4.** — Let $f: (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ be a morphism of bordered spaces.

(i) $Rf_{!!}$ and Rf_* are left exact, i.e. they induce functors

$$\mathsf{R} f_{!!}, \mathsf{R} f_* \colon \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathsf{I} \mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathsf{I} \mathbf{k}_{(N,\check{N})}).$$

(ii) f^{-1} is exact, i.e. it induces functors

$$f^{-1} : \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}),$$

$$f^{-1} : \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}).$$

(iii) Let $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and assume that $f^{-1}(y) \subset M$ has soft-dimension $\leq d$ for any $y \in N$. Then (a) $\mathsf{R}f_{!!}(*)[d]$ is right exact, i.e. $\mathsf{R}f_{!!}$ induces a functor

$$\mathsf{R}f_{!!} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\leq d}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}).$$
(b) $f^{!}(*)[-d]$ is left exact, i.e. $f^{!}$ induces a functor
$$f^{!} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{N},\check{\mathrm{N}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\geq -d}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}).$$

We denote by

$$(\mathbf{3.4.1}) \qquad \qquad \mathrm{H}^{n} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\mathrm{\check{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{0}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\mathrm{\check{M}})})$$

the cohomology functor, where we set

$$\mathsf{D}^{0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) = \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \cap \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \simeq \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}).$$

4. Enhanced ind-sheaves

In this section we start by adapting Tamarkin's construction to the ind-sheaf framework, introducing the category of enhanced ind-sheaves $\mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$. This is a quotient category of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, where we consider the bordered space $\mathbf{R}_{\infty} = (\mathbf{R}, \mathbf{R} \sqcup \{+\infty, -\infty\})$ instead of the real line \mathbf{R} . We show that $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ has a structure of tensor category by convolution. We then go on to discuss internal and external operations for enhanced indsheaves. In $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ we also introduce the notions of stable object and of \mathbf{R} -constructible object.

4.1. Convolution. — Consider the 2-point compactification of the real line $\overline{\mathbf{R}}$:= $\mathbf{R} \sqcup \{+\infty, -\infty\}$. Denote by $\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{R} \sqcup \{\infty\}$ the real projective line. Then $\overline{\mathbf{R}}$ has a structure of subanalytic space such that the natural map $\overline{\mathbf{R}} \to \mathsf{P}$ is a subanalytic map.

Notation **4.1.1.** — Instead of the real line, we will consider the bordered space

 $\mathbf{R}_{\infty} := (\mathbf{R}, \overline{\mathbf{R}}).$

Note that \mathbf{R}_{∞} is isomorphic to (\mathbf{R} , \mathbf{P}) as a bordered space. Consider the morphisms of bordered spaces

(4.1.1)
$$a: \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{R}_{\infty},$$
$$\mu, \sigma, q_1, q_2: \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^2 \to \mathbf{R}_{\infty},$$

where a(t) = -t, $\mu(t_1, t_2) = t_1 + t_2$, $\sigma(t_1, t_2) = t_2 - t_1$ and q_1, q_2 are the natural projections. For a good topological space M, we will use the same notations for the associated morphisms

$$a: \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty},$$
$$\mu, \sigma, q_1, q_2: \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^2 \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}.$$

Consider also the natural morphisms



ær c

When we want to emphasize M, we write π_M , $\overline{\pi}_M$, j_M , μ_M , etc., instead of π , $\overline{\pi}$, j, μ , etc.

Definition **4.1.2.** — The functors

$$\stackrel{+}{\otimes}: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}),$$

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$

are defined by

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2} &= \mathsf{R}\boldsymbol{\mu}_{!!} \big(q_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{2} \big), \\ \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{K}_{2}) &= \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \big(q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{1},\boldsymbol{\mu}^{!}\mathbf{K}_{2} \big). \end{split}$$

Remark **4.1.3.** — As in Remark 3.3.21, let

$$\iota_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I \, \mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$

be the natural functor. Then, for $F_1, F_2 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}})$ we have

$$\iota_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}(F_{1}) \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \iota_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}(F_{2}) \simeq \iota_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}} \big(\mathsf{R}\mu_{!} \big(q_{1}^{-1}F_{1}\otimes q_{2}^{-1}F_{2}\big)\big),$$

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\iota_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}(F_{1}), \iota_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}(F_{2})\big) \simeq \iota_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}} \big(\mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om \left(q_{2}^{-1}F_{2}, \mu^{!}F_{1}\right)\big).$$

The following lemma is obvious.

Lemma **4.1.4.** — Let $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Then one has

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2} \simeq \mathbf{K}_{2} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{1} \\ \simeq \mathsf{R}q_{2:!} \big(q_{1}^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes \sigma^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{2} \big) \\ \simeq \mathsf{R}q_{1:!} \big(q_{2}^{-1} a^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes \mu^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{2} \big), \\ \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathbf{K}_{2}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mu_{*} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(q_{2}^{-1} a^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{1}, q_{1}^{!} \mathbf{K}_{2} \right) \\ \simeq \mathsf{R}q_{1*} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\sigma^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{1}, q_{2}^{!} \mathbf{K}_{2} \right). \end{split}$$

Proposition **4.1.5.** *— For* $K_1, K_2, K_3 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ one has

$$\begin{split} & \left(\mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2}\right) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{3} \simeq \mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \left(\mathbf{K}_{2} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{3}\right), \\ & \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})} \left(\mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2}, \mathbf{K}_{3}\right) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})} \left(\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{2}, \mathbf{K}_{3})\right), \\ & \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2}, \mathbf{K}_{3}\right) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{2}, \mathbf{K}_{3})\right). \end{split}$$

In particular, for $K \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, the functor $K \overset{+}{\otimes} *$ is left adjoint to $\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(K, *)$.

Proof.

(i) Consider the morphisms of bordered spaces

 $q'_1, q'_2, q'_3, \mu' \colon \mathcal{M} \times \mathbf{R}^3_{\infty} \to \mathcal{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$

where q'_1, q'_2, q'_3 are induced by the projections $\mathbf{R}^3 \to \mathbf{R}$ and μ' is induced by $\mathbf{R}^3 \ni (t_1, t_2, t_3) \mapsto t_1 + t_2 + t_3 \in \mathbf{R}$. Then one can easily prove that both $(\mathbf{K}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_2) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_3$ and $\mathbf{K}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} (\mathbf{K}_2 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_3)$ are isomorphic to

$$\mathsf{R}\mu'_{!!}(q'_1^{-1}\mathrm{K}_1\otimes q'_2^{-1}\mathrm{K}_2\otimes q'_3^{-1}\mathrm{K}_3).$$

(ii) Writing Hom instead of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_\infty})}$, one has

$$\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathbf{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2}, \mathbf{K}_{3}\right) = \operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}\left(q_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{2}\right), \mathbf{K}_{3}\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}\left(q_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{2}, \mu^{!}\mathbf{K}_{3}\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}\left(q_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{2}, \mu^{!}\mathbf{K}_{3}\right)\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{K}_{2}, \mu^{!}\mathbf{K}_{3}\right)\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{2}, \mathbf{K}_{3})\right).$$

(iii) Writing again Hom instead of $Hom_{\mathsf{D}^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_\infty})}$, one has for any $K\in\mathsf{D}^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_\infty})$

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathrm{K},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathrm{K}_{1}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}_{2},\mathrm{K}_{3}\right)\right)\\ &\simeq\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\otimes}\left(\mathrm{K}_{1}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}_{2}\right),\mathrm{K}_{3}\right)\\ &\simeq\operatorname{Hom}\left(\left(\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}_{1}\right)\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}_{2},\mathrm{K}_{3}\right)\\ &\simeq\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}_{1},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{K}_{2},\mathrm{K}_{3})\right)\\ &\simeq\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathrm{K},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathrm{K}_{1},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{K}_{2},\mathrm{K}_{3})\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Hence, by Yoneda, one obtains

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+ \Big(\mathrm{K}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}_2, \mathrm{K}_3 \Big) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^+ \big(\mathrm{K}_1, \mathcal{I}hom^+ (\mathrm{K}_2, \mathrm{K}_3) \big).$$

4.2. *Idempotent objects.* — We set

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} = \mathbf{k}_{\{(x,t)\in \mathbf{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}; t\in \mathbf{R}, t\geq 0\}},$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} = \mathbf{k}_{\{(x,t)\in \mathbf{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}; t=0\}},$$

and we use similar notation for $\mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}$, $\mathbf{k}_{\{t\le0\}}$ and $\mathbf{k}_{\{t<0\}}$. These are sheaves on $M \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}$ whose stalk vanishes at points of $M \times (\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \mathbf{R})$. We also regard them as objects of $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$.

Lemma **4.2.1.** — For
$$K \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$
 there are isomorphisms
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{K} \simeq \mathsf{K} \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}},\mathsf{K}).$$

More generally, for $a \in \mathbf{R}$, we have

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t=a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq \mathsf{R}\mu_{a*}\mathbf{K} \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=-a\}}, \mathbf{K}),$$

where $\mu_a: \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ is the morphism induced by the translation $t \mapsto t + a$.

Corollary **4.2.2.** — The category $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ has a structure of commutative tensor category with $\overset{+}{\otimes}$ as tensor product bifunctor and $\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}$ as unit object.

There are distinguished triangles in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

(4.2.1)
$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}[1] \xrightarrow{+1}, \\ \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t<0\}}[1] \to \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}[1] \xrightarrow{+1}, \\ \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}[1] \xrightarrow{+1}. \end{cases}$$

The following lemma is easily verified.

Lemma **4.2.3.** — *There are isomorphisms in* $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}[1] \simeq 0,$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}[1] \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}[1] \stackrel{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}[1], \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1] \simeq 0,$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1] \stackrel{+}{\longleftrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1] \stackrel{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1], \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}}[1] \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1] \stackrel{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1],$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}} \simeq 0, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t<0\}}[1] \stackrel{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}},$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}[1] \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t<0\}}[1] \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1].$$

Hence, the objects $\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}$, $\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}[1]$, $\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}$ and $\mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}}[1]$ are idempotents in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{M\times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$.

Recall that an idempotent in a tensor category is a pair (P, ξ) of an object P and an isomorphism $\xi \colon P \otimes P \to P$ such that $\xi \otimes P = P \otimes \xi$ as morphisms $P \otimes P \otimes P \to P \otimes P$ (cf. [15, Lemma 4.1.2]). Note that in each distinguished triangle $P' \to P \to P'' \xrightarrow{+1}$ in (4.2.1), P, P', P'' are idempotents and $P' \stackrel{+}{\otimes} P'' \simeq 0$, $P \stackrel{+}{\otimes} P' \simeq P'$, $P \stackrel{+}{\otimes} P'' \simeq P''$.

Corollary **4.2.4.** — Let
$$K \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$
. Then
 $\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K \xrightarrow{\sim} K \iff \mathbf{k}_{\{t > 0\}}[1] \overset{+}{\otimes} K \simeq 0$
 $\iff \mathbf{k}_{\{t \le 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K \simeq 0 \text{ and } \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M} \times \mathbf{R}}[1] \overset{+}{\otimes} K \simeq 0.$

Moreover,

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq 0 \iff \mathbf{k}_{\{t>0\}} [1] \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \overset{\sim}{\leftarrow} \mathbf{K}.$$

Similar results hold when replacing the functor $\ast \overset{+}{\otimes} K$ with the functor $\mathcal{I}hom^+(\ast, K)$.

4.3. Properties of convolution.

Lemma **4.3.1.** — *For* $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{D}^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $L \in \mathsf{D}^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ one has

$$\pi^{-1} \mathcal{L} \otimes \left(\mathcal{K}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{K}_2 \right) \simeq \left(\pi^{-1} \mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{K}_1 \right) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{K}_2,$$

 $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathcal{K}_1, \mathcal{K}_2) \right) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^+ \left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{K}_1, \mathcal{K}_2 \right)$
 $\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^+ \left(\mathcal{K}_1, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{K}_2 \right) \right).$

Proof. — Since the proofs are similar, let us only discuss the second isomorphism. Since $\pi \circ q_1 = \pi \circ q_2$, one has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathsf{K}_{1},\mathsf{K}_{2})\right) \\ &=\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L},\mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{K}_{1},\mu^{!}\mathsf{K}_{2}\right)\right) \\ &\simeq\mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{1}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L},\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{K}_{1},\mu^{!}\mathsf{K}_{2}\right)\right) \\ &\simeq\mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L},\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{K}_{1},\mu^{!}\mathsf{K}_{2}\right)\right) \\ &\simeq\mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}(\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L}\otimes\mathsf{K}_{1}),\mu^{!}\mathsf{K}_{2}\right) \\ &=\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\pi^{-1}\mathsf{L}\otimes\mathsf{K}_{1},\mathsf{K}_{2}). \end{split}$$

Lemma **4.3.2.** — For $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $L \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ one has

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{L}\otimes\mathbf{K}\simeq\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{L}\otimes\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}\right)\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathbf{K},$$

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{L},\mathbf{K}\right)\simeq\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{L}\otimes\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}},\mathbf{K}\right),$$

$$a^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{K},\pi^{\,!}\mathbf{L}\right)\simeq\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{K},\pi^{-1}\mathbf{L}\otimes\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}\right).$$

Proof. — The first two isomorphisms follow from Lemma 4.3.1 for $K_1 = \mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}$ and $K_2 = K$. Let us prove the third isomorphism.

Let $\delta^a \colon \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^2$ be the morphism induced by the anti-diagonal map $\mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}^2$, $t \mapsto (-t, t)$, and $i_0 \colon \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ the morphism induced by the inclusion $x \mapsto (x, 0)$. Note that $\pi \circ i_0 = \mathrm{id}_{\mathbf{M}}$, $\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \simeq \mathrm{R}i_{0*}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}$, and there is a Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} & \xrightarrow{\delta^{\mu}} & \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ &$$
Then we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathrm{K}, \pi^{-1}\mathrm{L}\otimes \mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}\big) &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{K}, \mathsf{R}i_{0}_{*}\mathrm{L}) \\ &= \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\big(q_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{K}, \mu^{!}\mathsf{R}i_{0*}\mathrm{L}\big). \end{split}$$

On the other hand, $\mu^{!} \mathsf{R}_{i_{0}*} L \simeq \mathsf{R} \delta_{*}^{a} \pi^{!} L$, and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{K},\mu^{!}\mathsf{R}i_{0*}\mathsf{L}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{K},\mathsf{R}\delta_{*}^{a}\pi^{!}\mathsf{L}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\delta_{*}^{a}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\delta^{a-1}q_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{K},\pi^{!}\mathsf{L}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Then the result follows from $q_1 \circ \delta^a = a$ and $q_2 \circ \delta^a = id$.

Lemma **4.3.3.** — For
$$K_1, K_2, K_3 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$
 one has
 $\mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(K_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} K_2, K_3\right) \simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(K_1, \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_2, K_3)\right)$

Proof. — The proof is similar to part (ii) in the proof of Proposition 4.1.5, using Lemma 4.3.1. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma **4.3.4.** — For $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ there are isomorphisms

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \Big(\mathsf{K}_1 \stackrel{.}{\otimes} \mathsf{K}_2 \Big) \simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{K}_1 \otimes \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{K}_2,$$
$$\mathsf{R}\pi_* \mathcal{I} hom^+(\mathsf{K}_1, \mathsf{K}_2) \simeq \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom (\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{K}_1, \mathsf{R}\pi_* \mathsf{K}_2).$$

Proof. — Note that $\pi \circ \mu = \pi \circ q_1$ and that there is a Cartesian diagram

Then one has

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \Big(\mathsf{K}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{K}_2 \Big) = \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{R}\mu_{!!} \big(q_1^{-1} \mathsf{K}_1 \otimes q_2^{-1} \mathsf{K}_2 \big)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{R}q_{1!!} \big(q_1^{-1} \mathsf{K}_1 \otimes q_2^{-1} \mathsf{K}_2 \big)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \big(\mathsf{K}_1 \otimes \mathsf{R}q_{1!!} q_2^{-1} \mathsf{K}_2 \big)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \big(\mathsf{K}_1 \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{K}_2 \big)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{K}_1 \otimes \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathsf{K}_2.$$

The proof of the second isomorphism is similar.

105

Since $\mathbf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \simeq 0$, we have the following result.

Corollary **4.3.5.** — For any $K \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, one has

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{K} \right) \simeq 0,$$
$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}}, \mathsf{K} \right) \simeq 0.$$

Lemma 4.3.6. — For $K \in D^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $L \in D^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ one has

$$(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L}) \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \simeq \pi^{-1}(\mathrm{L} \otimes \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathrm{K}),$$

 $\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mathrm{K}) \simeq \pi^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathrm{L},\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathrm{K}),$
 $\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{K},\pi^{!}\mathrm{L}) \simeq \pi^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathrm{K},\mathrm{L}).$

In particular, we have

$$(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} \pi^{-1} \mathbf{L} \simeq 0,$$

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, \pi^{-1} \mathbf{L}) \simeq 0.$$

Proof. — Since the proofs are similar, let us only consider the second isomorphism. Note that $\pi \circ q_2 = \pi \circ \mu$, and that there is a Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} & \stackrel{\mu}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{M}. \end{array}$$

Then one has

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mathrm{K}) &= \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{2}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mu^{!}\mathrm{K}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mu^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mu^{!}\mathrm{K}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{1*}\mu^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mathrm{K}\right) \\ &\simeq \pi^{!}\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mathrm{K}\right) \\ &\simeq \pi^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L},\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathrm{K}\right). \end{split}$$

By the above lemma, noticing that $\pi^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{M} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}}$, we deduce

Corollary **4.3.7.** — For
$$\mathbf{K} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$
 one has
$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq \pi^{-1}\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathbf{K},$$
$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}},\mathbf{K}) \simeq \pi^{!}\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathbf{K}.$$

1.

Let us give an alternative description of the functors $\overset{+}{\otimes}$ and $\mathcal{I}hom^+$.

Notation **4.3.8.** — Denote by **S** the closure of $\{(t_1, t_2, t_3) \in \mathbf{R}^3; t_1 + t_2 + t_3 = 0\}$ in $\overline{\mathbf{R}}^3$. Consider the maps $\tilde{q}_1, \tilde{q}_2, \tilde{\mu}: \mathbf{S} \to \overline{\mathbf{R}}$ given by $\tilde{q}_1(t_1, t_2, t_3) = t_1, \tilde{q}_2(t_1, t_2, t_3) = t_2, \tilde{\mu}(t_1, t_2, t_3) = -t_3 = t_1 + t_2$, and denote by the same letters the corresponding maps $\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{M} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}$. This is visualized in the following picture, which shows how the three variables behave at infinity:



There are commutative diagrams

where k is the morphism associated with the embedding $\mathbf{R}^2 \to \mathbf{S}$ given by $(t_1, t_2) \mapsto (t_1, t_2, -t_1 - t_2)$.

One has

$$\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\lbrace t \neq -\infty \rbrace) \cap \tilde{q}_1^{-1}(\lbrace t = -\infty \rbrace) \subset \tilde{q}_2^{-1}(\lbrace t = +\infty \rbrace).$$

One also has

(4.3.1)
$$\tilde{q}_1^{-1}(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}) \cap \tilde{q}_2^{-1}(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}) = \tilde{q}_1^{-1}(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}) \cap \tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R})$$
$$= k \big(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}^2 \big).$$

We identify $M \times \mathbf{R}^2$ with an open subset of $M \times \mathbf{S}$ by k. Then $M \times \mathbf{R}^2_{\infty}$ is isomorphic to $M \times (\mathbf{R}^2, \mathbf{S})$ as a bordered space. For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{S}})$, one has

$$\mathsf{R}k_{!!}k^{-1}\mathrm{F}\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^2}\otimes\mathrm{F},\qquad \mathsf{R}k_*k^{!}\mathrm{F}\simeq\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^2},\mathrm{F}
ight).$$

The following lemma is immediate.

Lemma **4.3.9.** — Let $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{D}^b(\mathbf{Ik}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. With the above notations, one has isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{K}_{1} \stackrel{\tau}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}_{2} \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \mathbf{R} \tilde{\mu}_{!!} \big(\tilde{q}_{1}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} \mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes \tilde{q}_{2}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} \mathbf{K}_{2} \big) \\ \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \mathbf{R} \tilde{q}_{1 !!} \big(\tilde{q}_{2}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} a^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{1} \otimes \tilde{\mu}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} \mathbf{K}_{2} \big), \\ \mathcal{I} hom^{+} (\mathbf{K}_{1}, \mathbf{K}_{2}) \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \mathbf{R} \tilde{q}_{1*} \mathbf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \big(\tilde{q}_{2}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} \mathbf{K}_{1}, \tilde{\mu}^{!} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} *} \mathbf{K}_{2} \big) \\ \simeq j_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \mathbf{R} \tilde{\mu}_{*} \mathbf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \big(\tilde{q}_{2}^{-1} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} !!} a^{-1} \mathbf{K}_{1}, \tilde{q}_{1}^{!} \mathbf{R} j_{\mathbf{M} *} \mathbf{K}_{2} \big). \end{split}$$

Let us now state a result which will be fundamental in the next section. Set for short

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\neq\pm\infty\}} = \mathbf{k}_{\{(x,t)\in\mathcal{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}};\ t\neq\pm\infty\}} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathcal{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}}).$$

Recall that $\overline{\pi} \colon M \times \overline{\mathbf{R}} \to M$ denotes the projection.

Proposition **4.3.10.** — For $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ there is a distinguished triangle

(4.3.2)
$$\pi^{-1} L \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K \to \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}}, K) \overset{+1}{\longrightarrow},$$

where the object $L \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{L} &= \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_*(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\neq -\infty\}}\otimes\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*}\mathbf{K}) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}},\mathbf{K}) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_*\Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathbf{K}\Big). \end{split}$$

Proof. - Consider the Cartesian diagram,



Remark that $\overline{q}_2^! F \simeq \overline{q}_2^{-1} F[1]$ for any $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}})$.

Let $(t_1, t_2) \in \mathbf{R}^2 \subset \overline{\mathbf{R}}^2$ be the coordinates. In the sequel we will denote by $\{t_2 \le t_1\}$, $\{t_2 < t_1\}$, etc., the subsets of $\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}^2$ described by these inequalities. Set

$$\widetilde{K} = \mathsf{R}_{\mathcal{J}_{M}*}^{\cdot} K \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}}).$$

One has the isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} &\stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \underset{(1)}{\simeq} \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1\,!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2}\leq t_{1}\}} \otimes \overline{q}_{2}^{-1} \widetilde{\mathrm{K}} \right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1\,*} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2}< t_{1}\}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}}\right) \otimes \overline{q}_{2}^{!} \widetilde{\mathrm{K}}[-1] \right) \\ &\underset{(2)}{\simeq} \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1\,*} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2}< t_{1}\}}, \mathbf{l}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}}\right) \otimes \overline{q}_{2}^{!} \widetilde{\mathrm{K}}[-1] \right) \end{split}$$

where (1) follows from Lemma 4.1.4 and (2) from Proposition 2.3.4. Similarly, one has the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_1\leq t_2\}}, \overline{q}_2^!\widetilde{\mathbf{K}}).$$

Now, we claim that there are the isomorphisms in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}})$

$$(4.3.3) \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2}< t_{1}\}}[1], \overline{q}_{2}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}\right) \\ \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\{-\infty\})}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2}< t_{1}\}}[1], \overline{q}_{2}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}\right)$$

and

$$(4.3.4) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_1 \leq t_2\}}, \overline{q}_2^! \widetilde{\mathsf{K}}\right) \\ \xleftarrow{} \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M} \times \mathbf{R} \times (\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \{-\infty\})} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_1 \leq t_2\}}, \overline{q}_2^! \widetilde{\mathsf{K}}\right).$$

We shall give a proof later. Admitting the above isomorphisms for the moment, let us complete the proof.

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} &\stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1*} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R} \times (\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \{-\infty\})} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2} < t_{1}\}}[1], \overline{q}_{2}^{!} \widetilde{\mathrm{K}} \big) \big), \\ \mathcal{I}hom^{+} (\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1*} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R} \times (\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \{-\infty\})} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{1} \leq t_{2}\}}, \overline{q}_{2}^{!} \widetilde{\mathrm{K}} \big) \big). \end{aligned}$$

From the distinguished triangle

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t_1 \leq t_2\}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t_2 < t_1\}}[1] \to \mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}^2}[1] \xrightarrow{+1},$$

we deduce a distinguished triangle

$$\tilde{\mathcal{L}} \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}}, \mathcal{K}) \overset{+1}{\longrightarrow},$$

where

$$\widetilde{\mathsf{L}} = \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1*} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R} \times (\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \{-\infty\})} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}^2}[1], \overline{q}_2^! \widetilde{\mathrm{K}} \big) \big).$$

One has the isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}},\overline{q}_{2}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\overline{q}_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}},\overline{q}_{2}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}\right)\\ &\simeq \overline{q}_{2}^{!}\,\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}},\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}\right)\\ &\simeq \overline{q}_{2}^{!}\,\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}. \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\{-\infty\})} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}}[1], \overline{q}_{2}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}\right) \\ &\simeq \overline{q}_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\{l\neq-\infty\}} \otimes \overline{q}_{2}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}}[-1] \\ &\simeq \overline{q}_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\{l\neq-\infty\}} \otimes \overline{q}_{2}^{-1}\widetilde{\mathrm{K}} \\ &\simeq \overline{q}_{2}^{-1}(\mathbf{k}_{\{l\neq-\infty\}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathrm{K}}) \\ &\simeq \overline{q}_{2}^{!}(\mathbf{k}_{\{l\neq-\infty\}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathrm{K}})[-1]. \end{aligned}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{L}} &\simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{q}_{1*}\overline{q}_{2}^{!} \, (\mathbf{k}_{\{l \neq -\infty\}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathbf{K}})[-1] \\ &\simeq \pi^{!} \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_{*} (\mathbf{k}_{\{l \neq -\infty\}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathbf{K}})[-1] \\ &\simeq \pi^{-1} \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_{*} (\mathbf{k}_{\{l \neq -\infty\}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathbf{K}}). \end{split}$$

We have thus proved (4.3.2) with

$$\mathbf{L} = \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_*(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\neq -\infty\}} \otimes \mathsf{R}_{j_{\mathbf{M}}*}^{\mathsf{i}}\mathbf{K}).$$

Applying $R\pi_{!!}$ to (4.3.2), we get a distinguished triangle

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\pi^{-1}L \to \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{\ell \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K\right) \to \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{\ell \geq 0\}}, K) \overset{+1}{\longrightarrow}.$$

Corollary 4.3.5 gives $\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K) \simeq 0$. Noticing that $L \simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\pi^{-1}L[1]$, we get

$$\mathbf{L} \simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}},\mathbf{K})$$

Similarly, applying $R\pi_*$ to (4.3.2), we get

$$\mathbf{L} \simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_* \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \Big).$$

It remains to prove (4.3.3) and (4.3.4). It is enough to show that for any $F \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2}})$ one has

(4.3.5)
$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}\times\{+\infty\}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_2< t_1\}},\mathrm{F}\right)\simeq 0,$$

(4.3.6)
$$\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}\times\{-\infty\}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_1\leq t_2\}},\mathsf{F}\right)\simeq 0.$$

As in Notation 4.3.8, let **S** be the closure of $\{(t_1, t_2, t_3) \in \mathbf{R}^3; t_1 + t_2 + t_3 = 0\}$ in $\overline{\mathbf{R}}^3$. Consider the map $\tilde{p}: \mathbf{S} \to \overline{\mathbf{R}}^2$ given by $\tilde{p}(t_1, t_2, t_3) = (t_1, t_2)$. Then $\tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathbf{R}^2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{R}^2$. We shall denote by the same letter the induced map $\tilde{p}: \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{M} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}^2$.

Since $\mathsf{R}\tilde{p}_{!!}(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\{t_2 < t_1\})}) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t_2 < t_1\}}$ and $\mathsf{R}\tilde{p}_{!!}(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\{t_1 \le t_2\})}) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t_1 \le t_2\}}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2} < t_{1}\}}, \mathrm{F}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\tilde{p}_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\{t_{2} < t_{1}\})}, \tilde{p}^{!} \mathrm{F}\right), \\ \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{1} \leq t_{2}\}}, \mathrm{F}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\tilde{p}_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\{t_{1} \leq t_{2}\})}, \tilde{p}^{!} \mathrm{F}\right). \end{split}$$

Then (4.3.5) follows from

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}\times\{+\infty\}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t_{2}< t_{1}\}},\mathrm{F}\right)\\ \simeq\mathsf{R}\tilde{p}_{*}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}\times\{+\infty\})}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\{t_{2}< t_{1}\})},\tilde{p}^{!}\mathrm{F}\right)\right)\end{aligned}$$

and

$$\overline{\tilde{p}^{-1}(\{t_2 < t_1\})} \cap \tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R} \times \{+\infty\}) = \emptyset.$$

Similarly, (4.3.6) follows from

$$\tilde{b}^{-1}({t_1 \leq t_2}) \cap \tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R} \times {-\infty}) = \varnothing.$$

Corollary **4.3.11.** — For $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, there are isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\right) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}),$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K},$$
$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\right) \simeq 0,$$
$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) \simeq 0.$$

Proof. — By Lemma 4.3.6, for any $L \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ one has

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{l\geq 0\}}, \pi^{!}\mathbf{L})\simeq 0, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{l\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \pi^{-1}\mathbf{L}\simeq 0.$$

Recalling also Lemma 4.2.3, the isomorphisms in the statement follow by applying the functors $\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t \geq 0\}}, *)$ and $\mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *$ to the distinguished triangle (4.3.2).

Notation **4.3.12.** — For $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, consider the functors

$$\psi_{\mathrm{M},\pm\infty}(\mathrm{K}) = i_{\mathrm{M},\pm\infty}^{-1} \mathsf{R} j_{\mathrm{M}*} \mathsf{K}$$

where $i_{M,\pm\infty}$: $M \to M \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}$ denotes the embedding $x \mapsto (x, \pm \infty)$.

Lemma **4.3.13.** — For $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, one has the isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\mathrm{M},-\infty} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \Big) &\simeq 0, \\ \psi_{\mathrm{M},+\infty} \mathcal{I}hom^+ (\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) &\simeq 0, \\ \psi_{\mathrm{M},+\infty} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \Big) &\simeq \mathrm{L}, \\ \psi_{\mathrm{M},-\infty} \mathcal{I}hom^+ (\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) &\simeq \mathrm{L}[1]. \end{split}$$

where L is the object defined in Proposition 4.3.10.

Proof.

(i) Since the proofs of the first and second isomorphisms in the statement are similar, let us only check that

$$\begin{aligned} \textbf{(4.3.7)} \qquad \psi_{\mathrm{M},-\infty} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \Big) \simeq 0. \\ & \mathrm{Set} \ \mathrm{K}' = \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}. \ \mathrm{Since} \ \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \simeq \mathrm{K}', \ \mathrm{Proposition} \ 4.3.10 \ \mathrm{implies} \\ & \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_* \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ne -\infty\}} \otimes \mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*} \mathrm{K}' \big) \simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_* \mathrm{K}'. \\ & \mathrm{Since} \ \mathsf{R}\pi_* \mathrm{K}' \simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_* \mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*} \mathrm{K}', \ \mathrm{we} \ \mathrm{get} \\ & \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_* \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t = -\infty\}} \otimes \mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*} \mathrm{K}' \big) \simeq 0. \end{aligned}$$

One concludes since the above complex is isomorphic to $\psi_{M,-\infty}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K)$.

(ii) Since the proofs of the third and fourth isomorphisms in the statement are similar, let us only check that

$$(4.3.8) \qquad \qquad \psi_{\mathrm{M},-\infty} \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}},\mathrm{K})\simeq \mathrm{L}[1].$$

Applying $\psi_{M,-\infty}$ to the distinguished triangle (4.3.2), we obtain

$$\psi_{\mathrm{M},-\infty}\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}},\mathrm{K})\simeq\psi_{\mathrm{M},-\infty}(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L}[1]).$$

Here we used (4.3.7). Then (4.3.8) follows from $\psi_{M,-\infty}(\pi^{-1}L) \simeq L$.

Let us state an easy lemma which will be of use later. Consider the projections

$$\mathbf{M} \xleftarrow{\pi_{\mathbf{M}}} \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{s_{\mathbf{M}}} \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$$

Lemma **4.3.14.** — Let $\tilde{f} : \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ be the morphism of bordered spaces induced by a continuous map $f : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{N}$ of good topological spaces.

(i) For $K \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $G \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, there are isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} & \mathsf{R}\tilde{f}_{!!}\left(s_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{G}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right) \simeq s_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathrm{G}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{R}\tilde{f}_{!!}\mathrm{K}, \\ & \mathsf{R}\tilde{f}_{*}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(s_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{G},\mathrm{K}\right) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(s_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathrm{G},\mathsf{R}\tilde{f}_{*}\mathrm{K}\right) \end{split}$$

(ii) For $L \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{N \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $G \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, there are isomorphisms

$$\tilde{f}^{-1}\left(s_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathrm{G}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{L}\right) \simeq s_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{G}\overset{+}{\otimes}\tilde{f}^{-1}\mathrm{L},$$
$$\tilde{f}^{!}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(s_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathrm{G},\mathrm{L}\right) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(s_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{G},\tilde{f}^{!}\mathrm{L}\right).$$

(iii) One has

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{R} \tilde{f}_{!!} \circ \pi_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} &\simeq \pi_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \circ \mathbf{R} f_{!!}, \qquad \tilde{f}^{-1} \circ \pi_{\mathbf{N}}^{-1} \simeq \pi_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \circ f^{-1}, \\ \mathbf{R} \tilde{f}_{*} \circ \pi_{\mathbf{M}}^{!} &\simeq \pi_{\mathbf{N}}^{!} \circ \mathbf{R} f_{*}, \qquad \quad \tilde{f}^{!} \circ \pi_{\mathbf{N}}^{!} \simeq \pi_{\mathbf{M}}^{!} \circ f^{!}. \end{split}$$

4.4. Enhanced ind-sheaves.

Definition **4.4.1.** — Consider the full subcategories of $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^* \leq 0\}} &= \left\{ \mathbf{K} \; ; \; \mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq 0 \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \mathbf{K} \; ; \; \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq 0 \right\}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\geq 0\}} &= \left\{\mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq 0\right\} \\ &= \left\{\mathbf{K}; \ \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq 0\right\}, \\ \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}} &= \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}} \cap \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\geq 0\}} \\ &= \left\{\mathbf{K}; \ (\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq 0\right\} \\ &= \left\{\mathbf{K}; \ \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq 0\right\}, \end{split}$$

where the equalities hold by Corollary 4.3.11. Consider also the corresponding quotient categories

$$\begin{split} &\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\pm}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) = I\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^{*}\geq 0\}}/I\mathcal{C}_{\{t^{*}=0\}}, \\ &\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) = \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})/I\mathcal{C}_{\{t^{*}=0\}}. \end{split}$$

We call $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ the triangulated category of enhanced ind-sheaves.

Proposition **4.4.2.** — There are equivalences of triangulated categories

$$\begin{split} & \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\pm}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})/I\,\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm \ell^{*}\leq 0\}}, \\ & \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{+}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \oplus \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{-}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}). \end{split}$$

This follows from Proposition 4.4.4 below.

The next lemma easily follows from Corollary 4.3.7 and the last distinguished triangle in (4.2.1).

Lemma 4.4.3. — One has

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}} &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \pi^{-1}\mathbf{R}\pi_*\mathbf{K} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{K} \big\} = \big\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{K} \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi^{\,!}\mathbf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathbf{K} \big\} \\ &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{K} \simeq \pi^{-1}\mathbf{L} \text{ for some } \mathbf{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \big\} \\ &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{K} \simeq \pi^{\,!}\mathbf{L} \text{ for some } \mathbf{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \big\} \\ &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{K} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}}[1] \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \big\} \\ &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{K} \overset{\sim}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{I}hom^+ \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}}[1], \mathbf{K} \big) \big\}. \end{split}$$

Let us describe the categories ${\sf E}^{\rm b}_{\pm}(I\,{\bm k}_M)$ and ${\sf E}^{\rm b}(I\,{\bm k}_M)$ using Proposition 3.1.1.

Proposition 4.4.4.

(i-a) The left orthogonal to $I\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm \ell^* \leq 0\}}$ is given by

$${}^{\perp} \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^* \le 0\}} = \left\{ \mathrm{K} \; ; \; \mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathrm{K} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \mathrm{K} \; ; \; \mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t > 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \simeq 0 \right\},$$

and there is an equivalence

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\pm}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to {}^{\perp}I\,\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^* \leq 0\}}, \qquad \mathrm{K} \mapsto \mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K},$$

with quasi-inverse given by the quotient functor. Note that

 ${}^{\perp}\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^*\leq 0\}}\subset \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{\mp t^*\leq 0\}}.$

(i-b) The right orthogonal to $IC_{\{\pm t^* \leq 0\}}$ is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^* \leq 0\}}^{\perp} &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}'; \ \mathbf{K}' \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^+ \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t \geq 0\}}, \mathbf{K}' \big) \big\} \\ &= \big\{ \mathbf{K}'; \ \mathcal{I}hom^+ \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t > 0\}}, \mathbf{K}' \big) \simeq 0 \big\}, \end{split}$$

and there is an equivalence

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\pm}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to I\,\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^{*} \leq 0\}}^{\perp}, \qquad \mathrm{K} \mapsto \mathcal{I}\textit{hom}^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{\pm t \geq 0\}}, \,\mathrm{K}),$$

with quasi-inverse given by the quotient functor. Note that

$$\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{\pm t^* \leq 0\}}^{\perp} \subset \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{\mp t^* \leq 0\}}.$$

(ii-a) The left orthogonal to $IC_{\{t^*=0\}}$ is given by

$${}^{\perp} \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}} = \left\{ \mathrm{K}; \ (\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathrm{K} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \mathrm{K}; \ \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \simeq 0 \right\}$$
$$= \{ \mathrm{K}; \ \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!} \mathrm{K} \simeq 0 \},$$

and there is an equivalence

 $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to {}^{\perp}I\mathcal{C}_{\{t^{*}=0\}}, \qquad K \mapsto (\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t \leq 0\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} K,$

with quasi-inverse given by the quotient functor.

(ii-b) The right orthogonal to $IC_{\{t^*=0\}}$ is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}}^{\perp} &= \left\{ \mathbf{K} \; ; \; \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, \mathbf{K}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{K} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \mathbf{K} \; ; \; \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}\times\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq 0 \right\} \\ &= \{ \mathbf{K} \; ; \; \mathbf{R}\pi_*\mathbf{K} \simeq 0 \}, \end{split}$$

and there is an equivalence

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}}^{\perp}, \qquad \mathrm{K} \mapsto \mathcal{I}\,hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}),$$

with quasi-inverse given by the quotient functor. (iii) One has

$${}^{\perp}\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\geq 0\}}\oplus {}^{\perp}\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}}\simeq {}^{\perp}\mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}},\ \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\geq 0\}}\oplus \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*\leq 0\}}\simeq \mathrm{I}\mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}}^{\perp}.$$

Proof. — The proof is easy. Let us only note that the equality

$$\left\{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}\times\mathbf{R}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq 0 \right\} = \{ \mathbf{K}; \ \mathbf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathbf{K} \simeq 0 \}$$

follows from Corollary 4.3.7.

The functors

(4.4.1)
$$(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}) \stackrel{+}{\otimes} *: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}),$$
$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}, *): \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$

factor through $E^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ by Lemma 4.3.6.

Notation **4.4.5.** — Denote by

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) & \to {}^{\perp} \mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{C}_{\{\mathit{l}^{*}=0\}} \subset \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}), \\ \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) & \to \mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{C}_{\{\mathit{l}^{*}=0\}}^{\perp} \subset \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \end{split}$$

the functors induced by (4.4.1).

Note that the functors L^{E} and R^{E} are the left and right adjoint of the quotient functor $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{M\times\boldsymbol{R}_{\infty}})\to\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{M}).$

We have a morphism of functors $L^{E} \rightarrow R^{E}$.

Lemma **4.4.6.** — Let $F_1, F_2 \in D^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Let K_1, K_2 be the objects of $\mathsf{E}^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ corresponding to F_1, F_2 by the quotient functor.

| | _ |
|---|---|
| г | ٦ |
| L | |
| L | |

(i) There are isomorphisms in $D^{b}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I} \textit{hom}^{+} \big(L^{\mathsf{E}} \, K_{1}, L^{\mathsf{E}} \, K_{2} \big) &\simeq \mathcal{I} \textit{hom}^{+} \big(L^{\mathsf{E}} \, K_{1}, F_{2} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I} \textit{hom}^{+} \big(F_{1}, R^{\mathsf{E}} \, K_{2} \big) \end{split}$$

(ii) There are isomorphisms

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})}(\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{K}_{2}) &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})}\left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{F}_{2}\right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})}\left(\mathbf{F}_{1},\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}_{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

4.5. Operations. — By Lemma 4.3.6 the compositions of functors

$$(4.5.1) \qquad \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\times\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \xrightarrow{\overset{+}{\otimes}} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}),$$

(4.5.2)
$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})^{\mathrm{op}}\times\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\xrightarrow{\mathcal{I}hom^{+}}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\to\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}),$$

factor through $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M}) \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$, respectively.

Definition **4.5.1.** — We denote by

$$\overset{+}{\otimes} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}),$$
$$\mathcal{I}\textit{hom}^{+} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M}),$$

the functors induced by (4.5.1) and (4.5.2), respectively.

Note that, for any $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$, the composition

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \to \mathrm{K} \to \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K})$$

is an isomorphism in $E^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ by Proposition 4.3.10.

Definition 4.5.2. — By Lemma 4.3.2 one gets functors

$$\begin{aligned} \pi^{-1} * \otimes * \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) &\to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}), \\ \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1} *, *\right) \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) &\to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \\ \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(*, \pi^{\,!} *\right) \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \end{aligned}$$

Remark **4.5.3.** — The composition

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\times\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\overset{\otimes}{\longrightarrow}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\to\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$$

does not factor through $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$, and the composition

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})^{\mathrm{op}}\times\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\xrightarrow{\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\hom}\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\to\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$$

does not factor through $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{M})^{\mathrm{op}}\times\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{M}).$

Lemma **4.5.4.** — For $K_1, K_2, K_3 \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ there is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})}\left(K_{1}\overset{+}{\otimes}K_{2},K_{3}\right)\simeq\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})}\left(K_{1},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(K_{2},K_{3})\right),$$

 $\textit{i.e., for } K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_M),\, K \overset{+}{\otimes} * \textit{ is a left adjoint of } \mathcal{I}\textit{hom}^+(K,*).$

Lemma **4.5.5.** — For
$$K_0, K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$$
 there are natural morphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$
 $K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0, K_1) \rightarrow K_1,$
 $\mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0, K_1) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_1, K_2) \rightarrow \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0, K_2),$
 $K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_1, K_2) \rightarrow \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_1, K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} K_2),$
 $\mathcal{I}hom^+(K_1, K_2) \rightarrow \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} K_1, K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} K_2),$
 $\mathcal{I}hom^+(K_1, K_2) \rightarrow \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0, K_1), \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0, K_2)),$
 $K_0 \rightarrow \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathcal{I}hom^+(K_0, K_1), K_1).$

Proof. — The first morphism is the image of the identity by the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})}(\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{0},\mathbf{K}_{1}),\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{0},\mathbf{K}_{1})))$$

$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})}\left(\mathbf{K}_{0}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}_{0},\mathbf{K}_{1}),\mathbf{K}_{1}\right).$$

The second morphism follows from

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{K}_{0} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I} hom^{+}(\operatorname{K}_{0}, \operatorname{K}_{1}) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I} hom^{+}(\operatorname{K}_{1}, \operatorname{K}_{2}) \\ & \to \operatorname{K}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I} hom^{+}(\operatorname{K}_{1}, \operatorname{K}_{2}) \to \operatorname{K}_{2}. \end{split}$$

The third morphism is the image by the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}\left(\mathsf{K}_{0}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{K}_{1}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathsf{K}_{1},\mathsf{K}_{2}),\mathsf{K}_{0}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{K}_{2}\right)$$
$$\xrightarrow{\sim}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}\left(\mathsf{K}_{0}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathsf{K}_{1},\mathsf{K}_{2}),\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathsf{K}_{1},\mathsf{K}_{0}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{K}_{2}\right)\right)$$

of the morphism

(**4.5.3**)
$$K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} K_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^+(K_1, K_2) \to K_0 \overset{+}{\otimes} K_2$$

induced by the first morphism in the statement.

The fourth morphism is obtained from (4.5.3).

The fifth morphism is obtained from the second one.

The last morphism follows from the first one.

Let $f: M \to N$ be a continuous map of good topological spaces. Denote by $\tilde{f}: M \times \mathbb{R}_{\infty} \to N \times \mathbb{R}_{\infty}$ the associated morphism. Then, by Lemma 4.3.14(iii), the compositions of functors

$$(4.5.4) \qquad \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{R}\tilde{j}_{!!}, \, \mathsf{R}\tilde{j}_{\ast}} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}),$$

$$(4.5.5) \qquad \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \xrightarrow{\tilde{f}^{-1},\tilde{f}^{!}} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$$

factor through $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ and $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}})$, respectively.

Definition **4.5.6.** — We denote by $\mathsf{E}f_{!!}, \ \mathsf{E}f_* \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}),$ $\mathsf{E}f^{-1}, \ \mathsf{E}f^{!} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}),$

the functors induced by (4.5.4) and (4.5.5), respectively.

Definition **4.5.7.** — For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $L \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$, set

$$\mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{L} = \mathbf{E} p_1^{-1} \mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{E} p_2^{-1} \mathbf{L} \in \mathbf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathrm{N}}),$$

where p_1 and p_2 denote the projections from $M \times N$ to M and N, respectively.

Using Notation 4.4.5, for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $L \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$ one has isomorphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ or $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$:

$$\begin{split} & \mathsf{E} f_{!!} \mathsf{K} \simeq \mathsf{R} \tilde{f}_{!!} \, \mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{K} \simeq \mathsf{R} \tilde{f}_{!!} \, \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{K}, \\ & \mathsf{E} f_* \mathsf{K} \simeq \mathsf{R} \tilde{f}_* \, \mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{K} \simeq \mathsf{R} \tilde{f}_* \, \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{K}, \\ & \mathsf{E} f^{-1} \mathsf{L} \simeq \tilde{f}^{-1} \, \mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{L} \simeq \tilde{f}^{-1} \, \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{L}, \\ & \mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathsf{L} \simeq \tilde{f}^{!} \, \mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{L} \simeq \tilde{f}^{!} \, \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathsf{L}. \end{split}$$

Let us now show that the above operations satisfy similar properties to the external operations for ind-sheaves.

The following two propositions immediately follow from their counterpart in Lemmas 3.3.9 and 3.3.10.

Proposition **4.5.8.** — *Let* $f : M \rightarrow N$ *be a continuous map of good topological spaces.*

- (i) The functor $\mathsf{E}f_{!!}$ is left adjoint to $\mathsf{E}f^{!}$.
- (ii) The functor Ef^{-1} is left adjoint to Ef_* .

Proposition **4.5.9.** — Given two continuous maps of good topological spaces $L \xrightarrow{g} M \xrightarrow{f} N$, one has

$$\mathsf{E}(f \circ g)_{!!} \simeq \mathsf{E} f_{!!} \circ \mathsf{E} g_{!!}, \qquad \mathsf{E}(f \circ g)_* \simeq \mathsf{E} f_* \circ \mathsf{E} g_*$$

and

$$\mathsf{E}(f \circ g)^{-1} \simeq \mathsf{E}g^{-1} \circ \mathsf{E}f^{-1}, \qquad \mathsf{E}(f \circ g)^! \simeq \mathsf{E}g^! \circ \mathsf{E}f^!.$$

Proposition **4.5.10.** — Let $f : M \to N$ be a continuous map of good topological spaces. For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $L, L_{1}, L_{2} \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$, one has isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E} f_{!!} \Big(\mathsf{E} f^{-1} \mathbf{L} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \Big) &\simeq \mathbf{L} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} f_{!!} \mathbf{K}, \\ \mathsf{E} f^{-1} \Big(\mathbf{L}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{L}_2 \Big) &\simeq \mathsf{E} f^{-1} \mathbf{L}_1 \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} f^{-1} \mathbf{L}_2, \\ \mathcal{I} hom^+ (\mathbf{L}, \mathsf{E} f_* \mathbf{K}) &\simeq \mathsf{E} f_* \mathcal{I} hom^+ \big(\mathsf{E} f^{-1} \mathbf{L}, \mathbf{K} \big), \\ \mathcal{I} hom^+ (\mathsf{E} f_{!!} \mathbf{K}, \mathbf{L}) &\simeq \mathsf{E} f_* \mathcal{I} hom^+ \big(\mathbf{K}, \mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathbf{L} \big), \\ \mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathcal{I} hom^+ (\mathbf{L}_1, \mathbf{L}_2) &\simeq \mathcal{I} hom^+ \big(\mathsf{E} f^{-1} \mathbf{L}_1, \mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathbf{L}_2 \big), \end{split}$$

and a morphism

$$\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{L}_1,\mathbf{L}_2) \to \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathbf{L}_1,\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathbf{L}_2).$$

Proof.

(i) Since the proofs of the five isomorphisms in the statement are similar, let us only deal with the fourth one. Consider the morphisms

$$q_{\mathrm{M1}}, q_{\mathrm{M2}}, \mu_{\mathrm{M}} \colon \mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \to \mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty},$$
$$q_{\mathrm{N1}}, q_{\mathrm{N2}}, \mu_{\mathrm{N}} \colon \mathrm{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \to \mathrm{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$$

induced by (4.1.1). Consider the Cartesian diagrams

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} & \xrightarrow{f'} \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \\ & \bigvee_{u} & \bigcup_{\tilde{f}} & \bigvee_{v} & \text{for } (u, v) = (q_{\mathrm{M1}}, q_{\mathrm{N1}}), \, (q_{\mathrm{M2}}, q_{\mathrm{N2}}), \, (\mu_{\mathrm{M}}, \mu_{\mathrm{N}}). \\ & \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} & \xrightarrow{\tilde{f}} & \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \end{split}$$

Then one has

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathsf{E}f_{!!}\mathsf{K},\mathsf{L}) &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{\mathrm{N1}*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{\mathrm{N2}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\tilde{f}_{!!}^{!!}\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{K},\mu_{\mathrm{N}}^{!}\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{L}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{\mathrm{N1}*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}f_{!!}^{\prime}q_{\mathrm{M2}}^{-1}\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{K},\mu_{\mathrm{N}}^{!}\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{L}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}q_{\mathrm{N1}*}\mathsf{R}f_{*}^{\prime}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{\mathrm{M2}}^{-1}\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{K},f^{\prime !}\mu_{\mathrm{N}}^{!}\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{L}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\tilde{f}_{*}\mathsf{R}q_{\mathrm{M1}*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q_{\mathrm{M2}}^{-1}\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{K},\mu_{\mathrm{M}}^{!}\tilde{f}^{!}\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{L}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{E}f_{*}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathsf{K},\mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathsf{L}). \end{split}$$

(ii) The last morphism in the statement is obtained by adjunction from

$$\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathrm{L}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{L}_{1}, \mathrm{L}_{2}) \simeq \mathsf{E}f^{-1}\Big(\mathrm{L}_{1} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{L}_{1}, \mathrm{L}_{2})\Big) \\ \to \mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathrm{L}_{2}.$$

Here, the last morphism follows from Lemma 4.5.5.

The next proposition follows from Lemma 3.3.14.

Proposition 4.5.11. — Consider a Cartesian diagram of good topological spaces

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{M}' & \stackrel{f'}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{N}' \\ & & & & & \\ g' & & & & \\ f & & & \\ \mathbf{M} & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{N}. \end{array}$$

Then there are isomorphisms of functors $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}'})$

$$\mathsf{E}g^{-1}\mathsf{E}f_{\,!!}\simeq\mathsf{E}f_{\,!!}'\mathsf{E}g'^{-1},\qquad\mathsf{E}g^!\mathsf{E}f_{\,*}\simeq\mathsf{E}f_{\,*}'\mathsf{E}g'^!.$$

Lemma **4.5.12.** — Let $F_1, F_2 \in D^b(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Let K_1, K_2 be the objects of $E^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ corresponding to F_1, F_2 by the quotient functor. Then one has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}\left(L^\mathsf{E}\,K_1,R^\mathsf{E}\,K_2\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}\left(L^\mathsf{E}\,K_1,F_2\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}\left(F_1,R^\mathsf{E}\,K_2\right). \end{split}$$

Proof. — The first isomorphism follows from

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{K}_1,\pi^{!}\mathsf{L}\right)\simeq\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{K}_1,\mathsf{L}\right)\simeq 0,$$

and the second isomorphism follows from

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L}, \mathsf{R}^\mathsf{E}\mathrm{K}_2\right) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}, \mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}^\mathsf{E}\mathrm{K}_2\right) \simeq 0.$$

Definition **4.5.13.** — We define the hom-functor

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$$

as follows

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{K}_{2}) &= \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \, \mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\,\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{2}\right) \\ &\simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \, \mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\,\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{2}\right) \\ &\simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \, \mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\,\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{2}\right) \\ &\underset{(*)}{\simeq} \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \, \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_{*}\mathsf{R}\,\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}!!}\,\mathbf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*}\,\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{2}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_{*}\mathsf{R}\,\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}!!}\,\mathbf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{1},\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*}\,\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathbf{K}_{2}\right).\end{aligned}$$

Here, (*) *follows from Lemma 3.3.7(iv) and in the last isomorphism we used the fact that* α *commutes with* $\mathbf{R}\overline{\pi}_*$.

Lemma **4.5.14.** — For
$$K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$$
, one has

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}(K_1, K_2) \simeq \operatorname{H}^{0}\mathsf{R}\Gamma(\mathsf{M}; \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(K_1, K_2))$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}, \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(K_1, K_2)).$$

Lemma **4.5.15.** — For $K_1, K_2, K_3 \in \mathsf{E}^b(I\mathbf{k}_M)$, one has

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\Big(\mathrm{K}_{1}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}_{2},\mathrm{K}_{3}\Big)\simeq\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathrm{K}_{1},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{K}_{2},\mathrm{K}_{3})\big).$$

In particular,

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{K}_1,\mathbf{K}_2)\simeq\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}},\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{K}_1,\mathbf{K}_2)\big).$$

Let $i_0: M \to M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ be the embedding $x \mapsto (x, 0)$.

Lemma **4.5.16.** — For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $L \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$, one has

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}\otimes\pi^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mathrm{K})\simeq\alpha_{\mathrm{M}}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L},i_{0}^{!}\;\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\;\mathrm{K}\right).$$

Note that α does not commute with $i_0^!$.

Proof. — There is the chain of isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{L}, \mathrm{K}) \simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \,\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{L}, \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K}\right)$$
$$\simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \,\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1} \mathrm{L}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}}, \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K}\right)\right)$$

$$\simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathrm{L}, \mathsf{R} \pi_* \mathsf{R} i_{0*} i_0^! \; \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \right) \\ \simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{M}} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathrm{L}, i_0^! \; \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \right).$$

Here the first isomorphism follows from Lemma 4.5.12.

The following lemma follows from the fact that α commutes with Rf_* .

Lemma 4.5.17. — For $f: M \to N$ a morphism of good topological spaces, $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $L \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$, one has

$$\mathsf{R}f_*\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{K},\mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathsf{L}) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f_{!!}\mathsf{K},\mathsf{L}),$$
$$\mathsf{R}f_*\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathsf{L},\mathsf{K}) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{L},\mathsf{E}f_*\mathsf{K}).$$

Remark 4.5.18.

(i) For $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ and $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_M)$, the isomorphism

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathrm{K}_{1},\mathrm{K}_{2})\right)\simeq\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}\otimes\mathrm{K}_{1},\mathrm{K}_{2}\right)$$

does not hold in general.

(ii) Let $f: M \to N$ be a morphism of good topological spaces and $L_1, L_2 \in E^b(\mathbf{Ik}_N)$. Since α and $f^!$ do not commute in general, the isomorphism $f^! \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(L_1, L_2) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}L_1, \mathsf{E}f^!L_2)$ does not hold in general.

4.6. *t*-Structure of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$. — In this subsection, we will give a *t*-structure on $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$. Recall the t-structure on $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ defined in Section 3.4.

Definition **4.6.1.** — We set

$$\begin{split} &\mathsf{E}^{\leq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_M) = \big\{ K \in \mathsf{E}^b(I\,\mathbf{k}_M) \, ; \ L^\mathsf{E}\, K \in \mathsf{D}^{\leq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_\infty}) \big\}, \\ &\mathsf{E}^{\geq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_M) = \big\{ K \in \mathsf{E}^b(I\,\mathbf{k}_M) \, ; \ L^\mathsf{E}\, K \in \mathsf{D}^{\geq 0}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_\infty}) \big\}. \end{split}$$

Proposition **4.6.2.** — The pair $(\mathsf{E}^{\leq 0}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_M), \mathsf{E}^{\geq 0}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_M))$ is a t-structure on $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_M)$.

Proof. — It is enough to show that for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$ there are isomorphisms

$$(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t \le 0\}}) \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \tau^{\le 0} \operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \operatorname{K} \simeq \tau^{\le 0} \operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \operatorname{K},$$
$$(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t \le 0\}}) \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \tau^{.0} \operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \operatorname{K} \simeq \tau^{>0} \operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \operatorname{K}.$$

In other words, we have to prove

 $(\textbf{4.6.1}) \qquad \quad \tau^{\leq 0} \, L^{\mathsf{E}} \, K, \qquad \tau^{> 0} \, L^{\mathsf{E}} \, K \in {}^{\perp} \mathcal{C}_{\{t^*=0\}}.$

123

Hence it is enough to show

$$(4.6.2) \qquad \qquad \mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{\leq 0}\,\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathsf{K}\simeq\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{>0}\,\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathsf{K}\simeq 0.$$

We have a distinguished triangle

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{\leq 0}\,\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathsf{K}\to\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\,\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathsf{K}\to\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\,\tau^{>0}\,\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\,\mathsf{K}\xrightarrow{+1}$$

Since the middle term vanishes we have

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{>0}\operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\operatorname{K}\simeq\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{\leq 0}\operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\operatorname{K}[1].$$

By Proposition 3.4.4(iii)(a), we have

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{>0}\operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\operatorname{K}\in\mathsf{D}^{>0}(\operatorname{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})\quad\text{and}\quad\mathsf{R}\pi_{!!}\tau^{\leq0}\operatorname{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\operatorname{K}[1]\in\mathsf{D}^{\leq0}(\operatorname{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}).$$

Hence we obtain (4.6.2).

Let $\tau^{\leq n}$, $\tau^{\geq n}$ and H^n be the truncation functors and the cohomology functor for this *t*-structure. Then we have the quasi-commutative diagrams

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) & \stackrel{u}{\longrightarrow} & \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) & \stackrel{\mathrm{id}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \\ & & & & \downarrow_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{E}}} & & \downarrow_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{E}}} & & \text{for } u = \tau^{\leq 0}, \, \tau^{\geq 0}, \, \mathrm{H}^{n}, \\ \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) & \stackrel{u}{\longrightarrow} & \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}) \end{array}$$

where Q is the quotient functor.

Lemma **4.6.3.** — *For* $a \in \mathbf{R}$ *, the functors*

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t=a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *$$

are exact endofunctors of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$.

Proof. — The functor $\mathbf{k}_{\{t=a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} * \simeq \mathsf{R}\mu_{a*}(*)$ is an exact functor, where $\mu_{a} \colon \mathcal{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathcal{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ is the morphism induced by the translation $t \mapsto t + a$. For $\mathcal{K} \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$, there are isomorphisms

$$(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge a\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t \le a\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t=a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} (\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t \le 0\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}$$
$$\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t=a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}.$$

It follows that $(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge a\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t \le a\}}) \overset{+}{\otimes} *$ is an exact functor. Hence so are $\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *$ and $\mathbf{k}_{\{t \le a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *$.

4.7. Stable objects.

Notation **4.7.1.** — Consider the objects of $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{l \gg 0\}} := \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{k}_{\{l \ge a\}}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{l < *\}} := \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{`'lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{k}_{\{l < a\}}.$$

We have a distinguished triangle in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$(\textbf{4.7.1}) \qquad \qquad \textbf{k}_{M \times \textbf{R}} \rightarrow \textbf{k}_{\{t \gg 0\}} \rightarrow \textbf{k}_{\{t < *\}}[1] \xrightarrow{+1}$$

Proposition **4.7.2.** *— For* $K \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $n \in \mathbf{Z}$ one has

$$\mathsf{R}_{j_{M}!!} \operatorname{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \operatorname{K}\right) \simeq \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``Im}}{\longrightarrow}} \operatorname{R}_{j_{M}!!} \operatorname{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \operatorname{K}\right),$$
$$\operatorname{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \operatorname{K}\right) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \operatorname{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \operatorname{K}\right).$$

Proof.

- (i) The first isomorphism follows from Proposition 5.2.6(i) of [13].
- (ii) Let us prove the second isomorphism. Lemma 4.6.3 implies

$$\mathrm{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right)\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{H}^{n}(\mathrm{K}).$$

Taking the ind-limit with respect to $a \to +\infty$, we obtain the desired result. \Box

.

We have the isomorphisms in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$(4.7.2) \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}},$$

$$(4.7.3) \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge -a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \gg 0\}} \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \gg 0\}} \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \gg 0\}}$$

for any $a \in \mathbf{R}_{\geq 0}$.

Notation **4.7.3.** — Denote by $\mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}$ the object of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ associated with $\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. More generally, for $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$, set

$$\mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{E}} := \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathbf{F} \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \, \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}).$$

Note that one has

$$L^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t \gg 0\}}$$
 and $R^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t < *\}}[1].$

Lemma **4.7.4.** — *The functor* $\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} *$ *is an exact endofunctor of* $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$.

Proof. — By Proposition 4.7.2, for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$ one has

$$\mathrm{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right)\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{H}^{n}(\mathrm{K}).$$

Hence $\boldsymbol{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \ast$ is an exact functor.

Proposition **4.7.5.** — *Let* $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$. *Then the following conditions are equivalent.*

 $\begin{array}{ll} (i) & \mathrm{K} \xleftarrow{}{} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \text{ for any } a \geq 0, \\ (ii) & \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq a\}}, \mathrm{K}) \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) \overset{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathrm{K} \text{ for any } a \geq 0, \\ (iii) & \mathrm{K} \xleftarrow{}{} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}, \\ (iv) & \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathrm{K}) \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathrm{K}) \overset{\sim}{\longleftarrow} \mathrm{K}, \\ (v) & \mathrm{K} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \text{ for some } \mathrm{L} \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}), \\ (vi) & \mathrm{K} \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathrm{L}) \text{ for some } \mathrm{L} \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}). \end{array}$

Proof. — The less obvious implications (i) \implies (iii) and (ii) \implies (iv) follows from Corollary 2.2.3 and Proposition 2.2.1.

Note also that $\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq -a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}$ for any $a \in \mathbf{R}$. Hence, for example, (iii) \Longrightarrow (ii) is given by

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}}, \mathbf{K}) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq -a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}$$
$$\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq -a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}$$
$$\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq \mathbf{K}.$$

Definition **4.7.6.** — A stable object is an object of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}_{+}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$ that satisfies the equivalent conditions of Proposition 4.7.5.

Remark **4.7.7.** — The notion of stable object is related to the notion of torsion object from [25] (compare [7, Section 5] and Proposition 4.7.9 below).

Note that, for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$, one has isomorphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$

$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathrm{K}) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathrm{K}),$$
$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}.$$

Corollary **4.7.8.** — For $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_M)$ there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_M)$

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+ \Big(\mathbf{k}_M^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K_1, \mathbf{k}_M^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K_2 \Big) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^+ \Big(K_1, \mathbf{k}_M^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K_2 \Big).$$

Proposition **4.7.9.** — Let $F \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $K \in E^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$. Assume that $\overline{\pi}(\operatorname{supp}(\mathsf{R}_{j_{M}};F))$ is compact. Then there are isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right)$$
$$\simeq \lim_{a \to +\infty}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right)$$
$$\simeq \lim_{a \to +\infty}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge -a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F},\mathrm{K}\right).$$

Proof.

(i) We have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \right) \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}})} \left(\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}}!! \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F} \right), \mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \right) \right) \\ &\underset{(*)}{\simeq} \lim_{a \to +\infty} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}})} \left(\mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}}!! \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F} \right), \mathsf{R}j_{\mathrm{M}*} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \right) \right) \\ &\simeq \lim_{a \to +\infty} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Here (*) follows from Corollary 2.2.3.

(ii) The other isomorphism follows from

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq -a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F},\mathrm{K}\right)\simeq\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right).$$

Lemma 4.7.10. — For $F \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$, there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$

$$\mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I} \textit{hom}^{+}(F, K) \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{I} \textit{hom}^{+} \Big(F, \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} K \Big).$$

Proof. — Let us first show that, for $L \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, the morphism in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$(\mathbf{4.7.4}) \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{F}, \mathbf{L}) \to \mathbf{k}_{\{t\ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{L}\right)$$

is an isomorphism. For any $a \in \mathbf{R}$, there are isomorphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} &\stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{L}) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq -a\}},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{L})\big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq -a\}},\mathrm{L})\big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\Big(\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \stackrel{\scriptstyle{\leftarrow}}{\otimes} \mathrm{L}\Big). \end{aligned}$$

Hence we have an isomorphism in $D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

ī

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{L}) \overset{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\Big(\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L}\Big).$$

In order to see that (4.7.4) is an isomorphism, we shall use Proposition 2.2.2. We have

$$\begin{split} J_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}} & \mathsf{P}j_{M!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{L}) \right) \\ &\simeq \lim_{a \to +\infty} J_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}} & \mathsf{P}j_{M!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{L}) \right) \\ &\simeq \lim_{a \to +\infty} J_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}} & \mathsf{P}j_{M!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \right) \right) \\ &\simeq J_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}} & \mathsf{P}j_{M!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \right) \right). \end{split}$$

By Proposition 2.2.2, it follows that (4.7.4) is an isomorphism.

It remains to notice that for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ we have isomorphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathrm{F}, \mathrm{K}) &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\Big)\Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathrm{F}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\Big)\Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\Big). \end{split}$$

Corollary 4.7.11. — For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ and $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_M)$, we have

$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{F},\mathrm{K}\right) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}\right).$$

Proof. — This easily follows from Lemma 4.7.10 and the isomorphism

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{F},\mathrm{K}\right)\simeq\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}\otimes\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}},\mathrm{K}\right),$$

due to Lemma 4.3.2.

Proposition 4.7.12. — Let $F \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $G \in D^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$. Then there is an isomorphism in $E^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$

(4.7.5)
$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathrm{F}, \pi^{!} \mathrm{G}\right) \simeq \mathcal{I} hom^{+} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G}\right).$$

Proof. — Recall that, by Lemma 4.3.2, one has

$$a^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{F},\pi^{\,!}\,\mathrm{G}\right)\simeq\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathbf{k}_{\left\{t=0
ight\}}\otimes\pi^{-1}\mathrm{G}
ight).$$

Hence, Lemma 4.7.10 implies

$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathrm{F}, \pi^{!} \mathrm{G}\right) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{I} hom^{+} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G}\right)$$
$$\simeq \mathcal{I} hom^{+} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G}\right)\right)$$
$$\simeq \mathcal{I} hom^{+} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G}\right).$$

Remark **4.7.13.** — By Lemma 2.2.5, one has

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \pi^{!}\omega_{\mathrm{M}}\right) \simeq j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}}, \omega_{\mathrm{M}\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}}\right) \simeq 0.$$

Moreover, one has

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}},\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\otimes\pi^{-1}\omega_{\mathrm{M}})\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\otimes\pi^{-1}\omega_{\mathrm{M}}.$$

Hence (4.7.5) does not hold for $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}$ and $\mathbf{G} = \omega_{\mathrm{M}}$.

Proposition **4.7.14.** — Let $f: M \rightarrow N$ be a continuous map of good topological spaces.

(i) For $K\in\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\boldsymbol{k}_{M})$ one has

$$\mathsf{E} f_{!!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K} \right) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} f_{!!} \mathrm{K}$$

(ii) For $L \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$ one has

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} f^{-1} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \Big) &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{E} f^{-1} \mathrm{L}, \\ \mathbf{E} f^{!} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \Big) &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{E} f^{!} \mathrm{L}. \end{split}$$

Proof. — The isomorphisms

$$\mathbf{E}f_{!!}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}\right) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathbf{E}f_{!!}\mathrm{K},$$
$$\mathbf{E}f^{-1}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{L}\right) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathbf{E}f^{-1}\mathrm{L}$$

follow from Proposition 4.5.10 and $\mathbf{E} f^{-1} \mathbf{k}_{N}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}$. Let us prove

(4.7.6)
$$\mathsf{E}f^{!}\left(\mathbf{k}_{N}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{L}\right)\simeq\mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathrm{L}.$$

If $L \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{-}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$, then both sides of (4.7.6) vanish. We may then assume $L \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{+}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$, i.e. $L \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{\ell \geq 0\}}, L)$. Set $\widetilde{L} = \mathsf{R}j_{N*} \, \mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, L$, so that

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{L}} \simeq \mathbf{R}_{j_{N}*}^{\cdot} \mathcal{I} \textit{hom}^{+} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, j_{N}^{-1} \widetilde{\mathbf{L}} \right)$$

Let $\overline{f}: \mathbf{M} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}} \to \mathbf{N} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}$ be the map induced by f. By Lemma 4.3.14, we have

$$\overline{f}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}} \simeq \mathsf{R}_{j_{\mathrm{M}}*}^{!}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\{l\geq 0\}}, j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\overline{f}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}}).$$

Then, Lemma 4.3.13 implies

$$\mathbf{k}_{\{t=+\infty\}}\otimes\widetilde{\mathbf{L}}\simeq 0, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\{t=+\infty\}}\otimes\overline{f}^{\,!}\,\widetilde{\mathbf{L}}\simeq 0.$$

Set

$$C_{M} = \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim}``}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{k}_{M \times \{-\infty \le l < a\}}[1],$$
$$C_{N} = \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim}``}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{k}_{N \times \{-\infty \le l < a\}}[1],$$

so that

$$C_M \simeq \mathsf{R}^{\,i}_{\mathcal{J}_M*} \, R^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{k}_M^{\mathsf{E}} \big), \qquad C_N \simeq \mathsf{R}^{\,i}_{\mathcal{J}N*} \, R^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{k}_N^{\mathsf{E}} \big).$$

Using Notation 4.3.8, consider the maps

$$\begin{split} \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}, \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}, \tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}} \colon \mathrm{M} \times \mathrm{S} &\to \mathrm{M} \times \overline{\mathrm{R}} \\ \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{N}}, \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{N}}, \tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{N}} \colon \mathrm{N} \times \mathrm{S} &\to \mathrm{N} \times \overline{\mathrm{R}}, \\ f' \colon \mathrm{M} \times \mathrm{S} &\to \mathrm{N} \times \mathrm{S}, \end{split}$$

where f' is the map induced by f.

Then, by Lemma 4.3.9, $\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathsf{L}$ is represented by the object of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}})$

$$\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}*}\big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}}\otimes\tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{M}}\otimes\tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\overline{f}^{\,!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}}\big).$$

Since

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\{+\infty\})} \otimes \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{M}} &\simeq 0, \\ \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\{+\infty\})} \otimes \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\overline{f}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}} &\simeq 0, \\ \tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}) \cap \mathrm{M} \times \left(\mathbf{S}\setminus\mathbf{R}^{2}\right) \subset \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\left(\{t=+\infty\}\right) \cup \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\left(\{t=+\infty\}\right), \end{split}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R})} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}} \otimes \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\overline{f}^{\mathrm{!}} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}} \\ \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R})} \otimes \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\overline{f}^{\mathrm{!}} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}}. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, one has

$$\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R})}\otimes\tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\overline{f}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}}\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}(\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R})}\otimes\tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{!}\overline{f}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1],$$

since \tilde{q}_{2M} is topologically submersive and $\tilde{q}_{2M}^! \mathbf{k}_{M \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(M \times \mathbf{R}) \cup \tilde{q}_{1M}^{-1}(M \times \mathbf{R})}[1]$.

Hence we conclude that $\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathrm{L}$ is represented by

$$\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}*}(\tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{M}}\otimes\tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{!}\boldsymbol{f}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1]).$$

On the other hand, by the same reasoning, $\mathbf{k}_N^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} L$ is represented by the object of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}})$

$$\mathsf{R} ilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{N}*}(ilde{q}_{1\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{N}}\otimes ilde{q}_{2\mathrm{N}}^{!}\widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1]).$$

Hence $\mathsf{E} f^! (\mathbf{k}_N^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} L)$ is represented by the object of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I \, \mathbf{k}_{M \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}})$

$$\overline{f}^{!} \mathsf{R}\widetilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{N}*} \big(\widetilde{q}_{1\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \widetilde{q}_{2\mathrm{N}}^{!} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1] \big) \simeq \mathsf{R}\widetilde{\mu}_{\mathrm{M}*} f^{\prime !} \big(\widetilde{q}_{1\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \widetilde{q}_{2\mathrm{N}}^{!} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1] \big).$$

Finally, Proposition 2.2.4 implies that

$$f^{\prime \prime} \left(\tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{N}}^{\prime} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1] \right) \simeq f^{\prime - 1} \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{N}}^{-1} \mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes f^{\prime \prime} \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{N}}^{\prime} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1]$$
$$\simeq \tilde{q}_{1\mathrm{M}}^{-1} \mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes \tilde{q}_{2\mathrm{M}}^{\prime} \overline{f}^{\prime} \widetilde{\mathrm{L}}[-1].$$

Proposition 4.7.15. — The functor $e(F) = \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}F$ gives a fully faithful embedding $e \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{M}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{M}).$

Proof. — For F, G
$$\in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$$
 one has

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{G})$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} (\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}), \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{G})$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{G}))$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{G}).$$

Since

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F} \big) &\simeq (\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq 0\}}) \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F}, \\ \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G} \big) &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G}, \end{split}$$

one further has

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{M}})} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G} \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})} \left((\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq0\}} \oplus \mathbf{k}_{\{t\leq0\}}) \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G} \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})} \left(\pi^{-1} \mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G} \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{M}})} \left(\mathrm{F}, \mathsf{R}\pi_{*} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{G} \right) \right) \\ &\underset{(*)}{\simeq} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{k}_{M}})} (\mathrm{F}, \mathrm{G}). \end{split}$$

Here, in (*), we used the fact that

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_*(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}}\otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{G})\simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_*\mathsf{R}^{i}_{\mathcal{M}*}(\mathbf{k}_{\{t\gg 0\}}\otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{G})$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_*(\underset{a\to +\infty}{\overset{(``\lim)}{\longrightarrow}}\mathbf{k}_{\{a\leq l\leq +\infty\}}\otimes \overline{\pi}^{-1}\mathrm{G}),$$

and
$$\mathsf{R}\overline{\pi}_* \stackrel{\text{``lim''}}{\underset{a \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{k}_{\{a \leq t \leq +\infty\}} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}.$$

4.8. *Duality.*

Definition **4.8.1.** — We define the duality functor $D^{\mathsf{E}} : \mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{H}^{\mathsf{c}}) \rightarrow \mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{H}^{\mathsf{c}})^{\mathsf{op}} = \mathbf{H}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{H}^{\mathsf{c}})^{\mathsf{op}}$

$$D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})^{\mathrm{op}}, \qquad \mathrm{K} \mapsto \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathrm{K}, \omega_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big),$$

where we recall that $\omega_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} := \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \omega_{\mathrm{M}}.$

Proposition **4.8.2.** — Let $f: M \to N$ be a continuous map of good topological spaces and $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$. Then one has an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathsf{E} f_{!!} \mathbf{K} \simeq \mathsf{E} f_* \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{K}.$$

Proof. — This follows from Proposition 4.5.10 and $\mathsf{E}f^!\omega_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \omega_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}$, which is a consequence of Proposition 4.7.14(ii).

Proposition **4.8.3.** — *For* $F \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, one has

$$\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F}\right)\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F}.$$

Here a is the involution of $M \times \mathbf{R}$ *defined by* a(x, t) = (x, -t)*.*

Proof. — We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F} \Big) &= \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}, \omega_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{F}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \omega_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big) \big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{F}, \omega_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big) \\ &= \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \omega_{\mathbf{M}} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathbf{R} \mathcal{H}om \big(\mathbf{F}, \pi^{!} \omega_{\mathbf{M}} \big). \end{aligned}$$

Here, the last isomorphism follows from Proposition 4.7.12.

Corollary **4.8.4.** — *For* $F \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M})$, *one has*

$$\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\otimes\pi^{-1}\mathrm{F})\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\otimes\pi^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}\mathrm{F}.$$

Proof. — We have

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F} \big) &\simeq \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} (\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F}) \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \big(\mathbf{k}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}} \mathrm{F} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}} \mathrm{F}. \end{split}$$

4.9. R*-constructible objects.* — In this subsection, we assume that M is a subanalytic space. Recall the natural morphism

$$j_{\mathrm{M}} \colon \mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathrm{M} \times \overline{\mathbf{R}},$$

and the category $D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ from Notation 3.2.11.

Definition **4.9.1.** — We denote by $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ the full subcategory of $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ whose objects F are such that $\mathsf{Rj}_{M!}F$ is an \mathbf{R} -constructible object of $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}})$. We regard $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ as a full subcategory of $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{Ik}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$.

Note that $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{M\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ is stable by the functors $\overset{+}{\otimes}$, $\mathcal{I}hom^{+}$ and \otimes , $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom$.

Definition **4.9.2.** — We say that an object $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$ is **R**-constructible if for any relatively compact subanalytic open subset $U \subset \mathsf{M}$ there exists an isomorphism

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{k}_U \otimes K \simeq \mathbf{k}_M^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} F \quad \text{for some } F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-\mathrm{c}}}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}}).$$

Denote by $\mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$ the full subcategory of $\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$ whose objects are **R**-constructible.

Note in particular that **R**-constructible objects of $E^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ are stable objects.

Proposition **4.9.3.** — Let $K' \xrightarrow{\varphi} K \to K'' \xrightarrow{+1}$ be a distinguished triangle in $E^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$. If K' and K are **R**-constructible, so is K''.

Proof. — We may assume that $\mathbf{K}' = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}'$ and $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}$ for $\mathbf{F}, \mathbf{F}' \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{c}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. By replacing \mathbf{F}' with $\mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}'$, we may also assume that $\mathbf{F}' \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}'$. We may assume further that $\overline{\pi}(\operatorname{supp}(\mathbf{R}_{f_{\mathbf{M}}};\mathbf{F}'))$ is compact. Then, by Proposition 4.7.9,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})}(\mathrm{K}',\mathrm{K}) \simeq \varinjlim_{a \to +\infty} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})}(\mathrm{F}',\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F}).$$

Hence there exist $a \in \mathbf{R}$ and a morphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\varphi'\colon \mathbf{F}'\to \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq a\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathbf{F}$$

such that $\varphi \colon \mathbf{K}' \to \mathbf{K}$ is equal to

$$\mathbf{K}' = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}' \xrightarrow{\varphi'} \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\{t \geq a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F} \right) \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F} = \mathbf{K}.$$

Completing φ' in a distinguished triangle $F' \xrightarrow{\varphi'} \mathbf{k}_{\{t \ge a\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} F \to F'' \xrightarrow{+1}$, we have $F'' \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{c}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $K'' \simeq \mathbf{k}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{M}} \overset{+}{\otimes} F''$.

Corollary **4.9.4.** — The category $\mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$ is a triangulated category.

Lemma 4.9.5. — Let $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{Ik}_{\mathsf{M}})$. Then K is **R**-constructible if and only if $\mathrm{H}^{n}K$ is **R**-constructible for any $n \in \mathbf{Z}$.

Proof. — For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, we have

$$\mathrm{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F}\right)\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{H}^{n}\left(\mathbf{k}_{\{\ell\geq0\}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F}\right)$$

by Proposition 4.7.2.

Proposition **4.9.6.** — Let $K_1, K_2 \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{Ik}_M)$. If $K_1 \oplus K_2$ is **R**-constructible, then K_1 and K_2 are **R**-constructible.

Proof. — Let $f: K_1 \oplus K_2 \to K_1 \oplus K_2$ be the morphism given by $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & id_{K_2} \end{pmatrix}$. Then we have a distinguished triangle

$$K_1 \oplus K_2 \xrightarrow{f} K_1 \oplus K_2 \to K_1 \oplus K_1[1] \xrightarrow{+1}$$

Hence, Proposition 4.9.3 implies that $K_1 \oplus K_1[1]$ is **R**-constructible.

It is therefore enough to show that

(4.9.1) $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$ is **R**-constructible if $K \oplus K[1]$ is **R**-constructible.

We may assume $H^n(K) = 0$ unless $a \le n \le b$. Let us show (4.9.1) by induction on b - a. By Lemma 4.9.5, $H^a(K) \simeq H^{a-1}(K \oplus K[1])$ is **R**-constructible. Hence $H^a(K)[-a] \oplus H^a(K)[-a+1]$ is **R**-constructible. There is a distinguished triangle

$$\mathrm{H}^{a}(\mathrm{K})[-a] \oplus \mathrm{H}^{a}(\mathrm{K})[-a+1] \to \mathrm{K} \oplus \mathrm{K}[1] \to \tau^{>a} \mathrm{K} \oplus \left(\tau^{>a} \mathrm{K}\right)[1] \stackrel{+1}{\longrightarrow},$$

where $\tau^{>a}$ is the truncation functor with respect to the t-structure of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$. Hence, $\tau^{>a}\mathsf{K} \oplus (\tau^{>a}\mathsf{K})[1]$ is **R**-constructible by Proposition 4.9.3. By the induction hypothesis, $\tau^{>a}\mathsf{K}$ is **R**-constructible. Then, by the distinguished triangle

$$\mathrm{H}^{a}(\mathrm{K})[-a] \to \mathrm{K} \to \tau^{>a}\mathrm{K} \xrightarrow{+1},$$

we conclude that K is **R**-constructible.

Lemma **4.9.7.** — Let $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(I\mathbf{k}_{M}),$
- (ii) there exist a locally finite family $\{Z_i\}_{i \in I}$ of locally closed subanalytic subsets of M and $F_i \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-\mathbb{C}}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ such that $\mathrm{M} = \bigcup_{i \in I} Z_i$ and

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{Z_i} \otimes \mathbf{K} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}_i \quad \text{for all } i \in \mathbf{I},$$

(iii) there exist a filtration $\emptyset = \mathbf{M}_{-1} \subset \mathbf{M}_0 \subset \cdots \subset \mathbf{M}_r = \mathbf{M}$ and objects $\mathbf{F}_k \in \mathbf{D}^{\mathbf{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ for $0 \le k \le r$ such that \mathbf{M}_k is a closed subanalytic subset of \mathbf{M} and

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}_k\setminus\mathrm{M}_{k-1}}\otimes\mathrm{K}\simeq\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{F}_k.$$

1.1

 $\begin{array}{l} (\mathrm{i}) \Longrightarrow (\mathrm{ii}) \quad \mathrm{is \ obvious.} \\ (\mathrm{ii}) \Longrightarrow (\mathrm{iii}) \quad \mathrm{There \ exists \ a \ filtration \ } \{\mathrm{M}_k\} \text{ such that each \ connected \ component \ of } \\ \mathrm{M}_k \setminus \mathrm{M}_{k-1} \text{ is \ contained \ in \ some \ } \mathrm{Z}_i. \\ (\mathrm{iii}) \Longrightarrow (\mathrm{i}) \quad \mathrm{Follows \ from \ Proposition \ } 4.9.3. \end{array}$

Corollary **4.9.8.** — **R**-constructibility of $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$ is a local property on M .

The following lemma is not used in this paper, but it might help the reader to understand the category $E^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$.

Lemma **4.9.9.** — The complex $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$ is **R**-constructible if and only if there exist

- (i) a locally finite family $\{Z_i\}_{i \in I}$ of locally closed subanalytic subsets of M,
- (ii) finite sets A_i , for $i \in I$,
- (iii) continuous subanalytic functions $\varphi_{i,a} \colon Z_i \to \mathbf{R}$ and $\psi_{i,a} \colon Z_i \to \mathbf{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$ for $i \in \mathbf{I}$ and $a \in A_i$, such that $\varphi_{i,a}(x) < \psi_{i,a}(x)$ for all $x \in Z_i$ (here a function is called subanalytic if its graph is subanalytic in $\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}$),
- (iv) integers $m_{i,a} \in \mathbf{Z}$ for $i \in I$ and $a \in A_{i,a}$

such that $\mathbf{M} = \bigsqcup_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \mathbf{Z}_i$ and there are isomorphisms for any $i \in \mathbf{I}$

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{Z_i}\otimes \mathrm{K}\simeq \bigoplus_{a\in \mathrm{A}_i}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{W}_{i,a}}[m_{i,a}]$$

where we set

$$\mathbf{W}_{i,a} = \left\{ (x, t) \in \mathbf{Z}_i \times \mathbf{R}; \ \varphi_{i,a}(x) \le t < \psi_{i,a}(x) \right\}.$$

Proof. — We may assume $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \bigotimes^{+} \mathbf{F}$ for $\mathbf{F} \in \mathsf{D}_{\mathbf{R}-c}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ such that $\mathbf{F} \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{t\geq 0\}} \bigotimes^{+} \mathbf{F}$. Since \mathbf{F} is \mathbf{R} -constructible, there exist a partition $\mathbf{M} = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathbf{Z}_{i}$, integers $r_{i} \in \mathbf{Z}_{>0}$

 $(i \in \mathbf{I})$, and continuous subanalytic functions $\xi_{i,a} \colon \mathbf{Z}_i \to \overline{\mathbf{R}} \ (i \in \mathbf{I}, \ 0 \le a \le r_i)$, such that $-\infty = \xi_{i,0}(x) < \cdots < \xi_{i,r_i}(x) = +\infty$ for any $x \in \mathbf{Z}_i$, and such that $\mathbf{F}|_{\mathbf{Z}_i \times \mathbf{R}}$ is locally constant on $\{(x, t); x \in \mathbf{Z}_i, t = \xi_{i,a}(x)\}$ (for $0 < a < r_i$) and on $\mathbf{Z}_i \times \mathbf{R} \setminus \bigcup_{a=1}^{r_i-1} \{t = \xi_{i,a}(x)\}$.

We may further assume that Z_i is contractible. Then $\pi^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{Z_i} \otimes F$ is a finite direct sum of shifts of sheaves of the form

- (i) $\mathbf{k}_{\{\xi_{i,a}(x) < t < \xi_{i,b}(x)\}}$ for $0 \le a < b \le r_i$,
- (ii) $\mathbf{k}_{\{\xi_{i,a}(x) \le t < \xi_{i,b}(x)\}}$ for $0 < a < b \le r_i$,
- (iii) $\mathbf{k}_{\{\xi_{i,a}(x) < t \le \xi_{i,b}(x)\}}$ for $0 \le a < b < r_i$,
- (iv) $\mathbf{k}_{\{\xi_{i,a}(x) \le t \le \xi_{i,b}(x)\}}$ for $0 < a \le b < r_i$.

Since we assumed $F \simeq \mathbf{k}_{\{l \ge 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} F$, any direct summand of $\pi^{-1} \mathbf{k}_{Z_i} \otimes F$ satisfies the same condition. Hence only the case (ii) survives.

Notation **4.9.10.** — For
$$K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}})$$
, we set
 $\operatorname{supp}^{\mathsf{E}}(K) = \overline{\pi}(\operatorname{supp}(\mathsf{R}_{j_{\mathsf{M}}!!}L^{\mathsf{E}}K)) \subset \mathsf{M}.$

Proposition **4.9.11.** — Let $f : M \rightarrow N$ be a continuous subanalytic morphism of subanalytic spaces.

- (i) The functors $\mathsf{E}f^{-1}$ and $\mathsf{E}f^{!}$ send $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}})$ to $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})$.
- (ii) Let $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$ be such that $\operatorname{supp}^{\mathsf{E}}(K)$ is proper over N. Then $\mathsf{E}f_{!!}K \simeq \mathsf{E}f_{*}K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{N})$.

Proof.

- (i) Note that $\mathsf{E}f^{-1}$ and $\mathsf{E}f^{!}$ send $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}^{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ to $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}^{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Then the statement follows from Proposition 4.7.14.
- (ii) We may assume that $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F}$ for $\mathbf{F} \in \mathsf{D}_{\mathbf{R}-c}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ such that $\overline{\pi \operatorname{supp}(\mathbf{F})}$ is compact. Then $\mathsf{E}f_{!!}\mathbf{F} \in \mathsf{D}_{\mathbf{R}-c}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, and the statement follows from Proposition 4.7.14.

 $\begin{aligned} \textit{Theorem 4.9.12.} & - \textit{If } K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}\mathrm{c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})\textit{, then } \mathrm{D}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{M}} K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}\mathrm{c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}})\textit{ and the natural morphism} \\ & \mathrm{K} \rightarrow \mathrm{D}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{M}}\mathrm{D}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{M}} \mathrm{K} \end{aligned}$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. — The natural morphism is constructed using Lemma 4.5.5.

We may assume $\mathbf{K} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes^{+} \mathbf{F}$ for $\mathbf{F} \in \mathsf{D}_{\mathbf{R}-c}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathsf{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Then

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{K} &\simeq \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F} \right) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}} \mathrm{F} \end{split}$$

by Proposition 4.8.3. Since $D_{M \times \mathbf{R}}F$ belongs to $D_{\mathbf{R}-c}^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, it follows that $D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}K$ is **R**-constructible. Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{K} &\simeq \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}} \mathbf{F} \right) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}} \mathbf{F} \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{F} \simeq \mathbf{K}. \end{split}$$

Hence $K \to D_M^{\mathsf{E}} D_M^{\mathsf{E}} K$ is an isomorphism.

Proposition **4.9.13.** — Let $K, K' \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$. Then both $K \overset{+}{\otimes} K'$ and $\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(K, K')$ are **R**-constructible, and one has isomorphisms

- (i) $D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{K} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{K}') \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathbf{K}, D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}'),$
- (ii) $D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(K, K') \simeq K \overset{+}{\otimes} D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}K',$ (iii) $\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(K, K') \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}(D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}K', D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}K),$ (iv) $\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(K, K') \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}K', D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}K).$

Proof. — Let us first show that $K \overset{+}{\otimes} K'$ is **R**-constructible if both K and K' are so. It is not restrictive to assume $K \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} F$ and $K' \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} F'$ for $F, F' \in \mathsf{D}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Then $K \overset{+}{\otimes} K' \simeq \mathbf{k}_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} (F \overset{+}{\otimes} F')$, and hence $K \overset{+}{\otimes} K'$ is **R**-constructible. The first isomorphism in the statement is immediate.

Hence $\mathcal{I}hom^+(K, K') \simeq D_M^{\mathsf{E}}(K \overset{+}{\otimes} D_M^{\mathsf{E}}K')$ is **R**-constructible.

The second isomorphism follows from this isomorphism by applying the functor D_{M}^{E} .

The third isomorphism follows from (i).

The fourth isomorphism follows from

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathbf{K},\mathbf{K}'\big) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathbf{K},\mathbf{K}'\big)\big) \\ \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}},\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}',\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}\big)\big) \\ \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}',\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}\big). \end{aligned}$$

Proposition 4.9.14. — Let $f: M \to N$ be a continuous subanalytic morphism. For $L \in$ $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}-\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}})$ there are isomorphisms

$$\mathsf{E}f^{!}(\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{L})\simeq\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathsf{L}),\qquad\mathsf{E}f^{-1}(\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathsf{L})\simeq\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathsf{L}).$$

Proof.

(i) There are isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}f^{!}\big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{L}\big) &= \mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathrm{L},\omega_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big)\\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathrm{L},\mathsf{E}f^{!}\omega_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big)\\ &\underset{(*)}{\simeq}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\big(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathrm{L},\omega_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big)\\ &= \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathrm{L}\big). \end{split}$$

Here (*) follows from Proposition 4.7.14(ii).

(ii) By (i), there are isomorphisms

$$D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f^{-1}D_{N}^{\mathsf{E}}L) \simeq \mathsf{E}f^{!}D_{N}^{\mathsf{E}}D_{N}^{\mathsf{E}}L \simeq \mathsf{E}f^{!}L.$$

Further applying D_{M}^{E} , we get $\mathsf{E}f^{-1}(D_{N}^{\mathsf{E}}L) \simeq D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}f^{!}L).$

Proposition **4.9.15.** — Let M be a subanalytic space, N a good topological space, and $K \in E^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M}), L \in E^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{N})$. Then one has an isomorphism in $E^{b}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M\times N})$

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+ \Big(\mathsf{E}p_1^{-1}\mathrm{K}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_2^{!}\mathrm{L} \Big) \simeq \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{K} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{L},$$

where p_1 and p_2 denote the projections from $M \times N$ to M and N, respectively.

In order to prove the above proposition, we need some preliminary results.

Proposition **4.9.16**. — Let M be a subanalytic space, N a good topological space, and consider the morphism

$$\mu \colon \mathrm{M} \times \mathrm{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \to \mathrm{M} \times \mathrm{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$$

induced by $(t_1, t_2) \mapsto t_1 + t_2$. Then, for any $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $G \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, there exists a distinguished triangle in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{N}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}(F\boxtimes G)\to \mathsf{R}\mu_{*}(F\boxtimes G)\to \pi_{M\times N}^{-1}(L_{+}\oplus L_{-})\stackrel{+1}{\longrightarrow},$$

where

$$\mathbf{L}_{\pm} = \psi_{\mathbf{M},\pm\infty}(\mathbf{F}) \boxtimes \psi_{\mathbf{N},\mp\infty}(\mathbf{G})$$

(see Notation 4.3.12). Here, we identify $M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \times N \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ with $M \times N \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^2$.

Proof. — Set $X = M \times N$. With Notation 4.3.8, consider the diagram

$$X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{j_{X}} X \times \overline{\mathbf{R}} \xleftarrow{\tilde{\mu}} X \times \mathbf{S} \xrightarrow{\tilde{p}} X \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}^{2},$$

where \tilde{p} is induced by $(\tilde{q}_1, \tilde{q}_2)$. Set

$$\widetilde{F} = \mathsf{R}_{j_{M*}}^{\cdot}F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}\cdot\mathrm{c}}(\mathbf{k}_{M\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}}), \qquad \widetilde{G} = \mathsf{R}_{j_{N*}}^{\cdot}G \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\,\mathbf{k}_{N\times\overline{\mathbf{R}}}).$$

Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}(\mathbf{F}\boxtimes\mathbf{G}) \simeq j_{\mathbf{X}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_{*}\big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}}\otimes\tilde{\rho}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}})\big), \\ \mathsf{R}\mu_{*}(\mathbf{F}\boxtimes\mathbf{G}) \simeq j_{\mathbf{X}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_{*}\big(\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}},\tilde{\rho}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}})\big)\big). \end{aligned}$$

In Sublemma 4.9.17 below, we will prove the isomorphism

(4.9.2)
$$\widetilde{\mu}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}},\widetilde{p}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}})\right)$$
$$\simeq\widetilde{\mu}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}}\otimes\widetilde{p}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}).$$

Admitting (4.9.2), we have

$$\mathsf{R}\mu_*(\mathbf{F}\boxtimes\mathbf{G})\simeq j_{\mathbf{X}}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_*\tilde{\rho}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}).$$

Hence, we obtain a distinguished triangle

$$\mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}(F\boxtimes G) \to \mathsf{R}\mu_{*}(F\boxtimes G) \to j_{X}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_{*}(\mathbf{k}_{X\times(\mathsf{S}\backslash\mathbf{R}^{2})}\otimes\tilde{p}^{-1}(\widetilde{F}\boxtimes\widetilde{G})) \xrightarrow{+1}$$

We have

(4.9.3)
$$\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{R}) \cap \left(\mathbf{X} \times \left(\mathbf{S} \setminus \mathbf{R}^2\right)\right)$$
$$= \tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{R}) \cap \tilde{p}^{-1}\left(\mathbf{X} \times \left\{(+\infty, -\infty), (-\infty, +\infty)\right\}\right).$$

Moreover, we have

$$\mathbf{k}_{X \times \{(+\infty, -\infty), (-\infty, +\infty)\}} \otimes (\widetilde{F} \boxtimes \widetilde{G}) \simeq \mathsf{R}_{i_{+}*} L_{+} \oplus \mathsf{R}_{i_{-}*} L_{-},$$

where $i_{\pm} \colon X \to X \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}^2$ is the inclusion $x \mapsto (x, \pm \infty, \mp \infty)$. Hence we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{(4.9.4)} \qquad \qquad \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_*\big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times(\mathbf{S}\setminus\mathbf{R}^2)}\otimes\tilde{p}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}})\big) \\ \simeq \mathsf{R}\tilde{\mu}_*\big(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})}\otimes\tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathsf{R}i_{+*}\mathbf{L}_+\oplus\mathsf{R}i_{-*}\mathbf{L}_-)\big). \end{aligned}$$

By the commutative diagram

the right hand side of (4.9.4) is isomorphic to $\pi_{M\times N}^{-1}(L_+\oplus L_-)$. Hence we obtain the desired result.

Sublemma **4.9.17.** — With the same notations as in the proof of Proposition 4.9.16, we have

- - -

$$\tilde{\mu}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R}}\otimes\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{X}\times(\mathbf{S}\setminus\mathbf{R}^2)},\tilde{p}^{-1}(\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}\boxtimes\widetilde{\mathbf{G}})\right)\simeq0,$$

where $\widetilde{\mathbf{F}} = \mathbf{R}_{j_{\mathbf{M}*}}\mathbf{F}$ and $\widetilde{\mathbf{G}} = \mathbf{R}_{j_{\mathbf{N}*}}\mathbf{G}$.
Proof. — By Proposition 2.2.2, we may assume $G \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{N \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ without loss of generality. Set

$$\Psi_{M,N}(F,G) = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}\left(\mathbf{k}_{X\times(\mathsf{S}\backslash\mathbf{R}^2)}, \tilde{\rho}^{-1}(\widetilde{F}\boxtimes\widetilde{G})\right) \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{k}_{X\times\mathsf{S}}).$$

By (4.9.3), it is enough to show

(4.9.5)
$$\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})\cap\tilde{\rho}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})^2)}\otimes\Psi_{\mathbf{M},\mathbf{N}}(\mathbf{F},\mathbf{G})\simeq 0.$$

(i) We shall first show (4.9.5) when $M = \{pt\}$, so that $F \in D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Note that $D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ is the smallest triangulated category which is stable by taking direct summands and contains $\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}}$ and $\mathbf{k}_{[a,b]}$ for $-\infty < a \le b < +\infty$. Hence we may assume $F = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}}$ or $F = \mathbf{k}_{[a,b]}$.

(i-1) If $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{k}_{[a,b]}$, then

$$\operatorname{supp}(\widetilde{F}\boxtimes\widetilde{G})\cap \left(X\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})^2\right)=\varnothing,$$

so that (4.9.5) is obvious.

(i-2) If $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}}$, then

$$\Psi_{\mathrm{M,N}}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{G}) = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{X}\times(\mathbf{S}\setminus\mathbf{R}^2)}, \tilde{\rho}^{-1}\overline{\rho}_2^{-1}\widetilde{\mathrm{G}}\right).$$

where $\overline{p}_2 \colon X \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}^2 \to N \times \overline{\mathbf{R}}$ is the projection. Since

$$\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})\cap\left(\mathbf{X}\times\left(\mathbf{S}\setminus\mathbf{R}^{2}\right)\right)=\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})\cap\tilde{\rho}^{-1}\overline{\rho}_{2}^{-1}\left(\mathbf{N}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})\right),$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})\cap\tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})^{2})} \otimes \Psi_{\mathbf{M},\mathbf{N}}(\mathbf{F},\mathbf{G}) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})\cap\tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})^{2})} \otimes \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathbf{k}_{\tilde{p}^{-1}\overline{p}_{2}^{-1}(\mathbf{N}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R}))}, \tilde{p}^{-1}\overline{p}_{2}^{-1}\widetilde{\mathbf{G}}\right) \\ &\underset{(*)}{\simeq} \mathbf{k}_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{R})\cap\tilde{p}^{-1}(\mathbf{X}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})^{2})} \otimes \tilde{p}^{-1}\overline{p}_{2}^{-1}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{N}\times(\overline{\mathbf{R}}\setminus\mathbf{R})}, \mathsf{R}j_{\mathbf{N}*}\mathsf{G}\right) \\ &\simeq 0, \end{aligned}$$

where (*) is due to Proposition 3.3.19, since $\overline{p}_2 \tilde{p}$ is topologically submersive.

(ii) Let us now prove (4.9.5) in the general case. We shall show that

$$\Psi_{\mathrm{M,N}}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{G})_{(x_0,y_0,z_0)}\simeq 0$$

for any $(x_0, y_0, z_0) \in \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{S}$ such that

$$(x_0, y_0, z_0) \in \tilde{\mu}^{-1}(\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{R}) \cap p^{-1}(\mathbf{X} \times (\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \mathbf{R})^2).$$

For any $k \in \mathbf{Z}$, one has

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}\Psi_{\mathrm{M},\mathrm{N}}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{G})_{(x_{0},y_{0},z_{0})} \simeq \lim_{U,V} \mathrm{H}^{k}(\overline{\mathrm{U}} \times \mathrm{V};\Psi_{\mathrm{M},\mathrm{N}}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{G})),$$

where $U \subset M$ ranges over the family of relatively compact subanalytic open neighborhoods of $x_0 \in M$, and V ranges over the family of open neighborhoods of $(y_0, z_0) \in N \times S$.

Let $r: M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ be the projection, and set

$$\Phi_{\mathrm{U}}(\mathrm{F}) := \mathsf{R}r_*(\mathrm{F} \otimes \mathbf{k}_{\overline{\mathrm{U}} \times \mathbf{R}}) \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-c}}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}).$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{H}^{k}\big(\overline{\mathrm{U}}\times\mathrm{V};\Psi_{\mathrm{M},\mathrm{N}}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{G})\big) &\simeq \mathrm{H}^{k}\big(\overline{\mathrm{U}}\times\big(\mathrm{V}\cap\big(\mathrm{N}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}\big)\big);\,\mathrm{F}\boxtimes\mathrm{G}\big)\\ &\simeq \mathrm{H}^{k}\big(\mathrm{V}\cap\big(\mathrm{N}\times\mathbf{R}^{2}\big);\,\Phi_{\mathrm{U}}(\mathrm{F})\boxtimes\mathrm{G}\big)\\ &\simeq \mathrm{H}^{k}\big(\mathrm{V};\,\Psi_{\{\mathrm{pt}\},\mathrm{N}}\big(\Phi_{\mathrm{U}}(\mathrm{F}),\,\mathrm{G}\big)\big). \end{split}$$

Hence, taking the limit on U and V, we obtain

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}\Psi_{\mathrm{M},\mathrm{N}}(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{G})_{(x_{0},y_{0},z_{0})} \simeq \varinjlim_{\mathrm{U}} \mathrm{H}^{k}\Psi_{\{\mathrm{pt}\},\mathrm{N}}(\Phi_{\mathrm{U}}(\mathrm{F}),\mathrm{G})_{(y_{0},z_{0})}$$

which vanishes by (i).

As a consequence of Proposition 4.9.16 we get

Corollary **4.9.18.** — Let M be a subanalytic space and N a good topological space. For $F \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $L \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(I\mathbf{k}_{N \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, the morphism

 $\mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}(F\boxtimes L)\to \mathsf{R}\mu_*(F\boxtimes L)$

is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}})$.

Remark **4.9.19.** — The above result is not true in general if we drop the assumption that $F \in D^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. For example, if $M = N = \{pt\}$ and $F = L = K = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbf{k}_{\{n\}} \in Mod(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$, one has

 $\mathbf{R}\mu_{!!}(\mathbf{F}\boxtimes\mathbf{L})\simeq\mathbf{k}^{\oplus\mathbf{Z}}\otimes\mathbf{K},$ $\mathbf{R}\mu_{*}(\mathbf{F}\boxtimes\mathbf{L})\simeq\mathbf{k}^{\mathbf{Z}}\otimes\mathbf{K}.$

Proposition **4.9.20.** — Let M be a subanalytic space, N a good topological space. Let $p_1 : M \times N \to M$ and $p_2 : M \times N \to N$ be the natural projections. Then, for $F \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-\mathrm{c}}}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$ and $L \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_N)$ there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M \times N})$

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathsf{E}p_1^{-1}\mathrm{F},\mathsf{E}p_2^!\mathrm{L})\simeq a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F}\stackrel{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{L}.$$

Proof. — Set $G = R^{\mathsf{E}} L \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(I \mathbf{k}_{N \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Consider the morphisms

$$r_{1} \colon \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty},$$
$$r_{2} \colon \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \to \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty},$$
$$\mu \colon \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}^{2} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$$

induced by $(t_1, t_2) \mapsto t_1, (t_1, t_2) \mapsto t_2$ and $(t_1, t_2) \mapsto t_1 + t_2$, respectively. Then

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+}(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F},\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{L}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mu_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(r_{1}^{-1}a^{-1}\mathrm{F},r_{2}^{!}\mathrm{G}\right),$$
$$a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{L}\simeq \mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}\left(r_{1}^{-1}a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F}\otimes r_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{G}\right).$$

By Proposition 2.3.4,

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(r_1^{-1}a^{-1}\mathrm{F},r_2^{!}\mathrm{G}\right)\simeq r_1^{-1}a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F}\otimes r_2^{-1}\mathrm{G},$$

and Corollary 4.9.18 implies that

$$\mathsf{R}\mu_{!!}(r_1^{-1}a^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathcal{F}\otimes r_2^{-1}\mathcal{G})\to \mathsf{R}\mu_*(r_1^{-1}a^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathcal{F}\otimes r_2^{-1}\mathcal{G})$$

is an isomorphism in $E^{b}(I \mathbf{k}_{M \times N})$.

Proof of Proposition 4.9.15. — Let $p_1: M \times N \rightarrow M$ and $p_2: M \times N \rightarrow N$ be the natural projections. We have

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathbf{L}=\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathbf{K}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{L}.$$

Hence we have a sequence of morphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} p_1^{-1} \mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \left(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{L} \right) &\simeq \mathbf{E} p_1^{-1} \mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{E} p_1^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{E} p_2^{-1} \mathbf{L} \\ &\rightarrow \mathbf{E} p_1^{-1} \omega_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{E} p_2^{-1} \mathbf{L} \\ &= \mathbf{E} p_1^{-1} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi_{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \omega_{\mathbf{M}} \right) \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{E} p_2^{-1} \mathbf{L} \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \left(\pi_{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N}}^{-1} p_1^{-1} \omega_{\mathbf{M}} \otimes \mathbf{E} p_2^{-1} \mathbf{L} \right) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{E} p_2^{!} \mathbf{L}, \end{split}$$

where (*) follows from Lemma 4.3.1. Hence we obtain a morphism

$$D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} K \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} L \to \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E} \rho_{1}^{-1} K, \mathbf{k}_{M \times N}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} \rho_{2}^{!} L \Big).$$

We shall show that it is an isomorphism for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{M})$. We may assume $K \simeq \mathbf{k}^{\mathsf{E}}_{M} \overset{+}{\otimes} F$ for $F \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}c}(\mathbf{k}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$. Then

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{K}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{L} \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{L} \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{L} \Big) \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{L} \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \Big) \Big). \end{split}$$

Here, the last isomorphism follows from Proposition 4.7.14(ii). By Proposition 4.9.20, one has

$$\mathcal{I}hom^{+} \left(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{F}, \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \right) \right) \simeq \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{L} \right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{L}$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1} \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}}\mathrm{F} \right) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{L}.$$

By Proposition 4.8.3, one finally has

$$\mathsf{E}p_1^{-1} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} a^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathbf{R}} \mathrm{F} \Big) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_2^{-1} \mathrm{L} \simeq \mathsf{E}p_1^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{F} \Big) \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_2^{-1} \mathrm{L}$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{E}p_1^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_2^{-1} \mathrm{L}.$$

Proposition **4.9.21.** — Let M and N be subanalytic spaces. For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R} \cdot c}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $L \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R} \cdot c}(I\mathbf{k}_{N})$ we have

$$D_{M\times N}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(K \overset{+}{\boxtimes} L \Big) \simeq D_{M}^{\mathsf{E}} K \overset{+}{\boxtimes} D_{N}^{\mathsf{E}} L.$$

Proof. — Let p_1 and p_2 be the projections from $M \times N$ to M and N, respectively. Then we have

$$D_{M\times N}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{L} \Big) = \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{L}, \omega_{M\times N}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big)$$
$$\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{L}, \omega_{M\times N}^{\mathsf{E}} \big) \big)$$
$$\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathbf{K}, \mathbf{D}_{M\times N}^{\mathsf{E}} (\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{-1}\mathbf{L}) \big).$$

Since $D_{M\times N}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{E}p_2^{-1}L) \simeq \mathsf{E}p_2^! D_N^{\mathsf{E}}L$ by Proposition 4.9.14, one has

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathrm{K} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{L} \Big) &\simeq \mathcal{I} hom^{+} \big(\mathsf{E} p_{1}^{-1} \mathrm{K}, \, \mathsf{E} p_{2}^{!} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{L} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{L} \end{split}$$

by Proposition 4.9.15.

Proposition **4.9.22.** — For k = 1, 2 let $f_k \colon \mathbf{M}_k \to \mathbf{N}_k$ be a morphism of subanalytic spaces and $\mathbf{L}_k \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{N}_k})$. Set $f = f_1 \times f_2 \colon \mathbf{M}_1 \times \mathbf{M}_2 \to \mathbf{N}_1 \times \mathbf{N}_2$. Then we have

$$\mathsf{E}f^{-1}\left(\mathrm{L}_{1}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{L}_{2}\right) \simeq \mathsf{E}f_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{L}_{1}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathsf{E}f_{2}^{-1}\mathrm{L}_{2},$$
$$\mathsf{E}f^{!}\left(\mathrm{L}_{1}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{L}_{2}\right) \simeq \mathsf{E}f^{!}_{1}\mathrm{L}_{1}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathsf{E}f^{!}_{2}\mathrm{L}_{2}.$$

Proof. — The first isomorphism is immediate from Proposition 4.5.10. Let us show the second isomorphism. By the first isomorphism, we have

$$\mathsf{E} f^{-1} \Big(\mathbf{D}_{N_1}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_1 \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{D}_{N_2}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_2 \Big) \simeq \mathsf{E} f_1^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{N_1}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_1 \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathsf{E} f_2^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{N_2}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_2$$
$$\simeq \mathbf{D}_{M_1}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathsf{E} f_1^! \mathbf{L}_1 \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{D}_{M_2}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathsf{E} f_2^! \mathbf{L}_2,$$

where the last isomorphism follows from Proposition 4.9.14. Applying $D_{M_1 \times M_2}^{\mathsf{E}}$, and using Proposition 4.9.21, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{M}_{1}\times\mathbf{M}_{2}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathsf{E}f^{-1} \Big(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{N}_{1}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_{1} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{N}_{2}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_{2} \Big) \Big) &\simeq \mathsf{E}f^{!} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{N}_{1}\times\mathbf{N}_{2}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{N}_{1}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_{1} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{N}_{2}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathbf{L}_{2} \Big) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{E}f^{!} \Big(\mathbf{L}_{1} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{L}_{2} \Big) \end{split}$$

and

$$D_{M_1 \times M_2}^{\mathsf{E}} \left(D_{M_1}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathsf{E} f_1^! L_1 \overset{+}{\boxtimes} D_{M_2}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathsf{E} f_2^! L_2 \right) \simeq \mathsf{E} f_1^! L_1 \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathsf{E} f_2^! L_2.$$

Proposition 4.9.23. — For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$ and $K' \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_{M})$, one has

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} & \left(\mathrm{K}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}' \right) \simeq \mathsf{E} \delta^{!} \Big(\mathrm{D}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}' \Big), \\ \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} & \left(\mathrm{K}, \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}' \right) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} & \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathsf{E} \delta^{!} \Big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}' \Big) \Big) \\ & \simeq \delta^{-1} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} & \left(\mathbf{k}_{\Delta}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathrm{K} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}' \right), \end{split}$$

where $\delta \colon \Delta \to M \times M$ denotes the diagonal embedding.

145

Proof.

(i) Let $p_1, p_2: M \times M \to M$ be the projections. By Proposition 4.7.14(ii), one has

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathrm{K}' &\simeq \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} \delta^{!} \mathsf{E} \rho_{2}^{!} \mathrm{K}' \\ &\simeq \mathsf{E} \delta^{!} \Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M} \times \mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{E} \rho_{2}^{!} \mathrm{K}' \Big). \end{split}$$

Then one has

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\Big(\mathrm{K},\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathrm{K}'\Big) &\simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\Big(\mathsf{E}\delta^{-1}\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{K},\mathsf{E}\delta^{!}\Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{K}'\Big)\Big)\\ &\underset{(*)}{\simeq} \mathsf{E}\delta^{!}\mathcal{I}hom^{+}\Big(\mathsf{E}p_{1}^{-1}\mathrm{K},\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\overset{+}{\otimes}\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{!}\mathrm{K}'\Big)\\ &\underset{(**)}{\simeq} \mathsf{E}\delta^{!}\Big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{K}'\Big), \end{split}$$

where (*) follows from Proposition 4.5.10 and (**) from Proposition 4.9.15.

- (ii) The second isomorphism follows from (i) and Lemma 4.5.15.
- (iii) The third isomorphism follows by applying δ^{-1} to

$$\mathsf{R}\delta_*\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\Big(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}},\mathsf{E}\delta^!\Big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{K}'\Big)\Big)\simeq\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\Big(\mathsf{E}\delta_{!!}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}},\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathrm{K}'\Big).\qquad \Box$$

4.10. *Ring action.* — Let S be a good topological space, and \mathcal{A} a sheaf of **k**-algebras on S. Recall from [13] that the category of \mathcal{A} -modules in the category of ind-sheaves is defined by[†]

$$I(\mathcal{A}) = \left\{ (F, \varphi) ; \begin{array}{l} F \in I(\mathbf{k}_{S}), \\ \varphi \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}nd(F) \text{ is a } \mathbf{k}\text{-algebras homomorphism} \end{array} \right\}.$$

Here, $\mathcal{E}nd(F)$ is the sheaf of **k**-algebras given by $U \mapsto End_{I(\mathbf{k}_U)}(F|_U)$.

Definition **4.10.1.** — Let $f: (M, \check{M}) \to S$ be a morphism of bordered spaces, and \mathcal{A} a sheaf of **k**-algebras on S. Recall that f is decomposed as $(M, \check{M}) \xleftarrow{} (\Gamma_f, \overline{\Gamma}_f) \to S$. We set

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) = \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}(p_{2}^{-1}\mathcal{A}))/\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}((p_{2}^{-1}\mathcal{A})_{\overline{\Gamma}_{f}\setminus\Gamma_{f}})),$$

where $p_2 \colon \overline{\Gamma}_f \to S$ is the projection.

Remark **4.10.2.** — If *f* is induced by a map $\check{f} : \check{M} \to S$, then one has an equivalence

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \simeq \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\check{f}^{-1}\,\mathcal{A})/\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,(\check{f}^{-1}\,\mathcal{A})_{\check{\mathrm{M}}\setminus\mathrm{M}})).$$

[†] The category $I(\mathcal{A})$ is denoted by $I(\mathcal{\beta}\mathcal{A})$ in [13].

Let us set

$$\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})} = p_2^{-1} \mathcal{A},$$

where $p_2: \overline{\Gamma}_f \to S$. It is a sheaf of **k**-algebras on $\overline{\Gamma}_f$. One can define the functors[‡]

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}),\\ &\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{A}} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}\big(\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}^{\mathrm{op}}\big) \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}),\\ &\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}_{\mathcal{A}} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{A}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{k}_{(\mathrm{M},\check{\mathrm{M}})}). \end{split}$$

Lemma 4.10.3. — Let $F \in D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{(M,\check{M})}) \simeq D^{b}(\mathbf{k}_{M}), \ \mathcal{M} \in D^{b}(\mathcal{A}_{(M,\check{M})}), \ \mathcal{N} \in D^{b}(\mathcal{A}_{(M,\check{M})})$ and $\mathcal{K} \in D^{b}(I\mathcal{A}_{(M,\check{M})})$. Then there are isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{N}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{K}\right) &\simeq \mathcal{N}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{K}\right),\\ \mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathsf{RHom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{K})\right) &\simeq \mathsf{RHom}_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathcal{M},\mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{K}\right)\right)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{RHom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathrm{F}\otimes\mathcal{M},\mathcal{K}). \end{split}$$

Recall that $\pi : M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to M$ denotes the projection.

Definition **4.10.4.** — For \mathcal{A} a sheaf of **k**-algebras on M, we set

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{A}) = \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}})/\{\mathrm{K}; \ \pi^{-1}\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathrm{K} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{K}\}.$$

We have a forgetful functor

$$\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathcal{A}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{M}}).$$

Remark **4.10.5.** — The results on $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathbf{k}_M)$ can be extended to this context with $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I\mathcal{A})$.

5. Review of tempered functions

We recall here some constructions of [12, 13]. In particular, we recall the ind-sheaf \mathcal{O}_X^t of tempered holomorphic functions on a complex analytic manifold X, which plays a fundamental role in this paper. We end this section by adapting the notion of bordered space to the framework of analytic spaces.

[‡] For $M = \check{M} = S$, the functors $\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathsf{L}}$ and $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{A}}$ are denoted by $\beta(*) \otimes_{\beta \mathcal{A}}^{\mathsf{L}} *$ and $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom_{\beta \mathcal{A}}(\beta(*), *)$, respectively, in [13].

5.1. *Real setting.* — Let M be a real analytic manifold and let $U \subset M$ be an open subset.

One says that a function $\varphi \colon U \to \mathbf{C}$ has polynomial growth at $x_o \in M \setminus U$ if there exist a sufficiently small compact neighborhood K of x_o and constants C > 0, $r \in \mathbf{Z}_{>0}$ such that

(5.1.1)
$$|\varphi(x)| \leq C \operatorname{dist}(K \setminus U, x)^{-r}$$
 for any $x \in K \cap U$.

(Here "dist" denotes the Euclidean distance with respect to a local coordinate system.)

One says that a smooth function $\varphi \in C^{\infty}_{M}(U)$ is tempered at $x_0 \in M \setminus U$ if all of its derivatives have polynomial growth at x_0 .

Denote by $\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}$ the sheaf of Schwartz's distributions on M.

Definition **5.1.1** ([13, Definition 7.2.5]).

- (i) For a subanalytic open subset U ⊂ M, we define C^{∞,t}_M(U) as the set of C[∞]-functions defined on U which are tempered at every point of M \ U. Then C^{∞,t}_M is a subanalytic sheaf.
- (ii) For a subanalytic open subset $U \subset M$, we define the sheaf of **C**-algebras $\mathcal{C}_{U|M}^{\infty,temp} := \mathcal{H}om(\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathcal{C}_{M}^{\infty,t}).$
- (iii) The subanalytic sheaf of tempered distributions on M is defined by

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathrm{V}) := \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathrm{M}) / \Gamma_{\mathrm{M}\setminus\mathrm{V}}(\mathrm{M};\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}})$$
$$\simeq \mathrm{Im}\big(\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathrm{M}) \to \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}(\mathrm{V})\big)$$

for any subanalytic open subset $V \subset M$. We still denote by $\mathcal{D}b_M^t$ the corresponding subanalytic ind-sheaf.

There is a morphism $\mathcal{D}b_{M}^{t} \to \mathcal{D}b_{M}$ of ind-sheaves. For any open subset $V \subset M$ we have

$$\mathcal{C}_{U|M}^{\infty,\text{temp}}(V) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_{M}^{\infty}(V \cap U); \ \varphi \text{ is tempered at any point of } V \setminus U \right\}.$$

One has the following lemma.

Lemma **5.1.2.** — *For any* **R***-constructible sheaf* **F**,

 $\mathrm{H}^{k}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)=0$ for any $k\neq0$.

Proof. — For any **R**-constructible sheaf G and any $k \neq 0$, one has

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}\mathsf{R}\mathrm{Hom}\left(\mathrm{G},\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{F},\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)\right)\simeq\mathrm{H}^{k}\mathsf{R}\mathrm{Hom}\left(\mathrm{G}\otimes\mathrm{F},\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)\simeq0,$$

where the last isomorphism follows from [13, Proposition 7.2.6(i)].

Proposition **5.1.3.** — Let $U \subset M$ be a subanalytic open subset. The product $C_M^{\infty} \otimes Db_M \rightarrow Db_M$ induces a \mathbf{C}_M -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{M}}^{\infty, \operatorname{temp}} \to \operatorname{\mathcal{E}nd}(\operatorname{\mathcal{I}hom}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \operatorname{\mathcal{D}b}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathrm{t}})).$$

In other words, \mathcal{I} hom $(\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathcal{D}b_{M}^{t}) \in I(\mathcal{C}_{U|M}^{\infty, temp})$.

Proof. — Let $V \subset M$ be a relatively compact subanalytic open subset. By [9, Lemma 3.3], the product induces a natural morphism

$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\infty,\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{U}\cap\mathbf{V})\otimes\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{U}\cap\mathbf{V})\to\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{U}\cap\mathbf{V}).$$

For a closed subset $Z \subset M$, denote by $\mathcal{I}_{M,Z}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{C}_{M}^{\infty}$ the subsheaf of functions which vanish on Z up to infinite order. Recall the Whitney functor of [12]

$$* \overset{\tilde{\otimes}}{\otimes} \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\mathrm{M}} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}\mathrm{c}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{M}}) o \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{M}}).$$

It is characterized by setting $\mathbf{C}_U \overset{\scriptscriptstyle{w}}{\otimes} \mathcal{C}_M^{\scriptscriptstyle{w}} := \mathcal{I}_{M,M\setminus U}^{\scriptscriptstyle{w}}$ for any subanalytic open subset $U \subset M$.

One says that a function $\varphi \in C_{\mathbf{M}}^{\infty}(\mathbf{U})$ is rapidly decreasing at $x_{\circ} \in \mathbf{M} \setminus \mathbf{U}$ if there exists a sufficiently small compact neighborhood K of x_{\circ} such that for any $r \in \mathbf{Z}_{>0}$ and $\alpha \in \mathbf{Z}_{>0}^{n}$ there is a constant $\mathbf{C} > 0$ with

$$\left|\partial_x^{\alpha}\varphi(x)\right| \leq \operatorname{C}\operatorname{dist}(\mathrm{K}\setminus\mathrm{U},x)^r \quad \text{for any } x\in\mathrm{K}\cap\mathrm{U}.$$

(Here "dist" and ∂^{α} are taken with respect to a local coordinate system.)

One says that $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{M}(U)$ is rapidly decreasing at the boundary of U if it is rapidly decreasing at each point of the boundary of U.

Lemma **5.1.4.** — A section of $C_{\mathrm{M}}^{\infty}(\mathrm{U})$ extends to a global section of $\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}} \overset{\sim}{\otimes} C_{\mathrm{M}}^{\infty}$ if and only if it is rapidly decreasing at the boundary of U.

5.2. Complex setting. — Let X be a complex analytic manifold. Denote by $X_{\mathbf{R}}$ the real analytic manifold underlying X. It is identified with the diagonal of $X \times \overline{X}$, where \overline{X} is the conjugate complex manifold of X. Recall that $(\overline{X})_{\mathbf{R}} = X_{\mathbf{R}}$ and that sections of $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}$ are the complex conjugates of sections of \mathcal{O}_{X} .

Recall that, by Dolbeault resolution, one has

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}} \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}}(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}).$$

Definition **5.2.1** ([13, Section 7.3]). — One sets

$$\mathcal{O}_{X}^{t} = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\overline{X}}}(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}, \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}^{t}) \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}_{X}),$$
$$\Omega_{X}^{t} = \Omega_{X} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{X}} \mathcal{O}_{X}^{t} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}_{X}^{op}).$$

The canonical morphism $\mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}^{t} \to \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}$ induces a canonical morphism $\mathcal{O}_{X}^{t} \to \mathcal{O}_{X}$ in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathcal{D}_{X})$. Note that $\mathcal{O}_{X}^{t} \in \mathsf{D}_{\mathrm{suban}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$. It is not concentrated in degree zero, in general.

Notation **5.2.2.** — The classical de Rham and solution functors are

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{X} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{X}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{X}), \qquad \mathcal{M} \mapsto \Omega_{X} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}, \\ \mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{X} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{X})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{X}), \qquad \mathcal{M} \mapsto \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{O}_{X}), \end{split}$$

and the tempered de Rham and solution functors are

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{t}} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}), & \mathcal{M} \mapsto \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}, \\ \mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{t}} &: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}), & \mathcal{M} \mapsto \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}\big(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{t}}\big). \end{aligned}$$

One has

$$\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}} \simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{X}} \mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}, \qquad \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{X}} \simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{X}} \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

Recall that, by [13, Lemma 7.4.11], for $\mathcal{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{rb}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$ one has

$$\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{t}(\mathcal{L}) \simeq \mathcal{S}ol_{X}(\mathcal{L}), \qquad \mathcal{DR}_{X}^{t}(\mathcal{L}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}_{X}(\mathcal{L})$$

For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{coh}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$, one has

$$\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{X}}\mathcal{M})[-d_{\mathbf{X}}].$$

Note that

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{X}}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{X}}) \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}].$$

Let us recall some functorial properties of the tempered de Rham and solution functors.

Theorem **5.2.3** ([13, Theorems 7.4.1, 7.4.6 and 7.4.12]). — Let $f : X \rightarrow Y$ be a complex analytic map.

(i) There is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}f^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})$

$$f^{!}\mathcal{O}_{Y}^{t}[d_{Y}] \simeq \mathcal{D}_{Y \leftarrow X} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{X}^{t}[d_{X}].$$

(ii) For any $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})$ there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})$

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathsf{D}f^*\mathcal{N})[d_{\mathsf{X}}] \simeq f^{!}\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{Y}}(\mathcal{N})[d_{\mathsf{Y}}].$$

(iii) Let $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, and assume that $\operatorname{supp} \mathcal{M}$ is proper over Y. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathbf{IC}_{Y})$

 $\mathcal{DR}^{t}_{Y}(\mathsf{Df}_{*}\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{R}f_{!!}\mathcal{DR}^{t}_{X}(\mathcal{M}).$

(iv) Let $\mathcal{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{rh}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{Y}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{L} \simeq \mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right).$$

In particular, for a closed hypersurface $Y \subset X$, one has

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}(*\mathrm{Y}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X\setminus Y}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right).$$

5.3. Back to the real setting.

Proposition **5.3.1** ([12, Theorem 5.10]). — Let X be a complexification of a real analytic manifold M, and denote by $i: M \rightarrow X$ the embedding. Then

 $i^{!}\mathcal{O}_{X}^{t}[d_{X}] \simeq \mathcal{D}b_{M}^{t} \otimes \operatorname{or}_{M}.$

Lemma **5.3.2.** — Let $f: M \rightarrow N$ be a morphism of real analytic manifolds. Then

$$f^{!}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{N}}^{\mathsf{t}}\simeq\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{N\leftarrow M}}\otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{M}}}^{\mathsf{L}}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}$$

where $\mathcal{D}_{N \leftarrow M} = \mathcal{D}_{Y \leftarrow X}|_M \otimes \operatorname{or}_M \otimes f^{-1} \operatorname{or}_N$ for a complexification $X \to Y$ of f.

Proof. — Consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & N \\ & & \downarrow & i_{M} & & \downarrow & i_{N} \\ & & & \tilde{f} & & & \\ X & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & Y. \end{array}$$

Then one has the isomorphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{N}\leftarrow\mathsf{M}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{M}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{t}} & \underset{(*)}{\simeq} i_{\mathsf{M}}^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{Y}\leftarrow\mathsf{X}} \otimes_{i_{\mathsf{M}}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} i_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{t}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes f^{-1} \operatorname{or}_{\mathsf{N}}[d_{\mathsf{M}}] \\ & \simeq i_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{t}} \left(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{Y}\leftarrow\mathsf{X}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) \otimes f^{-1} \operatorname{or}_{\mathsf{N}}[d_{\mathsf{M}}] \\ & \underset{(**)}{\simeq} i_{\mathsf{M}}^{\mathsf{t}} \tilde{f}^{\mathsf{!}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{Y}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes f^{-1} \operatorname{or}_{\mathsf{N}}[d_{\mathsf{N}}] \\ & \simeq f^{\mathsf{!}} i_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{!}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{Y}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes f^{-1} \operatorname{or}_{\mathsf{N}}[d_{\mathsf{N}}] \\ & \simeq f^{\mathsf{!}} i_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{!}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{Y}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes f^{-1} \operatorname{or}_{\mathsf{N}}[d_{\mathsf{N}}] \\ & \underset{(*)}{\simeq} f^{\mathsf{!}} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{N}}^{\mathsf{t}}, \end{split}$$

where (*)'s follow from Proposition 5.3.1, and (**) follows from Theorem 5.2.3(i). \Box

5.4. *Real analytic bordered spaces.*

Definition **5.4.1.** — The category of real analytic bordered spaces is the category whose objects are pairs (M, \check{M}) where \check{M} is a real analytic manifold and $M \subset \check{M}$ is an open subanalytic subset. Morphisms $f: (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ are real analytic maps $f: M \rightarrow N$ such that

- (i) Γ_f is a subanalytic subset of $\check{\mathbf{M}} \times \check{\mathbf{N}}$, and
- (ii) $\overline{\Gamma}_f \rightarrow \check{M}$ is proper.

Hence a morphism of real analytic bordered spaces is a morphism of bordered spaces.

Lemma **5.4.2.** — Let $f: (M, \check{M}) \rightarrow (N, \check{N})$ be a morphism of real analytic bordered spaces. Then f is an isomorphism if the following conditions are satisfied

(i) f: M → N is an isomorphism of real analytic manifolds,
(ii) Γ_f → Ň is proper.

Recall that j_{M} : $(M, \check{M}) \rightarrow \check{M}$ and j_{N} : $(N, \check{N}) \rightarrow \check{N}$ denote the natural morphisms.

Proposition **5.4.3.** — Let $f: (\mathbf{M}, \check{\mathbf{M}}) \to (\mathbf{N}, \check{\mathbf{N}})$ be an isomorphism of real analytic bordered spaces. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{IC}_{(\mathbf{M},\check{\mathbf{M}})})$

$$j_{\mathrm{M}}^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\check{\mathrm{M}}}^{\mathsf{t}}\simeq f^{-1}j_{\mathrm{N}}^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\check{\mathrm{M}}}^{\mathsf{t}}$$

Proof. — We shall regard $R_{j_M*j_M}^{j-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\check{M}}^t$ and $R_{j_M*}f^{-1}j_N^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\check{N}}^t$ as subanalytic sheaves on \check{M} . Hence it is enough to show that

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\check{\mathrm{M}}}^{\mathsf{t}}(f^{-1}(\mathrm{V})) \simeq \mathcal{D}b_{\check{\mathrm{N}}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathrm{V})$$

for any relatively compact subanalytic open subset V of \check{N} contained in N.

By [12, Theorem 6.1], the topological dual of the above isomorphism is given by

$$\Gamma\left(\check{\mathrm{M}};\mathbf{C}_{f^{-1}(\mathrm{V})}\overset{\mathrm{w}}{\otimes}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\check{\mathrm{M}}}\right)\simeq\Gamma\left(\check{\mathrm{N}};\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{V}}\overset{\mathrm{w}}{\otimes}\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\check{\mathrm{N}}}\right).$$

Hence, by Lemma 5.1.4, the proposition follows from Lemma 5.4.4 below.

Lemma **5.4.4.** — With the same notations as in the above proposition, let V be a relatively compact subanalytic open subset of \check{N} contained in N, and let $u \in C^{\infty}_{\check{N}}(V)$. Then u is rapidly decreasing at the boundary of V if and only if $f^*(u) \in C^{\infty}_{\check{M}}(f^{-1}(V))$ is rapidly decreasing at the boundary of $f^{-1}(V)$.

Proof. — Denote by $q_1: \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{M}$ and $q_2: \overline{\Gamma}_f \to \check{N}$ the projections. Note that, since f is an isomorphism of real analytic bordered spaces, one has

$$\Gamma_f = \overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{M}}} \mathbf{M} = \overline{\Gamma}_f \times_{\check{\mathbf{N}}} \mathbf{N}.$$

Assume that *u* is rapidly decreasing at the boundary of V. For $x_o \in \partial(f^{-1}(V))$ let us choose a sufficiently small open neighborhood W of x_0 and local coordinates (x_1, \ldots, x_n) . Since $q_1^{-1}(x_o)$ is compact, shrinking W if necessary, there exist finitely many relatively compact subanalytic open subsets $\{V_i\}$ and $\{V'_i\}$ of \check{N} such that

 $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(a)} & \overline{\mathbf{V}'_i} \subset \mathbf{V}_i, \\ \text{(b)} & q_1^{-1}(\mathbf{W}) \subset \bigcup_i (\mathbf{W} \times \mathbf{V}'_i), \end{array}$

(c) there exist local coordinates (y_1^i, \ldots, y_n^i) on V_i .

Then $f(f^{-1}(\mathbf{V}) \cap \mathbf{W}) \subset \bigcup_i \mathbf{V}'_i$.

It follows that the derivatives $\partial_x^{\alpha} f^*(u)$ are linear combinations of derivatives $\partial_{y^i}^{\beta} u$ with coefficients given by products of terms of the form $\partial_x^{\gamma} y_k^i$. Since $\partial_{y^i}^{\beta} u$ are rapidly decreasing and $\partial_x^{\gamma} y_k^i$ have polynomial growth, it follows that $f^*(u)|_{f^{-1}(V \cap V_i)}$ is rapidly decreasing at x_0 for any *i*. Hence $f^*(u) \in C^{\infty}_{\tilde{M}}(f^{-1}V)$ is rapidly decreasing at x_0 . \Box

6. Exponential \mathcal{D} -modules

Let X be a complex analytic manifold. According to the results of Mochizuki [19, 20] and Kedlaya [16, 17] (see Section 7.3 below), a fundamental model for irregular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -modules is the exponential \mathcal{D}_X -module associated with a meromorphic connection $d + d\varphi$ for a meromorphic function $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$ with poles on a hypersurface Y. In this section we describe the tempered de Rham complex of such exponential \mathcal{D}_X -modules.

6.1. *Exponential* \mathcal{D} *-modules.* — Let X be a complex analytic manifold.

Definition **6.1.1.** — Let $Y \subset X$ be a complex analytic hypersurface. Set $U = X \setminus Y$. For $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$, set

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}} e^{\varphi} &= \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}} / \big\{ \mathbf{P}; \ \mathbf{P} e^{\varphi} = 0 \ on \ \mathbf{U} \big\}, \\ \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{U} | \mathbf{X}}^{\varphi} &= \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}} e^{\varphi} (* \mathbf{Y}). \end{aligned}$$

Hence $\mathcal{D}_{X}e^{\varphi} \subset \mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi}$. Note that $\mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi}$ is a holonomic \mathcal{D}_{X} -module which satisfies

$$\mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi} \simeq \mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi} (*Y), \quad \text{sing. supp} \left(\mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi} \right) = Y.$$

Note that the map $\mathcal{O}_X(*Y) \xrightarrow{\cdot_{\ell^{\varphi}}} \mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{U|X}$ induces an isomorphism as \mathcal{O}_X -modules.

Lemma 6.1.2. — For $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$ one has

$$(\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{X}}\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi})(*\mathrm{Y}) \simeq \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi}.$$

Proof. — The morphism $\mathcal{D}_X e^{-\varphi}(*Y) \otimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{D}_X e^{\varphi}(*Y) \to \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$ induces a morphism $\mathbf{D}_X \mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi} \to \mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{-\varphi}$. Since it is an isomorphism outside of Y, the statement follows. \Box

Remark **6.1.3.** — The isomorphism $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{X}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{U}|\mathbf{X}}^{\varphi} \simeq \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{U}|\mathbf{X}}^{-\varphi}$ does not hold in general. For example, let $\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{C}^2 \ni (u, v)$, $\mathbf{Y} = \{v = 0\}$ and $\varphi(u, v) = u^2/v^2$. Then $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{U}|\mathbf{X}}^{\varphi} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}} v^{-2} e^{\varphi}$ and there is an epimorphism

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{B}_{\{(0,0)\}} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}/(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}u + \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}v).$$

Hence $\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U|X}}^{\varphi}$ contains $\mathcal{B}_{\{(0,0)\}}$ as a submodule.

6.2. Tempered de Rham. — Our aim in this subsection is to describe the tempered de Rham complex of an exponential \mathcal{D} -module.

Let X, Y, U and φ be as in Definition 6.1.1. For $c \in \mathbf{R}$, set for short

$$\{\operatorname{Re}\varphi < c\} = \{x \in \mathbf{U}; \operatorname{Re}\varphi(x) < c\} \subset \mathbf{X}.$$

Notation 6.2.1. — We set

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}\varphi<\ast\}} &:= \underset{c \to +\infty}{\overset{\longrightarrow}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}\varphi<\epsilon\}} \in \mathrm{I}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}\right), \\ \mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi} &:= \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}\varphi<\ast\}}\right) \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}). \end{split}$$

For example, denoting by $z \in \mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$ the affine coordinate of the complex projective line, one has

(6.2.1)
$$H^{j}E_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{z} \simeq \begin{cases} \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re} z < *\}} & \text{for } j = 0, \\ \mathbf{C}_{\{\infty\}} & \text{for } j = 1, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Proposition 6.2.2. — Let $Y \subset X$ be a closed complex analytic hypersurface, and set $U = X \setminus Y$. For $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$, there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_X)$

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{E}^{-\varphi}_{\mathsf{U}|\mathsf{X}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}^{\varphi}_{\mathsf{U}|\mathsf{X}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}].$$

The fundamental case where X = C and $\varphi(z) = 1/z$ was considered in [14, Proposition 7.3].

In order to prove the above proposition, we need some preliminary results.

Lemma 6.2.3. — With the above notations, one has

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathrm{t}}_{\mathrm{X}}ig(\mathcal{E}^{-arphi}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}ig) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}$$
hom $ig(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}},\mathcal{DR}^{\mathrm{t}}_{\mathrm{X}}ig(\mathcal{E}^{-arphi}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}ig)ig)$

Proof. — One has

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi} &\simeq \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi} \otimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}(*\mathrm{Y}) \right) \\ &\simeq \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}(*\mathrm{Y}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi} \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi} \right). \end{split}$$

The last isomorphism follows from Theorem 5.2.3(iv).

Let M be a real analytic manifold, and $i: M \to X$ a complexification of M. For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_X)$, let us set

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathrm{t}}(\mathcal{M}) &= \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathrm{t},\vee} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathrm{L}} \mathcal{M} \\ &\simeq i^{!} \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{t}}(\mathcal{M})[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{M}}), \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathrm{t},\vee} = \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathrm{t}} \otimes \operatorname{or}_{\mathrm{M}} \otimes_{i^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}} i^{-1}\Omega_{\mathrm{X}} \simeq i^{!} \Omega_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathrm{t}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}]$ is the subanalytic ind-sheaf of tempered distribution densities.

Note that, considering the complexification $X_{\mathbf{R}} \subset X \times \overline{X}$, one has

(6.2.2)
$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X}_{\mathsf{R}}}\big(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathsf{X}}}\big)[-d_{\mathsf{X}}].$$

Let P be the real projective line and denote by *x* the coordinate on $\mathbf{R} = \mathsf{P} \setminus \{\infty\}$. Note that the object of $\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I} \, \mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{P}})$

$$\mathsf{RIhom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}},\mathbf{C}_{\{x<*\}}\right)\simeq\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}},\mathbf{C}_{\{x<*\}}\right)$$
$$\simeq\underset{\substack{c\to+\infty}{\leftarrow}\to+\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\mathbf{C}}}\mathbf{C}_{\{x$$

is concentrated in degree zero.

Lemma **6.2.4.** — *Let* P *be the real projective line. Denote by x the coordinate on* $\mathbf{R} = P \setminus \{\infty\}$ and by *z* the coordinate on $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{P} \setminus \{\infty\}$. Then there is an isomorphism in $D^{b}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{P})$

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{P}}\left(\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathsf{C}|\mathbf{P}}\right) \simeq \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}},\mathbf{C}_{\{x<*\}}\right)[1].$$

Proof. — One has

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t},\vee} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z} \simeq \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t},\vee}\right) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z} \\ \simeq \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z}\right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) \\ \simeq \left(\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) \xrightarrow{\partial_{x}-1} \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)\right) =: \mathcal{S},$$

155

where the complex S is in degree -1 and 0. Here, the first isomorphism follows from the real analogue of Lemma 6.2.3, r is the functor in (2.5.1) and the last isomorphism follows from $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}/\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}(\partial_z + 1)$ and $(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z})^{\mathrm{r}} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}/(\partial_z - 1)\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}$.

Hence, we have to prove the isomorphisms of subanalytic sheaves

 $\mathrm{H}^{-1}\mathcal{S} \simeq \mathcal{I}hom(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{x < *\}}), \qquad \mathrm{H}^{0}\mathcal{S} \simeq 0.$

Let $U \subset P$ be an open subanalytic subset, so that $U \cap \mathbf{R}$ is a finite union of open intervals.

The first isomorphism follows from the fact that $e^x \in \mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}(U \cap \mathbf{R})$ if and only if $U \cap \mathbf{R} \subset \{x < c\}$ for some *c*.

To show that $H^0 \mathcal{S} \simeq 0$ it is enough to consider the commutative diagram

and notice that the vertical arrow, as well as the top horizontal arrow, is surjective. \Box

Lemma **6.2.5** (*Cf.* [14, Proposition 7.3]). — Let **P** be the complex projective line and denote by z the coordinate on $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{P} \setminus \{\infty\}$. There is an isomorphism in $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{P}})$

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}) \simeq \mathrm{E}^{z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}[1].$$

Proof. — Consider the real analytic bordered spaces ($\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}$) and ($\mathbf{R}^2, \mathbf{P}^2$). Then the morphism $f: (\mathbf{R}^2, \mathbf{P}^2) \rightarrow (\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}})$ given by $(x, y) \mapsto x + \sqrt{-1}y$ is an isomorphism of real analytic bordered spaces. Consider the morphisms

$$\mathsf{P}^2 \xleftarrow{k} (\mathbf{R}^2, \mathsf{P}^2) \xrightarrow{f} (\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}) \xrightarrow{j} \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}.$$

By Proposition 5.4.3,

$$f^{-1}j^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}}\simeq k^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

By (6.2.2) and Lemma 6.2.3,

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}) \simeq \mathsf{R}^{j}_{*} j^{-1} \big(\big(\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathbf{P}}} \big)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \overline{\mathbf{P}}}} \mathcal{D} b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}} \big) [-1].$$

Note that $j^{-1}((\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathbf{P}}})^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \overline{\mathbf{P}}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}})$ is represented by the complex

$$j^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}} \xrightarrow{(\partial_{z}-1, \partial_{\overline{z}})} (j^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}})^{2} \xrightarrow{(-\partial_{\overline{z}}, \partial_{z}-1)} j^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

Applying f^{-1} , we get the complex

$$k^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}^2}^{\mathsf{t}} \xrightarrow{(\partial_x - 1, \partial_y - \sqrt{-1})} \left(k^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}^2}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)^2 \xrightarrow{(-\partial_y + \sqrt{-1}, \partial_x - 1)} k^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathsf{P}^2}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

This last complex represents $k^{-1}((\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-u} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\sqrt{-1}v})^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}})$, where $(u, v) \in \mathbf{C}^{2}$ is a complexification of $(x, y) \in \mathbf{R}^{2}$.

We have thus proved

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}) \simeq \mathsf{R}_{j_*}^{\mathsf{t}} \mathsf{R}_{f_*} k^{-1} \big(\big(\mathcal{E}^{-u}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}^{-\sqrt{-1}v}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}} \big)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^2}} \mathcal{D}_{b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{P}^2}} \big) [-1].$$

By Proposition 5.1.3, the function $e^{-\sqrt{-1}y} \in C_{\mathbf{P}^2}^{\infty,\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{R}^2)$ induces an automorphism of $k^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}^2}^{\mathsf{t}}$. This automorphism interchanges the actions of ∂_y and of $\partial_y - \sqrt{-1}$. Hence, for a $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}$ -module \mathcal{M} , it induces an isomorphism

(6.2.3)
$$k^{-1} \left(\left(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\sqrt{-1}v} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D} b_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) \simeq k^{-1} \left(\left(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{P}} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D} b_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right).$$

We then have, denoting by p_1 the first projection $\mathsf{P}^2 \to \mathsf{P}$,

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z}) \simeq \mathsf{R}j_{*}\mathsf{R}f_{*}k^{-1}\left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-u}\boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{P}}\right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)[-1]$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}j_{*}\mathsf{R}f_{*}k^{-1}\left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-u}\right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^{\frac{j_{1}}{2}}\mathbf{P}^{2}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)[-1]$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}j_{*}\mathsf{R}f_{*}k^{-1}\left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-u}\right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} p_{1}^{!}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)[-1]$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}j_{*}\mathsf{R}f_{*}k^{-1}p_{1}^{-1}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-u}\right)$$

$$\approx \mathsf{R}j_{*}\mathsf{R}f_{*}k^{-1}p_{1}^{-1}\mathsf{C}_{\{x<*\}}[1]$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}j_{*}j^{-1}\mathsf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}_{z<*\}}}[1],$$

where (1) follows from Lemma 5.3.2 and (2) follows from Lemma 6.2.4.

Lemma 6.2.6. — Denote by (u, v) the coordinates of \mathbb{C}^2 . There is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbb{C}_{\mathbb{C}^2})$

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{C}^2}(\mathcal{E}^{-u/v}_{\{v\neq 0\}|\mathbf{C}^2}) \simeq \mathrm{E}^{u/v}_{\{v\neq 0\}|\mathbf{C}^2}[2].$$

Proof. — Recall that z denotes the coordinate on $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{P} \setminus \{\infty\}$. Denote by $\widetilde{\mathbf{C}}^2$ the blow-up of the origin in \mathbf{C}^2 . Recall that $\widetilde{\mathbf{C}}^2 \subset \mathbf{C}^2 \times \mathbf{P}$ is the surface of equation $uz_0 = vz_1$, where $(z_0 : z_1) \in \mathbf{P}$ are homogeneous coordinates with $z = z_1/z_0$. Consider the maps

$$\mathbf{C}^2 \xleftarrow{p} \widetilde{\mathbf{C}}^2 \xrightarrow{q} \mathbf{P}$$

induced by the projections from $\mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{P}$. Since $q^{-1}(\infty) \subset p^{-1}(\{v=0\})$, one has

(6.2.4)
$$p^{-1}(\{v \neq 0\}) \subset q^{-1}(\mathbf{C}),$$
$$\mathcal{E}_{\{v \neq 0\}|\mathbf{C}^2}^{-u/v} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{C}^2}(\{v = 0\}) \otimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathsf{D}p_*\mathsf{D}q^*\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z}.$$

It follows

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}}\left(\mathcal{E}^{-u/v}_{\{v\neq0\}|\mathbf{C}^{2}}\right) \simeq \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}}\left(\{v=0\}\right) \otimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathsf{D}p_{*}\mathsf{D}q^{*}\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}\right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}}\left(\mathsf{D}p_{*}\mathsf{D}q^{*}\mathcal{E}^{-z}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}\right)\right),$$

where the last isomorphism follows from Theorem 5.2.3(iv). Note that

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}}(\mathsf{D}p_{*}\mathsf{D}q^{*}\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z}) \simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}q^{!}\left(\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z})\right)[-1]$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}q^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{C}},\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{C}},q^{!}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)$$

$$\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{C}},q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)[2].$$

Here, the first isomorphism follows from Theorem 5.2.3(ii) and (iii), the second isomorphism follows from Lemma 6.2.5, and the last isomorphism follows from the fact that q is smooth with fiber **C**. Hence

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, \mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}}^{\mathsf{t}}\left(\mathsf{D}p_{*}\mathsf{D}q^{*}\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-z}\right)\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{C}}, q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)\right)[2] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}\otimes q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{C}}, q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)[2] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)[2] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}\otimes q^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}z<*\}}\right)[2] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(u/v)<*\}}\right)[2] \\ &\approx \mathsf{R}p_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(u/v)<*\}}\right)[2] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(p^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, p^{!}\mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(u/v)<*\}}\right)[2] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{v\neq0\}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(u/v)<*\}}\right)[2]. \end{split}$$

Here, (1) follows from (6.2.4), (2) follows from the equality

$$q^{-1}(\{\operatorname{Re} z < c\}) \cap p^{-1}(\{v \neq 0\}) = p^{-1}(\{\operatorname{Re}(u/v) < c\}) \quad \text{for } c \in \mathbf{R}$$

and (3) follows from the fact that p is an isomorphism over $\{v \neq 0\}$.

Proof of Proposition 6.2.2. — As in the previous lemma, denote by (u, v) the coordinates in \mathbb{C}^2 . Write $\varphi = a/b$ for $a, b \in \mathcal{O}_X$ such that $Y = b^{-1}(0)$, and consider the map

$$f = (a, b) \colon \mathbf{X} \to \mathbf{C}^2.$$

Since $f^{-1}(\{v = 0\}) = b^{-1}(0) = Y$, one has

- (6.2.5) $f^{-1}(\{v \neq 0\}) = \mathbf{U},$
- (6.2.6) $\mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{U|X} \simeq \mathsf{D} f^* \mathcal{E}^{u/v}_{\{v \neq 0\} | \mathbf{C}^2}.$

Note that

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \left(\mathsf{D} f^* \mathcal{E}_{\{\nu \neq 0\} | \mathbf{C}^2}^{-u/\nu} \right) \simeq f^! \left(\mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{C}^2}^{\mathsf{t}} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\{\nu \neq 0\} | \mathbf{C}^2}^{-u/\nu} \right) \right) [2 - d_{\mathbf{X}}]$$
$$\simeq f^! \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I} hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\{\nu \neq 0\}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(u/\nu) < \ast\}} \right) [4 - d_{\mathbf{X}}]$$

where the first isomorphism follows from Theorem 5.2.3(ii), and the second isomorphism follows from Lemma 6.2.6. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi} \big) &\simeq f^{!} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\{v \neq 0\}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{Re}(u/v) < *\}} \right) [4 - d_{\mathrm{X}}] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(f^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\{v \neq 0\}}, f^{!} \mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{Re}(u/v) < *\}} \right) [4 - d_{\mathrm{X}}] \\ &\underset{(1)}{\simeq} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, f^{!} \mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{Re}(u/v) < *\}} \right) [4 - d_{\mathrm{X}}] \\ &\underset{(2)}{\simeq} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, f^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{Re}(u/v) < *\}} \right) [d_{\mathrm{X}}] \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{Re}(v/v) < *\}} \right) [d_{\mathrm{X}}], \end{aligned}$$

where (1) follows from (6.2.5), and (2) follows from Proposition 2.2.4.

7. Normal form of holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules

On a complex curve, the classical results of Levelt-Turittin and of Hukuhara-Turittin describe the formal structure of a flat meromorphic connection and its asymptotic expansion on sectors. Analogous statements in higher dimension have recently been obtained by Mochizuki [19, 20] and Kedlaya [16, 17], after preliminary results and conjectures by Sabbah [23].

In this section we recall these statements in the language of \mathcal{D} -modules, and establish some lemmas that will be used later. In particular, Lemma 7.3.7 below will be a key ingredient in our proof of the irregular Riemann-Hilbert correspondence. **7.1.** *Real blow-up.* — Let X be a complex manifold and $D \subset X$ a smooth closed hypersurface. The total real blow-up

$$\varpi_{tot} \colon \widetilde{X}_D^{tot} \to X$$

of X along D is the real analytic map of real analytic manifolds locally defined as follows. We take coordinates $(z, w) \in \mathbf{C} \times \mathbf{C}^{n-1}$ on X such that $D = \{z = 0\}$. Then one has

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{\text{tot}} = \left\{ (t, \zeta, w) \in \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{C} \times \mathbf{C}^{n-1}; |\zeta| = 1 \right\}$$

and

$$\varpi_{\rm tot} \colon \widetilde{{\rm X}}_{\rm D}^{\rm tot} \to {\rm X}, \qquad (t,\zeta,w) \mapsto (t\zeta,w).$$

Note that $\overline{\omega}_{tot}$ is an unramified 2-sheeted covering over X \ D, so that we may write

$$\varpi_{tot}^{-1}(X \setminus D) = (X \setminus D) \times \{+, -\}.$$

Consider the subsets locally defined by

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{>0} &= \left\{ (t,\zeta,w) \in \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{\text{tot}}; \ t > 0 \right\} = (\mathbf{X} \setminus \mathbf{D}) \times \{+\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}} &= \left\{ (t,\zeta,w) \in \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{\text{tot}}; \ t \ge 0 \right\} = \overline{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{>0}}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{0} &= \left\{ (t,\zeta,w) \in \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{\text{tot}}; \ t = 0 \right\} = \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}} \setminus \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{>0}. \end{split}$$

We call the subanalytic space \widetilde{X}_D the *real blow-up* of X along D, and we denote by

$$\varpi: \widetilde{X}_D \to X$$

the map induced by ϖ_{tot} . Note that ϖ induces an isomorphism

$$\varpi: \widetilde{X}_D^{>0} \xrightarrow{\sim} X \setminus D,$$

and one has

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{D}}^{0} = \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{-1}(\mathbf{D}) = \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{X},$$

where $S_D X = (T_D X \setminus D) / \mathbf{R}_{>0}$ denotes the normal sphere bundle to D in X. Let now $D \subset X$ be a normal crossing divisor, and write (locally)

$$(7.1.1) D = D_1 \cup \cdots \cup D_r,$$

where $D_k \subset X$ are smooth hypersurfaces of X. The total real blow-up

$$\varpi_{\text{tot}} \colon \widetilde{X}_D^{\text{tot}} \to X$$

of X along D is defined by

$$\widetilde{X}_{D}^{tot} = \widetilde{X}_{D_{1}}^{tot} \times_{X} \cdots \times_{X} \widetilde{X}_{D_{r}}^{tot}$$

Note that ϖ_{tot} is an unramified 2^{*r*}-sheeted covering over $X \setminus D$, so that we may write

$$\varpi_{tot}^{-1}(X \setminus D) = (X \setminus D) \times \{+, -\}^r.$$

Set

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{X}_D^{>0} &= \widetilde{X}_{D_1}^{>0} \times_X \dots \times_X \widetilde{X}_{D_r}^{>0} = (X \setminus D) \times \big\{ (+, \dots, +) \big\}, \\ \widetilde{X}_D &= \overline{\widetilde{X}_D^{>0}}, \\ \widetilde{X}_D^0 &= \widetilde{X}_D \setminus \widetilde{X}_D^{>0}. \end{split}$$

We call the subanalytic space \widetilde{X}_{D} the *real blow-up* of X along D, and we denote by

$$\varpi : \widetilde{X}_D \to X$$

the proper map induced by $\overline{\omega}_{tot}$. Note that $\overline{\omega}$ induces an isomorphism

$$\varpi: \widetilde{X}_D^{>0} \xrightarrow{\sim} X \setminus D.$$

 $\textit{Remark 7.1.1.}_{\sim} \text{ The spaces } \widetilde{X}_D, \widetilde{X}_D^{>0} \text{ and } \widetilde{X}_D^0 \text{ are determined canonically. On the } \\$ contrary, the space \widetilde{X}_{D}^{tot} is not canonical. For example, writing $D = D_2 \cup \cdots \cup D_r$ near a point $x \in D \setminus D_1$, ϖ_{tot} becomes a 2^{r-1} -sheeted covering over $X \setminus D$.

7.2. Sheaves of functions on the real blow-up. — Let X be a complex manifold and $D \subset X$ a normal crossing divisor. Set for short $\widetilde{X} = \widetilde{X}_D$.

Notation **7.2.1***.*

(i) Set $\mathcal{C}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\infty, \text{temp}} = i^{-1} \mathcal{C}_{\widetilde{X}^{>0} | \widetilde{X}^{\text{tot}}}^{\infty, \text{temp}}$, where $i: \widetilde{X} \to \widetilde{X}^{\text{tot}}$ is the closed embedding. In other words, $\mathcal{C}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\infty, \text{temp}}$ is the sheaf of **C**-algebras on \widetilde{X} defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\operatorname{open}} \mathbf{V} \mapsto \big\{ u \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\operatorname{tot}}} \big(\mathbf{V} \cap \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{>0} \big); \ u \text{ is tempered at any point of } \mathbf{V} \cap \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{0} \big\}.$$

(ii) Let $\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}}$ be the sheaf of rings on \widetilde{X} defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\operatorname{open}} \mathbf{V} \mapsto \big\{ u \in \mathcal{C}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}}^{\infty, \operatorname{temp}}(\mathbf{V}) \, ; \, u \text{ is holomorphic on } \mathbf{V} \cap \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{>0} \big\}.$$

- (iii) Set $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{X}} \varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}$. (iv) Denote by $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{C}^{\infty,temp}}$ the ring of differential operators with $C_{\widetilde{X}}^{\infty,temp}$ coefficients.

Lemma **7.2.2***.* — *One has*

$$\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}} \simeq \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{X}(*D) \otimes_{\varpi^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{X}} \mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}}.$$

Remark **7.2.3.** — By Lemma 7.2.2, there is an action of $\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_X$ on $\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}}$. Hence $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ has a natural algebra structure. Note also that there are natural **C**-algebra morphisms

$$\begin{split} & \overline{\sigma}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X} \to \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}, \\ & \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\mathbf{C}} \overline{\sigma}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\overline{X}} \to \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{C}^{\infty, temp}} \end{split}$$

Notation 7.2.4. — Consider the ind-sheaf on \widetilde{X}

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} := i^{-1}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}^{>0}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}^{\mathrm{tot}}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right),$$

where $i \colon \widetilde{\mathbf{X}} \to \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathrm{tot}}$ is the closed embedding.

Note that one has

$$i^{-1}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{>0}},\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathrm{tot}}}^{\mathsf{t}}
ight)\simeq\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{>0}},i^{!}\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathrm{tot}}}^{\mathsf{t}}
ight),$$

where $\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}^{>0}}$ on the left hand side denotes a sheaf on \widetilde{X}^{tot} and on the right hand side a sheaf on \widetilde{X} .

Lemma **7.2.5.** — The ind-sheaf $\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{t}$ has a structure of $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{C}^{\infty, temp}}$ -module. In particular, it has a structure of $(\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\mathbf{C}} \overline{\sigma}^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{\overline{X}})$ -module.

This immediately follows from Proposition 5.1.3.

Notation 7.2.6. — We set

$$\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{t} = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}}(\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}},\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{t}) \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}),$$

the Dolbeault complex with coefficients in $\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{t}$.

Theorem 7.2.7. — There is an isomorphism in $D^{b}(I \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{X})$

for
$$(\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}) \simeq \overline{\varpi}^{\mathsf{t}} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I} hom (\mathbf{C}_{X \setminus D}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{t}}),$$

where for: $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\mathcal{D}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\widetilde{X}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X})$ is the forgetful functor.

Proof. — It is enough to prove the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \simeq \overline{\sigma}^{!} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \mathcal{D}b_{X}^{\mathsf{t}}\right).$$

Consider a complexification of morphisms of real analytic manifolds



Then $\mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}}$ is a module over

$$\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{tot}}(*\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{0}) := \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{tot}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{tot}}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{tot}}(*\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{0}).$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \varpi^{!} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \mathcal{D}b_{X}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}^{>0}}, \,\varpi^{!}\mathcal{D}b_{X}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}^{>0}}, \,\mathcal{D}_{X_{\mathbf{C}}\leftarrow\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{D}_{X_{\mathbf{C}}\leftarrow\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}^{>0}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{D}_{X_{\mathbf{C}}\leftarrow\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \\ &\simeq \mathcal{D}_{X_{\mathbf{C}}\leftarrow\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \\ &\simeq \mathcal{D}_{X_{\mathbf{C}}\leftarrow\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}(\ast\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{0}) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}}(\ast\widetilde{X}_{\mathbf{C}}^{0}) \mathcal{D}b_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}, \end{split}$$

where the second isomorphism follows from Lemma 5.3.2. To conclude, note that

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{C}}\leftarrow\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\text{tot}}}\otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\text{tot}}}}^{\mathsf{L}}\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\text{tot}}}(\ast\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{0})\simeq\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{\text{tot}}}(\ast\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{C}}^{0}).$$

Remark **7.2.8.** — The importance of Theorem 7.2.7 is in showing that $\varpi^{!}\mathsf{RIhom}(\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{t})$ has a structure of $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ -module.

Corollary 7.2.9. — There is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$ $\mathsf{R}\varpi_*\mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}} \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\setminus\mathrm{D}},\mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathrm{X}}\right).$

Proof. — By the above theorem, we have

$$egin{split} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{ ext{t}} &\simeq arpi^{ ext{!}} \, \mathsf{RI}\textit{hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{X \setminus D}, \, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{ ext{t}}
ight) \ &\simeq \mathsf{RI}\textit{hom}\left(arpi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{X \setminus D}, \, arpi^{ ext{!}} \, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{ ext{t}}
ight) \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\varpi_*\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathfrak{t}} &\simeq \mathsf{R}\varpi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\varpi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \varpi^{\,!}\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathfrak{t}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathsf{R}\varpi_{!!}\varpi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathfrak{t}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathfrak{t}}\right). \end{split}$$

Proposition 7.2.10. — One has

$$\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}} \simeq \alpha_{\widetilde{X}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

Proof. — By the definition of $\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}}$, using [12, Theorem 10.5] one has

$$\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}} \simeq \mathrm{H}^{0} \alpha_{\widetilde{X}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

Let U be a relatively compact subanalytic open subset of \widetilde{X}^{tot} and set $V = \varpi (U \cap \widetilde{X}^{>0})$. Then we have

$$\mathsf{R}\Gamma(\mathrm{U}; lpha_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{t}}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathrm{Hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}\cap\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}^{>0}}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{t}}
ight)$$

 $\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathrm{Hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{V}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}
ight),$

where the last isomorphism follows from Corollary 7.2.9. Hence the vanishing of the higher cohomology groups of the complex $\alpha_{\widetilde{X}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{t}$ follows from the fact that, if V is a relatively compact subanalytic convex open subset of \mathbf{C}^{n} , then,

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}\mathsf{R}\mathrm{Hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{V}},\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{C}^{n}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)=0\quad\text{for }k\neq0.$$

This last fact follows e.g. from [4, Theorem 5.10].

7.3. *Normal forms.* — Let X be a complex manifold and $D \subset X$ a normal crossing divisor. Let (z_1, \ldots, z_n) be a system of local coordinates of X such that $D = \{z_1 \cdots z_r = 0\}$.

Notation **7.3.1.** — For
$$\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$$
, set

 $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{D}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\widetilde{X}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1}\mathcal{M}.$

Lemma 7.3.2. — If \mathcal{M} is a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module such that sing. supp $(\mathcal{M}) \subset D$ and $\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}(*D)$, then one has

(7.3.1)
$$\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{X}} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{M}.$$

Proof. — This follows from

$$\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{M} \simeq \left(\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{X} \right) \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{M}$$
$$\simeq \mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{M}$$

by noticing that \mathcal{M} is flat over \mathcal{O}_{X} .

It is well known that if \mathcal{M} is a regular holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module such that $\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{M}(*D)$ and sing. supp $(\mathcal{M}) \subset D$, then $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}$ is isomorphic to a finite direct sum of copies of $(\mathcal{O}_X)^{\mathcal{A}}$, locally on \widetilde{X}^0 . (Note that $z_k^{\lambda} (\log z_k)^m$ is a section of $\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}}$, locally on \widetilde{X}^0 , for $\lambda \in \mathbf{C}$, $k = 1, \ldots, r$ and $m \in \mathbf{Z}_{\geq 0}$.)

Definition **7.3.3.** — We say that a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{M} has a normal form along D

if

(i) M ≃ M(*D),
(ii) sing. supp(M) ⊂ D,
(iii) for any x ∈ X⁰, there exist an open neighborhood U ⊂ X of 𝔤(x) and finitely many φ_i ∈ Γ(U; O_X(*D)) such that

$$\left(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}
ight)|_{\mathrm{V}}\simeq\left(igoplus_{i}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}\setminus\mathrm{D}|\mathrm{U}}^{arphi_{i}}
ight)^{\mathcal{A}}
ight)\Big|_{\mathrm{V}}$$

for some neighborhood $V \subset \overline{\varpi}^{-1}(U)$ of x.

A ramification of X along D on a neighborhood U of $x \in D$ is a finite map

$$p: \mathbf{X}' \to \mathbf{U}$$

of the form $p(z) = (z_1^{m_1}, \ldots, z_r^{m_r}, z_{r+1}, \ldots, z_n)$ for some $(m_1, \ldots, m_r) \in (\mathbf{Z}_{>0})^r$. Here (z_1, \ldots, z_n) is a local coordinate system such that $\mathbf{D} = \{z_1 \cdots z_r = 0\}$.

Definition **7.3.4.** — We say that a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module \mathcal{M} has a quasi-normal form along D if it satisfies (i) and (ii) in Definition 7.3.3, and if for any $x \in D$ there exists a ramification $p: X' \to U$ on a neighborhood U of x such that $\mathsf{D}p^*(\mathcal{M}|_U)$ has a normal form along $p^{-1}(D \cap U)$.

Remark **7.3.5.** — With the above notations, $Dp^*(\mathcal{M}|_U)$ and $Dp_*Dp^*(\mathcal{M}|_U)$ are concentrated in degree zero, and $\mathcal{M}|_U$ is a direct summand of $Dp_*Dp^*(\mathcal{M}|_U)$.

Theorem **7.3.6** (See [16–20, 23]). — Let X be a complex manifold, \mathcal{M} a holonomic \mathcal{D}_{X^-} module and $x \in X$. Then there exist an open neighborhood U of x, a closed analytic hypersurface $Y \subset U$, a complex manifold X' and a projective morphism $f : X' \to U$ such that

- (i) sing. supp $(\mathcal{M}) \cap U \subset Y$,
- (ii) $D := f^{-1}(Y)$ is a normal crossing divisor of X',
- (iii) f induces an isomorphism $X' \setminus D \to U \setminus Y$,
- (iv) $(Df^*\mathcal{M})(*D)$ has a quasi-normal form along D.

Remark that, under assumption (iii), $(Df^*\mathcal{M})(*D)$ is concentrated in degree zero. The above fundamental result provides the following tool to prove statements concerning holonomic objects.

Lemma 7.3.7. — Let $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ be a statement concerning a complex manifold X and a holonomic object $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_X)$. Consider the following conditions.

(a) Let $X = \bigcup_{i \in I} U_i$ be an open covering. Then $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true if and only if $P_{U_i}(\mathcal{M}|_{U_i})$ is true for any $i \in I$.

- (b) If $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true, then $P_X(\mathcal{M}[n])$ is true for any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.
- (c) Let $\mathcal{M}' \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}'' \xrightarrow{+1}$ be a distinguished triangle in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$. If $\mathsf{P}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{M}')$ and $\mathsf{P}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{M}')$ are true, then $\mathsf{P}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{M})$ is true.
- (d) Let \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}' be holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -modules. If $P_X(\mathcal{M} \oplus \mathcal{M}')$ is true, then $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true.
- (e) Let $f: X \to Y$ be a projective morphism and \mathcal{M} a good holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module. If $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true, then $P_Y(\mathsf{D}f_*\mathcal{M})$ is true.
- (f) If \mathcal{M} is a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module with a normal form along a normal crossing divisor of X, then $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true.

If conditions (a)–(f) are satisfied, then $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true for any complex manifold X and any $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_X)$.

Proof. — Let X be a complex manifold and $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$. Let us show that $P_{X}(\mathcal{M})$ is true.

(i) Let $a \leq b$ be integers such that $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}_{hol}^{[a,b]}(\mathcal{D}_X)$. Then one says that \mathcal{M} has amplitude $\leq b - a$. By applying (b) and (c) to the distinguished triangle

 $\tau^{\leq a}\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M} \to \tau^{>a}\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{+1}$

and arguing by induction on the amplitude of \mathcal{M} , we may assume that \mathcal{M} is concentrated in degree zero. In other words, we may assume that \mathcal{M} is a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module. Since the question is local on X by (a), we may further assume that \mathcal{M} is good.

(ii) Assume that \mathcal{M} is a good holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module with a quasi-normal form along a normal crossing divisor $D \subset X$.

Locally, there exists a ramification $p: X' \to X$ as in Definition 7.3.4, such that $Dp^*\mathcal{M}$ has a normal form. Then, $P_{X'}(Dp^*\mathcal{M})$ is true by (f). Hence $P_X(Dp_*Dp^*\mathcal{M})$ is true by (e). Since \mathcal{M} is a direct summand of $Dp_*Dp^*\mathcal{M}$, it follows from (d) that $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true.

- (iii) Let \mathcal{M} be a good holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module. We will argue by induction on dim X and by induction on the dimension of Y := supp \mathcal{M} .
- (iii-1) Assume first Y = X. Then, locally on X, there exist a closed hypersurface Z ⊂ X and a projective morphism f: X' → X such that D := f⁻¹Z is a normal crossing divisor of X', f induces an isomorphism X' \ D → X \ Z, and (Df*M)(*D) has a quasi-normal form. Hence P_{X'}(Df*M(*D)) is true by (ii). Since Df*M(*D) is good and M(*Z) ≃ Df*Df*M(*D), P_X(M(*Z)) is true by (e). Let us consider a distinguished triangle

 $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(*\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathcal{N} \xrightarrow{+1}$.

Then dim supp $\mathcal{N} < \dim Y$, and hence $P_X(\mathcal{N})$ is true by the induction hypothesis. Therefore $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true by (b) and (c).

(iii-2) Assume now that $Y \neq X$. Let Y_{sing} be its singular locus, and let $f: Y' \to X$ be a projective morphism such that Y' is a complex manifold, $f(Y') = Y, Z' := f^{-1}Y_{sing}$ is a closed hypersurface of Y', and f induces an isomorphism Y' $X' \xrightarrow{\sim} Y \setminus Y_{sing}$. Then $\mathcal{N} := \mathsf{D}f^*\mathcal{M}(*Z')[d_{Y'} - d_X]$ is a good holonomic $\mathcal{D}_{Y'}$ -module. Since dim Y' < dim X, $P_{Y'}(\mathcal{N})$ is true by the induction hypothesis on dim X. Hence $P_X(\mathsf{D}f_*\mathcal{N})$ is also true by (e). Consider a distinguished triangle

$$\mathcal{M} \to \mathrm{D}f_*\mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{+1}$$
.

Since supp $\mathcal{L} \subset Y_{sing}$, the induction hypothesis on dim Y implies that $P_X(\mathcal{L})$ is true. Hence $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is also true by (b) and (c).

8. Enhanced tempered functions

We define in this section the enhanced ind-sheaves of tempered distributions and of tempered holomorphic functions.

8.1. Enhanced tempered distributions. — Denote by P and P the real and complex projective line, respectively. Let $t \in \mathbf{R} \subset P$ and $\tau \in \mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$ be the affine coordinates, with $t = \tau|_{\mathbf{R}}$. Let M be a real analytic manifold, and consider the natural morphism of bordered spaces

$$j: \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{M} \times \mathsf{P}.$$

Definition 8.1.1. — Set

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}} = j^{!} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}} \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{\tau}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \big) [1] \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{M}\times\mathbf{R}_{\infty}}),$$

and denote by $\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{E}}$ the associated object of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})$.

Here the shift has been chosen so that Propositions 8.2.4 and 9.1.3 below hold. Note that, by an argument similar to that in the proof of Lemma 6.2.4, one has

$$\mathrm{H}^{k}(\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}) = 0 \quad \text{for } k \neq -1.$$

Remark **8.1.2.** — There are monomorphisms

$$\mathbf{C}_{{}^{\{t<*\}}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathcal{D} b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathrm{M}} \rightarrowtail \mathrm{H}^{-1} \big(\mathcal{D} b^{\mathsf{T}}_{\mathrm{M}} \big) \rightarrowtail \pi^{-1} \mathcal{D} b_{\mathrm{M}}.$$

The first one is induced by $v(x) \mapsto e^t v(x)$, and the second is induced by $u(x, t) \mapsto e^{-t}u(x, t)$. They are not isomorphisms (if dim $M \ge 1$). In fact, for $M = \mathbf{R}$ and U =

 $\{(x, t) \in \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}; x > 0, t < -1/x\}$, one has $e^t e^{1/x} \in \mathrm{Hom}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathrm{H}^{-1}(\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}))$ but $e^{1/x} \in \mathrm{Hom}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \pi^{-1}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}) \simeq \mathrm{Hom}(\mathbf{C}_{\{x>0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}})$ does not belong to

$$\operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{t<\ast\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathcal{D} b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \pi^{-1} \mathcal{D} b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{x>0\}}, \mathcal{D} b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right).$$

Proposition 8.1.3. — There are isomorphisms in $D^{b}(I \mathbf{C}_{M \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{C}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}} \big) \\ \xleftarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{C}_{\{t \geq a\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}} \big) \quad \text{for any } a \geq 0.$$

Proof.

(i) Let us prove the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{C}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}} \big).$$

Denote by $p: M \times P \to M$ the projection. Let $U \subset M \times P$ be an open subanalytic subset such that $U \cap (M \times \mathbf{R}) \cap p^{-1}(x)$ is connected for all $x \in M$. Note that $\mathbf{R}_{j_*}\mathcal{D}b_M^{\mathsf{T}}$ belongs to $\mathsf{D}_{\mathrm{suban}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{M\times P})$. By Lemma 2.4.4, it is then enough to show

$$\mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{t>0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}\right)\right) \simeq 0.$$

One has

$$\mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{t>0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}\right)\right) \simeq \mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t>0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}\right).$$

Set $V = p(U) \subset M$ and $U \cap (M \times \mathbf{R}) = \{(x, t) \in V \times \mathbf{R}; \varphi(x) < t < \psi(x)\},\$ where $\varphi, \psi: V \to \overline{\mathbf{R}}$ are subanalytic functions with $\varphi(x) < \psi(x)$ for all $x \in V$. Then

$$\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t>0\}} \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{W}}[-1],$$

where $W = \{(x, t) \in V \times \mathbf{R}; \varphi(x) < t\}$. Note that φ takes value in $\overline{\mathbf{R}} \setminus \{+\infty\}$. Hence we have to prove that the bottom arrow in the commutative diagram below is an isomorphism.

Since the top arrow is surjective and the vertical arrows are surjective, also the bottom arrow is surjective. By Lemma 8.1.4 below, the bottom arrow is injective.

(ii) In order to prove the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}^+ig(\mathbf{C}_{\{l\geq a\}},\mathcal{D}b^{\intercal}_{\mathrm{M}}ig) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}\mathit{hom}^+ig(\mathbf{C}_{\{l\geq 0\}},\mathcal{D}b^{\intercal}_{\mathrm{M}}ig),$$

it is enough to show that

$$\mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{C}_{\{t< a\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^+(\mathbf{C}_{\{t< 0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}).$$

Hence, as in (i), it is enough to show that

$$\mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{t< a\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}\right)\right) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathsf{RHom}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathcal{I}hom^{+}\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{t< 0\}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{M}}^{\mathsf{T}}\right)\right)$$

for any subanalytic open subset $U \subset M \times P$ such that

$$\mathbf{U} \cap (\mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{R}) = \{(x, t) \in \mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{R}; \ \varphi(x) < t < \psi(x)\},\$$

where V = p(U). One has $\mathbf{C}_U \otimes^+ \mathbf{C}_{\{t < a\}} \simeq \mathbf{C}_{W_a}[-1]$, where

$$\mathbf{W}_a = \left\{ (x, t) \in \mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{R} \, ; \, t - a < \psi(x) \right\}.$$

Hence we have to show that the following morphism is a quasi-isomorphism

$$(\operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{a}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \xrightarrow{\partial_{t}-1} \operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{a}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right)) \rightarrow \left(\operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{0}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \xrightarrow{\partial_{t}-1} \operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{0}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \right)$$

Since the arrows $\partial_t - 1$ are surjective, we have to show that the natural morphism

$$\ker \left(\operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{a}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \xrightarrow{\partial_{t}-1} \operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{a}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \right) \\ \to \ker \left(\operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{0}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \xrightarrow{\partial_{t}-1} \operatorname{Hom} \left(\mathbf{C}_{W_{0}}, \mathcal{D}b_{M\times P}^{t} \right) \right)$$

is an isomorphism. Indeed, its inverse is given by $u(x, t) \mapsto e^a u(x, t-a)$.

Lemma 8.1.4. — Let $u \in \Gamma(M; \mathcal{D}b_M)$ and assume that $u(x)e^t \in \Gamma(M \times \{t > 0\}; \mathcal{D}b_{M \times P})$ is tempered at $t = \infty$. Then u = 0.

Proof. — For any $v \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{M})$, set $c = \int v(x)u(x)dx$. Then the function $ce^t = \int v(x)u(x)e^t dx$ is tempered at $t = \infty$, and hence c = 0.

8.2. *Enhanced tempered holomorphic functions.* — Let X be a complex manifold. Consider the natural morphism of bordered spaces

$$i: \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}.$$

Let $\tau \in \mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$ be the affine coordinate such that $\tau|_{\mathbf{R}} = t$, the affine coordinate of **R**.

Definition 8.2.1. — Set

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} = i^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [1]$$

$$\simeq i^{!} \mathsf{R} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{\tau}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2] \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathrm{I} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}}),$$

$$\Omega_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} = \Omega_{\mathbf{X}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}$$

$$\simeq i^{!} \left(\Omega_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathsf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right) [1] \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathrm{I} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathrm{op}}).$$

Recall that $r: \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}^{\mathrm{op}})$ is the functor given by $\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{r}} = \Omega_{\mathbf{P}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}$.

Theorem **8.2.2.** — There is an isomorphism in
$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}})$$

 $\mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq i^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C} \mid \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [1],$

and there are isomorphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}_X)$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} (\mathbf{C}_{\{t \geq 0\}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}})$$

$$\stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{I}hom^{+} (\mathbf{C}_{\{t \geq a\}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}) \quad for any \ a \geq 0.$$

Proof. — This follows from Proposition 8.1.3, noticing that

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\pi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}}(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}},\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{E}}),$$

where $X_{\mathbf{R}}$ denotes the real analytic manifold underlying X.

As a consequence of Theorem 8.2.2 and Proposition 4.7.5, we get the following result.

Corollary 8.2.3. — There are isomorphisms in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})$

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathcal{I}hom^{+} \big(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big)$$
$$\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}.$$

Proposition **8.2.4.** — There is a canonical morphism

$$\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}} \to \mathcal{O}_{X \times Y}^{\mathsf{E}}.$$

In order to prove this proposition, we need a complex analytic analogue of the construction in Notation 4.3.8.

Notation 8.2.5. — Denote by **S**' the closure of $\{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbf{C}^3; x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = 0\}$ in $\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}$. Then **S**' has a quadratic singularity at (∞, ∞, ∞) . Denote by **S** the blowup of **S**' with center (∞, ∞, ∞) . Then **S** is a smooth projective surface. Consider the maps

$$\mathbf{P} \xleftarrow{\tilde{\mu}} \mathbf{S} \xrightarrow{\tilde{p}} \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}$$

induced by $(x_1, x_2, x_3) \mapsto -x_3$, and $(x_1, x_2, x_3) \mapsto (x_1, x_2)$, respectively. We denote by the same letters the induced maps

$$\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \stackrel{\tilde{\mu}}{\leftarrow} \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{S} \stackrel{\tilde{p}}{\rightarrow} \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}.$$

Remark **8.2.6.** — The algebraic surface **S** is also obtained as the blow-up of the complex projective plane $\mathbf{P}^2(\mathbf{C})$ with center at three points on a line.

Proof of Proposition 8.2.4. — Consider the diagrams of bordered spaces

and

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X \times Y \times \mathbf{S} & \xrightarrow{\tilde{\mu}} & X \times Y \times \mathbf{P} \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & X \times Y \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P} \xleftarrow{j} & X \times Y \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\mu} & X \times Y \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}. \end{array}$$

Recall that

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} = i_{\mathbf{X}}^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1}} \right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [1],$$
$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} = i_{\mathbf{Y}}^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{2}} \right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [1],$$

where τ_1 and τ_2 are coordinates on $\mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$.

There are morphisms

$$\begin{split} p_{1}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes p_{2}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \\ \to j^{!} \left(\overline{p}_{2}^{-1} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1}} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) \otimes \overline{p}_{2}^{-1} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{2}} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) \right) [2] \\ \to j^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1}} \boxtimes \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{2}} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}} \boxtimes \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \left(\overline{p}_{1}^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes \overline{p}_{2}^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) \right) [2] \\ \to j^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^{2}|\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1}-\tau_{2}} \right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2], \end{split}$$

where the first morphism follows from Lemma 3.3.20.

Since $j = \tilde{p} \circ j_{\mathbf{S}}$, we have

$$\begin{split} j^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^{2} | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \tilde{\rho}^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^{2} | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\tilde{\rho}^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^{2} | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\tilde{\rho}^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \tilde{\rho}^{!} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\tilde{\rho}^{-1} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^{2} | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\tilde{\rho}^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\tilde{\rho}} \right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\mathsf{D} \tilde{\rho}^{*} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^{2} | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_{1} - \tau_{2}} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{S}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2], \end{split}$$

where (*) follows from Theorem 5.2.3(i). We have a morphism

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{D}\tilde{p}^* \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^2 | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_1 - \tau_2} \big) &\to \mathsf{D}\tilde{p}^* \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}^2 | \mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau_1 - \tau_2} \big) \big(* \tilde{p}^{-1} \big(\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P} \setminus \mathbf{C}^2 \big) \big) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{D}\tilde{\mu}^* \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C} | \mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \big) \big(* \tilde{p}^{-1} \big(\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P} \setminus \mathbf{C}^2 \big) \big). \end{split}$$

Hence we obtain

$$p_{1}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes p_{2}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \to j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\mathsf{D}\tilde{\mu}^{*} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right) \left(*\tilde{p}^{-1} \left(\mathbf{P} \times \mathbf{P} \setminus \mathbf{C}^{2} \right) \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{S}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2]$$
$$\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{C}^{2}}, \mathsf{D}\tilde{\mu}^{*} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \times \mathbf{S}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [2].$$

Since $j_{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}(\mathbf{C}_{X \times Y \times \mathbf{C}^2}) \simeq \mathbf{C}_{X \times Y \times \mathbf{R}^2}$, one has

$$\begin{split} j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \mathbf{R} \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{C}^{2}}, \mathbf{D}\tilde{\mu}^{*}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau}\right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{S}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\mathbf{D}\tilde{\mu}^{*}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau}\right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{S}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\tilde{\mu}^{-1}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau}\right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}^{\tilde{\mu}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{S}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) [2] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \left(\tilde{\mu}^{-1}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau}\right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\tilde{\mu}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{T}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{S}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) [1] \\ &\simeq j_{\mathbf{S}}^{!} \tilde{\mu}^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau}\right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) [1] \\ &\simeq \mu^{!} i_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}}^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau}\right)^{\mathrm{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{Y}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right) [1], \end{split}$$

where (*) follows from Theorem 5.2.3(i). We thus get a morphism

$$p_1^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes p_2^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \to \mu^! \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}.$$

The desired morphism follows by adjunction.

9. Riemann-Hilbert correspondence

We have now all the ingredients to state and prove a Riemann-Hilbert correspondence for holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules which are not necessarily regular. It is an analogue of the classical Riemann-Hilbert correspondence for regular holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules, in the framework of enhanced ind-sheaves.

9.1. Enhanced de Rham and solution functors. — Recall that

 $i: \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{P}$

is the natural morphism of bordered spaces, $\tau \in \mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$ is the affine coordinate and $t = \tau|_{\mathbf{R}}$.

Definition **9.1.1.** — For
$$\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})$$
, set
 $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M}) = \Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}} \otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}}} \mathcal{M}$
 $\simeq i^{!} \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbf{P}} (\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}^{-\tau}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}})[1],$
 $\mathcal{S}ol^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M}) = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}})$
 $\simeq i^{!} \mathcal{S}ol^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathsf{X} \times \mathbf{P}} (\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}^{\tau}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}})[2].$

They induce the functors

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{X}) &\to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X}), \\ \mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{X})^{\mathrm{op}} &\to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X}). \end{split}$$

Note that one has

$$Sol_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{X}}\mathcal{M})[-d_{\mathbf{X}}].$$

From Theorem 5.2.3, one deduces

Theorem **9.1.2.** — Let $f: X \rightarrow Y$ be a complex analytic map.

(i) There is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}f^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})$

$$\mathsf{E} f^{!} \mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{Y}] \simeq \mathcal{D}_{Y} \leftarrow_{X} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{X}].$$

173

- (ii) For any $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})$ there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})$ $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathsf{D}f^{*}\mathcal{N})[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \simeq \mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{Y}}(\mathcal{N})[d_{\mathrm{Y}}].$
- (iii) Let $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, and assume that $\operatorname{supp} \mathcal{M}$ is proper over Y. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{C}_{Y})$

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{D}f_{*}\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{E}f_{!!}\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}).$$

(iv) Let $\mathcal{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{rh}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$ and $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$. Then $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{L} \otimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{M})\right),$

where $Sol_X(\mathcal{L}) = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_X}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{O}_X)$. In particular, for a closed hypersurface $Y \subset X$, one has

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}(*\mathrm{Y})) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\setminus\mathrm{Y}}, \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})\right).$$

Proposition **9.1.3.** — For $\mathcal{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{\mathsf{rb}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})$ one has an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{M}})$

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{L}) \simeq e(\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{L})) := \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{L}).$$

In particular, one has

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}) \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

Proof.

(i) When $X = \{pt\}$, by Lemma 6.2.4 we have

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\{\mathrm{pt}\}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{C}) \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\{t<*\}}[1] \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{pt}\}}^{\mathsf{E}}$$

Hence, Theorem 9.1.2(ii) and Proposition 4.7.14(ii) imply

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}a_{\mathbf{X}}^{!}\mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{pt}\}}^{\mathsf{E}}[-d_{\mathbf{X}}] \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{\mathbf{X}}],$$

where $a_X \colon X \to \{pt\}$ is the canonical map.

(ii) By (i), setting $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{O}_X$ in Theorem 9.1.2(iv) one has

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{L}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}]\right).$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{L}),\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}]\right) &\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{L}),\mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}]\right) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \left(\pi^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathsf{X}}\left(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{L})[d_{\mathsf{X}}]\right) \otimes \mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathrm{D}_{\mathsf{X}}\left(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{L})[d_{\mathsf{X}}]\right) \\ &\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{L}), \end{split}$$

where the first isomorphism follows from Corollary 4.7.11.

9.2. *Real blow-up.* — Let $D \subset X$ be a normal crossing divisor, and denote by \widetilde{X} the real blow-up of X along D. Similarly, denote by $\widetilde{X \times P}$ the real blow-up of X × **P** along $D \times \mathbf{P}$. There is a natural identification $\widetilde{X \times P} = \widetilde{X} \times \mathbf{P}$. Hence, following the notations in Section 7.2, we have the sheaves of rings on $\widetilde{X} \times \mathbf{P}$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}} \subset \overline{\varpi}^{-1} \mathbf{R} \mathcal{H}om\left(\mathbf{C}_{(X\setminus D)\times\mathbf{P}}, \mathcal{O}_{X\times\mathbf{P}}\right),$$
$$\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}} \otimes_{\overline{\varpi}^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{X\times\mathbf{P}}} \overline{\varpi}^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{X\times\mathbf{P}},$$

and the complex

$$\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{t}\in\mathsf{D}^{b}\big(I\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathcal{A}}\big).$$

Consider the natural morphisms

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{X}} \xleftarrow{\pi_{\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}}} \widetilde{\mathbf{X}} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\imath}} \widetilde{\mathbf{X}} \times \mathbf{P}.$$

Definition 9.2.1. — Set

$$\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} = \tilde{\iota}^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{t} \right) [1]$$

$$\simeq \tilde{\iota}^{!} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}\mathbf{P}} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{\tau}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{t} \right) [2] \in \left(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \right),$$

$$\Omega_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} = \pi_{\widetilde{X}}^{-1} \varpi^{-1} \Omega_{X} \otimes_{\pi_{\widetilde{X}}^{-1} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}$$

$$\simeq \tilde{\iota}^{!} \left(\Omega_{\widetilde{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{t} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right) [1] \in \left(\mathrm{I} \left(\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \right)^{\mathrm{op}} \right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{L}) = \Omega_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{L} \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}}) \quad \text{for } \mathcal{L} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}\big(\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}\big).$$

Theorem 7.2.7 and Corollary 7.2.9 imply

Theorem 9.2.2. — There are an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\mathcal{D}^{\mathrm{op}}_{\mathrm{X}})$

$$\mathsf{E}\varpi_*\Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}} \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D}, \Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_X\right),$$

and an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}{}^{\mathrm{op}})$

$$\operatorname{for}(\Omega_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}\,\overline{\sigma}\,^{!}\mathsf{R}\,\mathcal{I}\operatorname{hom}\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D},\,\Omega_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}\right),$$

where for: $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I(\mathcal{D}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\widetilde{X}})^{\mathrm{op}}) \to \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(I \, \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{D}_{X}^{\mathrm{op}})$ is the forgetful functor.

Corollary **9.2.3.** — For
$$\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{\mathsf{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})$$
 such that $\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}(*\mathsf{D})$, we have
 $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi_* \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{\mathsf{X}}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}),$
 $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{\mathsf{X}}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi^{!} \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M}).$

Proof. — By the first isomorphism in Theorem 9.2.2, one has

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}\varpi_*\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}) &= \mathsf{E}\varpi_*\big(\Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\widetilde{X}}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}\big)\\ &\simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi_*\big(\Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{M}\big)\\ &\simeq \big(\mathsf{E}\varpi_*\Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}\big)\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}\mathcal{M}\\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{X\setminus D},\Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{X}\right)\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}\mathcal{M}\\ &\simeq \Omega^{\mathsf{E}}_{X}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}(*D)\otimes^{\mathsf{D}}\mathcal{M}\right)\\ &\simeq \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}^{\mathsf{E}}_{X}(\mathcal{M}). \end{split}$$

The proof of the second isomorphism in the statement is similar, using the second isomorphism in Theorem 9.2.2. \Box

9.3. Constructibility. — Let $Y \subset X$ be a complex analytic hypersurface and $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$. Set $U = X \setminus Y$. Let $\tau \in \mathbf{C} \subset \mathbf{P}$ be the affine coordinate such that $\tau|_{\mathbf{R}} = t$. We set

$$\{t = \operatorname{Re} \varphi\} = \{(x, t) \in \mathbf{U} \times \mathbf{R}; t = \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x)\} \subset \mathbf{X} \times \mathsf{P}$$

and define the object $E_{U|X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\varphi)$ of $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(I \, \mathbf{C}_X)$ by

$$\mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\varphi) = \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}\times\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{t=\mathrm{Re}\,\varphi\}}\right).$$

Recall the notation $\mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi}$ from Definition 6.1.1.

Lemma **9.3.1.** — Let $Y \subset X$ be a closed hypersurface. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$ be a meromorphic function with poles at Y. Then we have an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{IC}_X)$

 $\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}) \simeq \mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\varphi)[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$

In particular, $\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi})$ is **R**-constructible.

Proof. — We have

$$\mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}} oxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{E}^{- au}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{\varphi- au}_{\mathrm{U} imes\mathbf{C}|\mathrm{X} imes\mathbf{P}}.$$

By Proposition 6.2.2,

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{U}\times\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\varphi-\tau}\right) = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{U}\times\mathbf{C}}, \underset{a\to+\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(\tau-\varphi)< a\}}\right)[d_{\mathrm{X}}+1].$$

and by the definition,

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}) \simeq i^{!} \mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}\times\mathbf{C}|\mathrm{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\varphi-\tau})[1].$$
Hence

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{U}|\mathbf{X}}^{\varphi}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{U}\times\mathbf{R}}, i^{!} \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{\operatorname{Re}(\tau-\varphi) < a\}}[d_{\mathbf{X}}+2]\right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{U}\times\mathbf{R}}, \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{t-\operatorname{Re}\varphi < a\}}[d_{\mathbf{X}}+1]\right),$$

where the last isomorphism follows from

 $\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}\times\mathbf{R}}\otimes i^{!}\mathbf{C}_{\{\mathrm{Re}(\tau-\varphi)<a\}}\simeq\mathbf{C}_{\{t-\mathrm{Re}\varphi<a\}}[-1].$

In $E^{b}(I \mathbf{C}_{X})$ we have

$$\underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim}``}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{t-\operatorname{Re}\varphi < a\}}[1] \simeq \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{`'lim}``}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{t-\operatorname{Re}\varphi \geq a\}} \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\operatorname{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=\operatorname{Re}\varphi\}}$$

Thus we obtain

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}\times\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=\mathrm{Re}\,\varphi\}}\right)[d_{\mathrm{X}}]$$
$$\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}\times\mathbf{R}}, \mathbf{C}_{\{t=\mathrm{Re}\,\varphi\}}\right)[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

Here, the last isomorphism follows from Corollary 4.7.11.

Theorem **9.3.2.** — For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, the object $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{X}(\mathcal{M})$ of $\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ is **R**-constructible.

Proof.

(i) Assume first that \mathcal{M} is a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module with a normal form along a normal crossing divisor D. Then

 $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} := \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1}\mathcal{M}$

is locally a direct sum of $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ -modules of the form $(\mathcal{E}_{X\setminus D|X}^{\varphi})^{\mathcal{A}}$ for $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*D)$ as in Lemma 9.3.1. By Corollary 9.2.3, one has

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}((\mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{X\setminus D|X})^{\mathcal{A}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}\, \varpi^{\,!} \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{X}(\mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{X\setminus D|X}).$$

Since $\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{X\setminus D|X}^{\varphi})$ is **R**-constructible, Proposition 4.9.11 implies that $\mathcal{DR}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}((\mathcal{E}_{X\setminus D|X}^{\varphi})^{\mathcal{A}})$ is **R**-constructible. Hence also $\mathcal{DR}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}})$ is **R**-constructible. By Corollary 9.2.3, $\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi_{*}\mathcal{DR}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}})$ is **R**-constructible.

(ii) We shall apply Lemma 7.3.7 to the statement

 $P_X(\mathcal{M}) = \mathcal{DR}_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})$ is **R**-constructible".

Hypotheses (a) and (b) are obvious, (c) follows from Proposition 4.9.3, (d) from Proposition 4.9.6, (e) from Theorem 9.1.2(iii) and Proposition 4.9.11, and (f) from step (i).

Theorem 9.3.3. — For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{Y})$, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathcal{DR}_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{N}) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathcal{DR}_{X \times Y}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N}).$$

Proof. — The morphism is defined by using Proposition 8.2.4.

By dévissage, using Lemma 7.3.7, we may assume that both \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{N} are holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules having a normal form along a normal crossing divisor. Denote by $D_X \subset X$ and $D_Y \subset Y$ the normal crossing divisors of the singularities of \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{N} , respectively. Note that $\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N}$ has singularities at $D_{X \times Y} := (D_X \times Y) \cup (X \times D_Y)$.

Consider the real blow-ups $\varpi_X \colon \widetilde{X} \to X$ and $\varpi_Y \colon \widetilde{Y} \to Y$. Note that $\widetilde{X \times Y} \simeq \widetilde{X} \times \widetilde{Y}$.

There is a natural morphism

$$\Omega_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \boxtimes^{+} \Omega_{\widetilde{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \to \Omega_{\widetilde{X \times Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}.$$

Hence there are morphisms

$$\begin{split} \left(\Omega_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}\right) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \left(\Omega_{\widetilde{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{Y}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{N}\right) & \to \Omega_{\widetilde{X \times Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X} \boxtimes \mathcal{D}_{Y}}^{\mathsf{L}} \left(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes \mathcal{N}\right) \\ & \simeq \Omega_{\widetilde{X \times Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X \times Y}}^{\mathsf{L}} \left(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N}\right). \end{split}$$

The composite of the above morphisms is isomorphic to

$$\left(\Omega_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}\right) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \left(\Omega_{\widetilde{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{Y}}^{\mathcal{A}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{N}^{\mathcal{A}}\right) \to \left(\Omega_{\widetilde{X \times Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X \times Y}}^{\mathcal{A}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \left(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N}\right)^{\mathcal{A}},$$

i.e. to

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{Y}}(\mathcal{N}^{\mathcal{A}}) \to \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X \times Y}}((\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N})^{\mathcal{A}}).$$

By Corollary 9.2.3, it is enough to show that this morphism is an isomorphism. Then, by Theorem 7.3.6, we may assume $\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{X \setminus D_X \mid X}$ and $\mathcal{N} \simeq \mathcal{E}^{\psi}_{Y \setminus D_Y \mid Y}$ for $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*D_X)$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{O}_Y(*D_Y)$. Hence, by Corollary 9.2.3, one has

$$\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}) \simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi^{!}_{X}\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{X}(\mathcal{M}),$$

and similarly for \mathcal{M} replaced by \mathcal{N} and $\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N}$.

On the other hand, Proposition 4.9.22 implies

$$\mathsf{E} \varpi_{\mathrm{X}}^{!} \mathcal{D} \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathsf{E} \varpi_{\mathrm{Y}}^{!} \mathcal{D} \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{N}) \simeq \mathsf{E} \varpi_{\mathrm{X} \times \mathrm{Y}}^{!} \Big(\mathcal{D} \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathcal{D} \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{N}) \Big).$$

We have thus reduced the theorem to the case $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{X \setminus D_X | X}$ and $\mathcal{N} = \mathcal{E}^{\psi}_{Y \setminus D_Y | Y}$, and we conclude by using the lemma below.

Lemma **9.3.4.** — *Let* X, Y *be complex manifolds,* $D_X \subset X$, $D_Y \subset Y$ *closed hypersurfaces,* and $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*D_X)$, $\psi \in \mathcal{O}_Y(*D_Y)$. Then we have an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathsf{I} \mathbf{C}_{X \times Y})$

$$\mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{X}\backslash \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}}|\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\varphi) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{Y}\backslash \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{Y}}|\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\psi) \simeq \mathrm{E}_{(\mathrm{X}\backslash \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}})\times(\mathrm{Y}\backslash \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})|\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\varphi+\psi).$$

Proof. — We have

$$\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathrm{E}_{\mathrm{X} \setminus \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}} | \mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\varphi)[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \right) \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=-\operatorname{Re}\varphi\}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

One checks easily that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=-\operatorname{Re}\varphi\}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \end{pmatrix} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=-\operatorname{Re}\psi\}}[d_{\mathrm{Y}}] \end{pmatrix} \\ \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=-\operatorname{Re}(\varphi+\psi)\}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}+d_{\mathrm{Y}}].$$

Applying $D_{X \times Y}^{\mathsf{E}}$ and noticing that D^{E} commutes with $\stackrel{\frown}{\boxtimes}$ by Proposition 4.9.21, we obtain the desired result.

9.4. Duality. — Let \mathcal{T} be a tensor category with unit object 1. Recall that an adjunction in \mathcal{T} is a datum $(X_1, X_2, \eta, \varepsilon)$ where $X_1, X_2 \in \mathcal{T}$ and

$$\mathbb{1} \xrightarrow{\eta} X_1 \otimes X_2, \qquad X_2 \otimes X_1 \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathbb{1}$$

are morphisms such that the compositions

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{X}_2 &\simeq \mathbf{X}_2 \otimes \mathbb{1} \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{X}_2 \otimes \mathbf{X}_1 \otimes \mathbf{X}_2 \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbf{X}_2 \simeq \mathbf{X}_2, \\ \mathbf{X}_1 &\simeq \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbf{X}_1 \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{X}_1 \otimes \mathbf{X}_2 \otimes \mathbf{X}_1 \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{X}_1 \otimes \mathbb{1} \simeq \mathbf{X}_1 \end{split}$$

are the identities. In this case, $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(Z, X_2) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(Z \otimes X_1, \mathbb{1})$ functorially in $Z \in \mathcal{T}$, and one calls X_2 a right dual of X_1 .

Let X be a complex manifold. We shall adapt the construction above to the categories $\mathsf{D}^b_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ and $\mathsf{E}^b_{\mathbf{R}\text{-c}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_X)$.

Define the maps

$$p_{i_1\cdots i_m}^n$$
: $\mathbf{X}^n \to \mathbf{X}^m$ by $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \mapsto (x_{i_1}, \ldots, x_{i_m})$.

In particular, p_{11}^1 is the diagonal embedding $\delta \colon X \to X \times X$.

Recall that \mathcal{B}_{Δ_X} is the holonomic $\mathcal{D}_{X \times X}$ -module associated with the diagonal set Δ_X (see (2.5.2)).

$$Lemma \ 9.4.1. \quad -For \ \mathcal{M}, \ \mathcal{M}' \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{good}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}}) \ one \ has$$

$$(9.4.1) \qquad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})}(\mathcal{M}, \ \mathcal{M}')$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}^3})}(\mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[-d_{\mathsf{X}}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}, \ \mathcal{M}' \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}]),$$

$$(9.4.2) \qquad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})}(\mathcal{M}, \ \mathcal{M}')$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{X^{3}})} (\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{X}}[-d_{X}], \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{X}}[d_{X}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}').$$

Proof. — Let us prove only (9.4.1). We have

$$\mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[-d_{\mathrm{X}}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M} \simeq \mathsf{D}p_{112*}^{2} \mathsf{D}p_{2}^{2*} \mathcal{M}[-d_{\mathrm{X}}],$$
$$\mathcal{M}' \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \simeq \mathsf{D}p_{122*}^{2} \mathsf{D}p_{1}^{2*} \mathcal{M}'[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

By Proposition 2.5.1,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X^{3}})}(\mathsf{D}p_{112*}^{2}\mathsf{D}p_{2}^{2*}\mathcal{M}[-d_{X}], \mathsf{D}p_{122*}^{2}\mathsf{D}p_{1}^{2*}\mathcal{M}'[d_{X}])$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X^{2}})}(\mathsf{D}p_{2}^{2*}\mathcal{M}, \mathsf{D}p_{112}^{2*}\mathsf{D}p_{122*}^{2}\mathsf{D}p_{1}^{2*}\mathcal{M}'[d_{X}]).$$

Since

$$(9.4.3) \qquad \begin{array}{c} X \xrightarrow{\delta} X \times X \\ \downarrow \delta & \Box & \downarrow p_{122}^2 \\ X \times X \xrightarrow{p_{112}^2} X \times X \times X \end{array}$$

is a transversal Cartesian diagram, Proposition 2.5.3 gives

$$\mathsf{D}p_{112}^{2*}\mathsf{D}p_{122*}^{2}\mathsf{D}p_{1}^{2*}\mathcal{M}' \simeq \mathsf{D}\delta_*\mathsf{D}\delta^*\mathsf{D}p_{1}^{2*}\mathcal{M}'$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{D}\delta_*\mathcal{M}'.$$

Hence

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}^{3}})}(\mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[-d_{\mathrm{X}}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}' \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}])$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}^{2}})}(\mathsf{D}p_{2}^{2*}\mathcal{M}, \mathsf{D}\delta_{*}\mathcal{M}'[d_{\mathrm{X}}])$$

$$\underset{(*)}{\simeq} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})}(\mathcal{M}, \mathsf{D}p_{2*}^{2}\mathsf{D}\delta_{*}\mathcal{M}')$$

$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}'),$$

where (*) follows from Proposition 2.5.1.

Definition **9.4.2.** — An adjunction in $D^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ is a datum $(\mathcal{M}_{1}, \mathcal{M}_{2}, \eta, \varepsilon)$, where $\mathcal{M}_{1}, \mathcal{M}_{2} \in D^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[-d_{\mathrm{X}}] & \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{M}_{1} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{2}, \\ \mathcal{M}_{2} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{1} \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}] \end{split}$$

are morphisms such that:

(a) the composition

$$\mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[-d_{\mathrm{X}}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{1} \xrightarrow{\eta} \mathcal{M}_{1} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{2} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{1} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathcal{M}_{1} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}]$$

corresponds to $id_{\mathcal{M}_1}$ by (9.4.1),

(b) the composition

$$\mathcal{M}_2 \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[-d_{\mathsf{X}}] \xrightarrow{\eta} \mathcal{M}_2 \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_1 \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_2 \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_2$$

corresponds to $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{M}_2}$ by (9.4.2).

Proposition 9.4.3.

- (i) For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$ there is a natural adjunction $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{X}}\mathcal{M}, \eta, \varepsilon)$, that we denote by $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{X}}\mathcal{M})$ for short.
- (ii) If $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{M}_2, \eta, \varepsilon)$ is an adjunction in $\mathsf{D}^b_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_X)$, then $\mathcal{M}_2 \simeq \mathbf{D}_X \mathcal{M}_1$.

Proof. — Since (i) is obvious, we will prove only (ii).

(ii-a) First, let us show that there is a functorial isomorphism in $\mathcal{L} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$

$$(9.4.4) \qquad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{M}_{2}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}^{2}})}(\mathcal{L} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{1}, \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}]).$$

Consider the map sending $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{M}_{2})$ to the morphism ψ given by the composition

$$\mathcal{L} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_1 \xrightarrow{\varphi} \mathcal{M}_2 \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_1 \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

Consider the map sending $\psi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X^{2}})}(\mathcal{L} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{1}, \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{X}}[d_{X}])$ to the morphism φ which corresponds by (9.4.2) to the composition

$$\mathcal{L} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[-d_{\mathsf{X}}] \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} \mathcal{L} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_1 \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_2 \xrightarrow{\psi} \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{\mathsf{X}}}[d_{\mathsf{X}}] \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_2.$$

Then it is easy to check that these maps are inverse to each other.

(ii-b) By applying (9.4.4) first to the natural adjunction $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathbf{D}_X \mathcal{M}_1)$, and then to the adjunction $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{M}_2, \eta, \varepsilon)$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})}(\mathcal{L}, \mathbf{D}_{X}\mathcal{M}_{1}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X}^{2})}(\mathcal{L} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{M}_{1}, \mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{X}}[d_{X}])$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{D}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{M}_{2}).$$

Hence, by Yoneda, $\mathcal{M}_2 \simeq \mathbf{D}_X \mathcal{M}_1$.

Now, we have a similar formulation for $\mathsf{E}^{\rm b}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}c}(I\,\mathbf{C}_{\rm X}).$ Recall from Notation 4.7.3 that

$$\mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} = \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{X}}^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}},$$
$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} = \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{X}}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}.$$

Lemma 9.4.4. — For $K, K' \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}^{-c}}(I \, \mathbf{C}_{X})$ one has

(9.4.5)
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})}(\mathsf{K},\mathsf{K}') \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{3}})}(\mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathsf{K},\mathsf{K}' \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \omega_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}),$$

 $(\mathbf{9.4.6}) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})}\big(\mathrm{K},\mathrm{K}'\big) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{3}})}\Big(\mathrm{K} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \omega_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}'\Big).$

Proof. — The proof is parallel to that of Lemma 9.4.1. Let us prove only (9.4.5). We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} & \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{K} \simeq \mathsf{E} p_{112!!}^{2} \mathsf{E} p_{2}^{2-1} \mathbf{K}, \\ \mathbf{K}' & \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \omega_{\Delta_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathsf{E} p_{122*}^{2} \mathsf{E} p_{1}^{2!} \mathbf{K}'. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} &\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{3}})} \left(\mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}, \mathrm{K}' \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \omega_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{3}})} \left(\mathsf{E}p_{112!!}^{2} \mathsf{E}p_{2}^{2-1} \mathrm{K}, \mathsf{E}p_{122*}^{2} \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{2!} \mathrm{K}' \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{2}})} \left(\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{2-1} \mathrm{K}, \mathsf{E}p_{112}^{2!} \mathsf{E}p_{122*}^{2} \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{2!} \mathrm{K}' \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{2}})} \left(\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{2-1} \mathrm{K}, \mathsf{E}\delta_{*} \mathsf{E}\delta^{!} \mathsf{E}p_{1}^{2!} \mathrm{K}' \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{2}})} \left(\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{2-1} \mathrm{K}, \mathsf{E}\delta_{*} \mathsf{K}' \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{2}})} \left(\mathsf{E}p_{2}^{2-1} \mathrm{K}, \mathsf{E}\delta_{*} \mathrm{K}' \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X^{2}})} \left(\mathsf{K}, \mathsf{E}p_{2*}^{2} \mathsf{E}\delta_{*} \mathrm{K}' \right) \\ &\simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})} \left(\mathrm{K}, \mathsf{K}p_{2*}^{2} \mathsf{E}\delta_{*} \mathrm{K}' \right) \end{aligned}$$

where (*) follows from the fact that there is a Cartesian diagram (9.4.3).

Definition **9.4.5.** — An adjunction in $\mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ is a datum $(K_{1}, K_{2}, \eta, \varepsilon)$, where $K_{1}, K_{2} \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ and

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} & \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{K}_{1} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{K}_{2}, \\ & \mathbf{K}_{2} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{K}_{1} \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \boldsymbol{\omega}_{\Delta_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \end{split}$$

are morphisms such that:

(a) the composition

$$\mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}_{1} \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} \mathrm{K}_{1} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}_{2} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathrm{K}_{1} \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \mathrm{K}_{1} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \omega_{\Delta_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}$$

corresponds to id_{K_1} by (9.4.5),

(b) the composition

$$\mathbf{K}_{2} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{K}_{2} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{K}_{1} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{K}_{2} \stackrel{\varepsilon}{\longrightarrow} \omega_{\Delta_{\mathbf{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathbf{K}_{2}$$

corresponds to id_{K_2} by (9.4.6).

Similarly to the case of $D_{hol}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, we obtain:

Proposition 9.4.6.

- (i) For $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ there is a natural adjunction $(K, D_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}K, \eta, \varepsilon)$, that we denote by $(K, D_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}K)$ for short.
- (ii) If $(K_1, K_2, \eta, \varepsilon)$ is an adjunction in $\mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}_{-c}}(I\mathbf{C}_X)$, then $K_2 \simeq D_X^{\mathsf{E}}K_1$.

Note that

$$\mathcal{DR}_{X\times X}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{X}}[-d_{X}]\big)\simeq \mathbf{C}_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}, \qquad \mathcal{DR}_{X\times X}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{B}_{\Delta_{X}}[d_{X}]\big)\simeq \omega_{\Delta_{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}$$

Proposition **9.4.7.** — Let $(\mathcal{M}_1, \mathcal{M}_2, \eta, \varepsilon)$ be an adjunction in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$. Then $(\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{M}_1), \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}}(\mathcal{M}_2), \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{X}}(\eta), \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathrm{X}\times\mathrm{X}}(\varepsilon))$ is an adjunction in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}-\mathrm{c}}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})$.

Proof. — This easily follows from the functorial properties of $\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}$.

In particular, the natural adjunction $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{D}_X \mathcal{M})$ in $\mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ induces an adjunction $(\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_X(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_X(\mathbf{D}_X \mathcal{M}))$ in $\mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{IC}_X)$. We thus get the following result.

Theorem **9.4.8.** — For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ there is an isomorphism

$$D_X^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{DR}_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{DR}_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{D}_X\mathcal{M}).$$

Recalling that

$$\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{X}}\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})[d_{\mathrm{X}}],$$

we deduce

Corollary **9.4.9.** — For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^b_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_X)$ there is an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})[d_{\mathbf{X}}] \simeq \mathrm{D}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})).$$

Hence we obtain the following corollary of Theorems 9.1.2, 9.3.3 and Proposition 4.9.21.

Corollary **9.4.10.** — Let $f: X \rightarrow Y$ be a complex analytic map.

(i) For any $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{Y}})$ there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})$

$$\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{D}f^*\mathcal{N}) \simeq \mathsf{E}f^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathbf{Y}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{N}).$$

(ii) Let $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}) \cap \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{good}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$, and assume that $\mathrm{supp} \mathcal{M}$ is proper over Y. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{IC}_{\mathrm{Y}})$

$$Sol_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{D}f_{*}\mathcal{M})[d_{Y}] \simeq \mathsf{E}f_{*}Sol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})[d_{X}].$$

(iii) Let $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and $\mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{Y})$. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X\times Y})$

$$Sol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} Sol_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{N}) \xrightarrow{\sim} Sol_{X \times Y}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes^{\mathsf{D}} \mathcal{N}).$$

We obtain the following corollary of Theorem 9.1.2(iv).

Corollary **9.4.11.** — If $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$ and $Y \subset X$ is a closed hypersurface, then

$$\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}(*\mathrm{Y})) \simeq \pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}\setminus\mathrm{Y}} \otimes \mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}).$$

We also obtain the following corollary of Lemma 9.3.1.

Corollary 9.4.12. — If $Y \subset X$ is a closed hypersurface and $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$, then

$$\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{X} \setminus \mathrm{Y} | \mathrm{X}}^{\varphi} \big) \simeq \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=-\operatorname{Re} \varphi\}}.$$

9.5. *Riemann-Hilbert correspondence.* — Let X be a complex manifold. Recall the hom-functor from Definition 4.5.13

$$\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})^{\mathrm{op}} \times \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}) \to \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}).$$

Proposition **9.5.1.** — There is a functorial morphism in $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$

$$(9.5.1) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big).$$

Proof. — Recall the natural morphisms

$$X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{j_X} X \times \overline{\mathbf{R}} \xrightarrow{\overline{\pi}_X} X$$

By the definition of $\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_X^{\mathsf{E}}$, one has

$$\mathsf{R}_{j_X*}^{\mathsf{i}} \operatorname{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathcal{S}ol_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{R} \mathcal{H}om_{\overline{\pi}_X^{-1} \mathcal{D}_X} \big(\overline{\pi}_X^{-1} \mathcal{M}, \mathsf{R}_{j_X*}^{\mathsf{i}} \operatorname{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathcal{O}_X^{\mathsf{E}} \big).$$

Hence, there is a morphism in $D^{b}(\overline{\pi}_{X}^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X})$

$$\overline{\pi}_{X}^{-1}\mathcal{M} \to \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om\left(\mathsf{R}_{j_{X}*}^{i}\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathsf{R}_{j_{X}*}^{i}\mathsf{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}\right),$$

which induces by adjunction the desired morphism.

Consider the diagonal embedding

 $\delta \colon X \to X \times X.$

Lemma **9.5.2.** — For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$, one has

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\Big(\mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}}, \mathsf{E}\delta^{!}\Big(\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\Big)\Big)[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

In particular, there is a functorial morphism in $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$

(9.5.2)
$$\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\Big(\mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}}, \mathsf{E}\delta^{!}\Big(\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \stackrel{+}{\boxtimes} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\Big)\Big)[d_{\mathrm{X}}].$$

Proof. — By Proposition 4.9.23 and Corollary 8.2.3, for $K \in \mathsf{E}^{b}_{\mathbf{R}-c}(\mathbf{I}\mathbf{C}_{X})$ one has

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathrm{K},\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}})\simeq\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}},\mathsf{E}\delta^{!}(\mathrm{K}\overset{+}{\boxtimes}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}})).$$

Moreover, by Theorem 9.4.8, one has

$$D_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})) \simeq Sol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})[d_{X}].$$

We can now state our Riemann-Hilbert correspondence.

Consider the quasi-commutative diagram of functors

$$(9.5.3) \qquad \begin{array}{ccc} \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}} & \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathbf{R}-\mathrm{c}}(\mathbf{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}})^{\mathrm{op}} & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\ast,\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}})} & \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}) \\ & & & & \\ & & &$$

Theorem **9.5.3**.

(i) For $\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{b}}_{\mathsf{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathsf{X}})$, the morphisms (9.5.1) and (9.5.2) are isomorphisms. This means in particular that we can reconstruct \mathcal{M} from $\mathcal{DR}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\mathsf{X}}(\mathcal{M})$.

(ii) The functor

$$\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{D}_{hol}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X}) \to \mathsf{E}_{\mathbf{R}\text{-}c}^{b}(I\,\mathbf{C}_{X})$$

We will prove (i) in Section 9.6 and (ii) in Section 9.7.

Let us check that the correspondence (9.5.3) is compatible with the classical Riemann-Hilbert correspondence.

Proposition **9.5.4.** — There is a quasi-commutative diagram

where $e(\mathbf{F}) = \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathbf{F}$ is the fully faithful functor of Proposition 4.7.15.

Proof.

- (i) The quasi-commutativity of the left hand side square follows from Proposition 9.1.3.
- (ii) Denote by $i_0: X \to X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ the morphism given by $x \mapsto (x, 0)$. The quasicommutativity of the right hand side square follows from

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{F} \big), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big) \\ \underset{(1)}{\simeq} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \mathrm{F}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big)$$

$$\simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \stackrel{+}{\otimes} (\mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \mathrm{F}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big)$$

$$\simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \Big(\mathbf{C}_{\{t=0\}} \otimes \pi^{-1} \mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \mathrm{F}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big)$$

$$\approx \mathcal{H}om \Big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \mathrm{F}, i_{0}^{!} \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \Big)$$

$$\approx \mathcal{R}\mathcal{H}om \Big(\mathrm{D}_{\mathrm{X}} \mathrm{F}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \Big).$$

Here, (1) follows from Corollary 4.8.4, (2) follows from Lemma 4.5.16, and (3) follows from Lemma 9.5.5 below. \Box

Lemma **9.5.5**. — One has

$$i_0^! \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}},$$

where $i_0: X \to X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty}$ denotes the morphism given by $x \mapsto (x, 0)$.

Proof. — By Theorem 8.2.2, we have

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} = i^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{\mathsf{r}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [1].$$

Let $s: \{0\} \to \mathbf{P}$ be the inclusion, and denote by the same letter the induced map $s: X \to X \times \mathbf{P}$. Then one has $s = i \circ i_0$, and

$$\begin{split} i_{0}^{!} \mathbf{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} &\simeq s^{!} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \right) [1] \\ & \underset{(*)}{\simeq} \left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right)^{r} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{X}\times\mathbf{P} \xleftarrow{s}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \\ & \simeq \left(\mathsf{D}s^{*}\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{-\tau} \right) \otimes_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}. \end{split}$$

Here (*) follows from Theorem 5.2.3(i).

9.6. Reconstruction. — By Lemma 9.5.2, the following result implies Theorem 9.5.3(i).

Theorem **9.6.1.** — Let
$$\mathcal{M} \in \mathsf{D}^{b}_{hol}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$$
. Then, the morphism in Proposition 9.5.1
 $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \right)$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. — Consider the statement

(9.6.1) $P_X(\mathcal{M}) =$ "one has $\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_X^{\mathsf{E}} \right)$ ".

Then the hypotheses of Lemma 7.3.7 are all easily verified, except (e) and (f). We will prove (e) in Lemma 9.6.2 below, and (f) in Lemma 9.6.6 below. Then the theorem follows from Lemma 7.3.7. \Box

187

Lemma **9.6.2.** — Let $f: X \to Y$ be a projective morphism and \mathcal{M} a good holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module. Under notation (9.6.1), if $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true, then $P_Y(\mathsf{D}f_*\mathcal{M})$ is true.

Proof. — One has

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathsf{D}f_{*}\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}} \right) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathsf{E}f_{*}\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})[d_{X} - d_{Y}], \mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}} \right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}f_{*}\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathsf{E}f^{!}\mathcal{O}_{Y}^{\mathsf{E}}[d_{Y} - d_{X}] \right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}f_{*}\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{D}_{Y \leftarrow X} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}f_{*} \left(\mathcal{D}_{Y \leftarrow X} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \right) \right)$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}f_{*} \left(\mathcal{D}_{Y \leftarrow X} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M} \right) = \mathsf{D}f_{*}\mathcal{M},$$

where the last isomorphism follows from the fact that $P_X(\mathcal{M})$ is true.

We now have to show that Theorem 9.6.1 holds if \mathcal{M} is a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module with a normal form along a normal crossing divisor. We begin with the following result, analogous to [2, Proposition 7.3].

Lemma **9.6.3.** — Let $Y \subset X$ be a complex analytic hypersurface and $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*Y)$. Set $U = X \setminus Y$. Then there is an isomorphism in $\mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(I(\mathcal{D}_X \otimes_{\mathbf{C}} \mathcal{D}_{\overline{X}}))$

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{\iota<\operatorname{Re}\varphi\}}[1],\mathcal{D}b_{\operatorname{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{T}}\right)\simeq \mathcal{E}_{U|\operatorname{X}}^{-\varphi}\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}}\mathcal{D}b_{\operatorname{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

Proof. — Recall that $j: X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \to X \times \mathsf{P}$ and $\overline{\pi}: X \times \mathsf{P} \to X$ denote the natural morphisms. Recall that

$$\mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{T}} = j^{!} \mathbf{R} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{P}}} \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{C}|\mathbf{P}}^{\tau}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}} \big) [1].$$

Hence $\mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}$ hom ($\mathbf{C}_{\{t < \mathsf{Re}\varphi\}}[1], \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{T}}$) is represented by the complex

$$(9.6.2) \qquad \overline{\pi}_* \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{t < \operatorname{Re}\varphi\}}, \mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathsf{P}}\right) \xrightarrow{\partial_t - 1} \overline{\pi}_* \mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\{t < \operatorname{Re}\varphi\}}, \mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathsf{P}}\right)$$

with components in degree 0 and 1. We consider them as subanalytic ind-sheaves.

For any relatively compact open subanalytic subset $V \subset X$, (9.6.2) induces a complex

$$(9.6.3) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\big(\{t < \operatorname{Re}\varphi\} \cap (\mathbf{V}\times\mathbf{R})\big) \xrightarrow{\partial_{t}-1} \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathbf{P}}^{\mathsf{t}}\big(\{t < \operatorname{Re}\varphi\} \cap (\mathbf{V}\times\mathbf{R})\big).$$

Hence it is enough to show that (9.6.3) is surjective and that its kernel

$$\ker(\partial_t - 1) = \left\{ u(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathsf{P}} \left(\{ t < \operatorname{Re} \varphi \} \cap (\mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{R}) \right); \ \partial_t u = u \right\}$$

is given by

$$(9.6.4) \qquad \left\{ e^{t-\varphi(x)} v(x) ; \ v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}(\mathbf{V} \cap \mathbf{U}) \right\}.$$

Note that the morphism

$$\left(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{-\varphi}\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)(\mathrm{V}\cap\mathrm{U})\simeq\mathbf{C}\,e^{-\varphi}\otimes\mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathrm{V}\cap\mathrm{U})\rightarrow\ker(\partial_{t}-1)$$

is given by $e^{-\varphi} \otimes v(x) \mapsto e^{t-\varphi(x)}v(x)$.

The surjectivity follows from the surjectivity of

$$\mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{X_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathsf{P}}(V\times\mathbf{R})\xrightarrow{\partial_{l}-1}\mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{X_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathsf{P}}(V\times\mathbf{R}).$$

Neglecting the tempered growth, it is obvious that

$$\{ u(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathsf{P}} (\{ t < \operatorname{Re} \varphi \} \cap (\mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{R})); \ \partial_{t} u = u \}$$

= $\{ e^{t - \varphi(x)} v(x); \ v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}(\mathbf{V} \cap \mathbf{U}) \}.$

Hence, (9.6.4) coincides with ker($\partial_t - 1$) by the following sublemma.

Sublemma **9.6.4.** — For
$$v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}(V \cap U)$$
, one has
 $e^{t-\varphi(x)}v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathbf{P}}^{t}(\{t < \operatorname{Re} \varphi\} \cap (V \times \mathbf{R}))$

if and only if

$$v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b_{\mathbf{X}_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{V} \cap \mathbf{U}).$$

Proof. — Assume $v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}^{t}(V \cap U)$. Since $e^{t-\varphi(x)}$ belongs to $\mathcal{C}_{X_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathsf{P}}^{\infty,t}(\{t < \operatorname{Re} \varphi\})$, one has

$$e^{t-\varphi(x)}v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{X_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathsf{P}}(\{t < \operatorname{Re}\varphi\} \cap (\mathbf{V}\times\mathbf{R})).$$

Conversely, assume $e^{t-\varphi(x)}v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b^{\mathsf{t}}_{X_{\mathbf{R}}\times\mathbf{P}}(\{t < \operatorname{Re}\varphi\} \cap (\mathbf{V}\times\mathbf{R}))$. Take a C^{∞}-function $\chi(t)$ on P whose support is contained in $\{t \in \mathbf{R}; -2 < t < -1\}$ and such that $\int e^{t}\chi(t)dt = 1$. Set

$$W_1 = \{(x, t) \in (U \cap V) \times \mathbf{R}; t < \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x)\}$$
$$Z = \{(x, t) \in (U \cap V) \times \mathbf{R}; \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x) - 2 \le t \le \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x) - 1\}$$
$$W_2 = ((U \cap V) \times \mathsf{P}) \setminus Z$$

Then W₁ and W₂ are subanalytic open subsets and we have $(U \cap V) \times P = W_1 \cup W_2$. Since $\chi(t - \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x))e^{\sqrt{-1}\operatorname{Im} \varphi(x)}$ belongs to $\mathcal{C}_{X_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathbf{P}}^{\infty, t}(W_1)$, we obtain

$$\chi(t - \operatorname{Re}\varphi(x))e^{t - \operatorname{Re}\varphi(x)}v(x) \in \mathcal{D}b^{t}_{X_{\mathbf{R}} \times \mathsf{P}}(W_{1}).$$

Since $\chi(t - \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x))e^{\sqrt{-1}\operatorname{Im} \varphi(x)}v(x)$ vanishes on $W_1 \cap W_2$, there exists $w(x, t) \in \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{p}} \times \mathbf{P}}^t((U \cap V) \times \mathbf{P})$ such that

$$w(x,t)|_{W_1} = \chi \left(t - \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x) \right) e^{t - \operatorname{Re} \varphi(x)} v(x) \text{ and } w(x,t)|_{W_2} = 0$$

Hence, $v(x) = \int w(x, t) dt \in \mathcal{D}b_{X_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{U} \cap \mathbf{V}).$

We deduce the following result, analogous to [2, Proposition 8.1].

Proposition 9.6.5. — Using the same notations as in Lemma 9.6.3, one has

$$\mathsf{R}\pi_*\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}), \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \simeq \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}.$$

In particular,

$$\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}\big), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big) \simeq \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi}$$

Proof. — We have

$$\begin{split} & \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}^{\varphi} \big) \underset{(*)}{\simeq} \mathbf{C}_{\{t \gg 0\}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t < -\operatorname{Re} \varphi\}}[1] \\ & \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}} \, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathsf{R} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}} \big(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{T}} \big), \\ & \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}} \simeq \mathsf{R} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}} \big(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathrm{X}}}, \mathcal{D}b_{\mathrm{X}_{\mathbf{R}}}^{\mathsf{T}} \big), \end{split}$$

where (*) follows from Corollary 9.4.12.

The statement then follows by applying the functor $\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\overline{X}}}(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{X}}, *)$ to the isomorphism of Lemma 9.6.3.

Now it remains to prove the following result, required in the proof of Theorem 9.6.1.

Lemma 9.6.6. — Let \mathcal{M} be a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module with a normal form along a normal crossing divisor. Then

$$\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \right)$$

Proof. — Let $D \subset X$ be a normal crossing divisor and \mathcal{M} a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module with a normal form along D. Set $U = X \setminus D$. We keep the same notations as in Section 7.1 such as $\varpi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}$. We also consider the natural morphisms

$$X \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xleftarrow{\tilde{\sigma}} \widetilde{X} \times \mathbf{R}_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\pi_{\widetilde{X}}} \widetilde{X}.$$

For a $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ -module \mathcal{L} , we set

$$Sol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}) \in \mathsf{E}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{\widetilde{X}}).$$

Similarly to the construction of (9.5.1), we have a morphism

$$(9.6.5) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{S}ol^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}}(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{E}}_{\widetilde{X}} \big).$$

(i) We shall first show

$$(9.6.6) \qquad \qquad \tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes \mathcal{S}ol_{\tilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}})\simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}).$$

Since

(9.6.7)
$$\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \simeq \mathsf{E} \, \varpi^{!} \mathsf{R} \, \mathcal{I} hom \left(\pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \right),$$

we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}) &= \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathcal{A}}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}, \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{D}_{X}}(\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{M}, \mathsf{E}\varpi^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}\right)) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{X}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}})\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathsf{E}\varpi^{!}\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}ol_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})\right), \end{split}$$

where the last isomorphism follows from the fact that ϖ is an isomorphism over U. Hence we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}ig(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}ig)&\simeq \tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})\\ &\simeq\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}ig(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})ig)\\ &\simeq\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}). \end{split}$$

Here, the last isomorphism follows from Corollary 9.4.11.

(ii) Next, we shall show

$$(9.6.8) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} \big), \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big).$$

Since the question is local, we can assume $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi}$ for $\varphi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*D)$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}), \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}), \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \tilde{\varpi}^{\,!} \, \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right)\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}) \otimes \tilde{\varpi}^{-1}\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \tilde{\varpi}^{\,!} \, \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\tilde{\varpi}^{-1} \, \mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \tilde{\varpi}^{\,!} \, \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \\ &\simeq \tilde{\varpi}^{\,!} \, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right), \end{split}$$

where (*) follows (9.6.6). Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{R}\pi_{\widetilde{X}*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}), \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \\ &\simeq \mathsf{R}\pi_{\widetilde{X}*}\tilde{\varpi}^{!}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \\ &\simeq \varpi^{!}\mathsf{R}\pi_{*}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathrm{R}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\right) \\ &\simeq \varpi^{!}\left(\mathcal{M}\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where the last isomorphism follows from Proposition 9.6.5. We have

$$egin{aligned} arpi^{\,\mathrm{!}}ig(\mathcal{M}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}\mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathrm{X}}ig)&\simeq arpi^{\,\mathrm{!}}ig(\mathcal{M}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}\textit{hom}ig(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}},\mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathrm{X}}ig)ig) \ &\simeq arpi^{-1}\mathcal{M}\otimes^{\mathsf{L}}_{arpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}\mathcal{O}^{\mathsf{t}}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, by applying $\alpha_{\tilde{X}}$, we obtain

$$(9.6.9) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}\big), \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big) \simeq \alpha_{\widetilde{X}}\big(\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{M} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{X}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\big) \simeq \mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}$$

by Proposition 7.2.10.

(iii) Now we shall prove the statement

$$\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \left(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \right)$$

By Proposition 7.2.10, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{R}\varpi_*\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} &\simeq \alpha_{\mathrm{X}}\mathsf{R}\varpi_*\big(\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{t}} \otimes_{\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \varpi^{-1}\mathcal{M}\big) \\ &\simeq \big(\alpha_{\mathrm{X}}\mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}},\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{t}}\right)\big) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M} \\ &\simeq \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}(*\mathrm{D}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}}^{\mathsf{L}} \mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{M}. \end{split}$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} \big), \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} \big), \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom \left(\tilde{\varpi}^{-1} \pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathsf{E} \varpi^{\, !} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \right) \big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{S}ol_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}} \big) \otimes \tilde{\varpi}^{-1} \pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}, \mathsf{E} \varpi^{\, !} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathsf{E} \varpi^{-1} \mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} (\mathcal{M}), \mathsf{E} \varpi^{\, !} \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big), \end{split}$$

where the last isomorphism follows from (9.6.6). It follows that

$$\mathsf{R}\varpi_{*}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}\big),\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\big) \simeq \mathcal{H}\mathit{om}^{\mathsf{E}}\big(\mathsf{E}\varpi_{!!}\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}),\mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}\big)$$

by Lemma 4.5.17. Hence, applying $R\varpi_*$ to (9.6.8), we get

$$(9.6.10) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathsf{E}\varpi_{\,!!} \mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1} \mathcal{S}ol_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}), \mathcal{O}_{\mathsf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \big).$$

By Corollary 9.4.11, we have $\mathcal{S}ol_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_U \otimes \mathcal{S}ol_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})$. Moreover, $\overline{\omega} : \widetilde{X} \to X$ is an isomorphism over U. Hence we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}\varpi_{\,!!}\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) &\simeq \mathsf{E}\varpi_{\,!!}\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\big(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})\big) \\ &\simeq \pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathsf{E}\varpi_{\,!!}\mathsf{E}\varpi^{-1}\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \\ &\simeq \pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{U}}\otimes\mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \\ &\simeq \mathcal{S}\mathit{ol}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}). \end{split}$$

We thus obtain the desired result.

Thus the proof of Theorem 9.6.1 is complete.

As a consequence of Theorem 9.6.1, we get the following result (which is also a consequence of Lemmas 9.5.5 and 4.5.16).

Corollary **9.6.7.** — There is an isomorphism in $D^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X})$

 $\mathcal{O}_{X} \simeq \mathcal{H}\textit{om}^{\mathsf{E}} \big(\mathbf{C}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}, \mathcal{O}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \big).$

9.7. Fully faithfulness. — Let us now show that the functor $\mathcal{DR}_X^{\mathsf{E}}$ is fully faithful.

Theorem 9.7.1. — For $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} \in \mathsf{D}^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}})$, there is an isomorphism

$$\mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}_{\mathcal{D}_X}(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{N})\xrightarrow{\sim}\mathcal{H}\mathit{om}^\mathsf{E}\big(\mathcal{DR}^\mathsf{E}_X(\mathcal{M}),\mathcal{DR}^\mathsf{E}_X(\mathcal{N})\big).$$

In particular, the functor

$$\mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}} \colon \mathsf{D}_{hol}^{b}(\mathcal{D}_{X}) \to \mathsf{E}^{b}(\mathrm{I}\,\mathbf{C}_{X})$$

is fully faithful.

Proof. — By Theorem 9.4.8 and Proposition 4.9.13(iv), we have

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{M},\mathcal{DR}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{N})\simeq\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{N},\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{M}).$$

Then, we have

$$\mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{N}, \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}))$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}om^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{S}ol_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathrm{X}}^{\mathsf{E}}))$$
$$\simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{X}}}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}).$$

Here the last isomorphism follows from Theorem 9.6.1.

193

9.8. Stokes phenomenon. — Liner ordinary differential equations with irregular singularities are subjected to the Stokes phenomenon (see for example [26, Section 15] or [8, Section 9.7]). Following [3, Section 7], we show here through an example how, in our setting, the Stokes phenomenon arises in a purely topological fashion.

Let X be an open disc in **C** centered at 0. (We will shrink X if necessary.) Consider the real blow-up $\varpi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ of X along {0}, and recall that $\widetilde{X}^0 = \varpi^{-1}(0)$ is the set of normal directions to 0 in X.

Let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{O}_X(*0)$, and assume that $\psi - \varphi$ has an effective pole at 0. For U = $X \setminus \{0\}$, set

$$\mathcal{M}_0 := \mathcal{E}^{\varphi}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}} \oplus \mathcal{E}^{\psi}_{\mathrm{U}|\mathrm{X}}.$$

Let \mathcal{M} be a holonomic \mathcal{D}_X -module such that $\mathcal{M} \simeq \mathcal{M}(*0)$, sing. supp $(\mathcal{M}) = \{0\}$, and one has

(9.8.1)
$$(\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}})|_{\theta} \simeq (\mathcal{M}_0^{\mathcal{A}})|_{\theta} \text{ for any } \theta \in \widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^0.$$

Note that \mathcal{M} has a normal form along $\{0\}$.

The Stokes curves are the real analytic arcs $\ell_i \subset X$ defined by

$$\left\{\operatorname{Re}(\psi-\varphi)=0\right\}=\bigsqcup_{i\in I}\ell_i.$$

(Here we possibly shrink X to avoid crossings of the ℓ_i 's and to ensure that they admit |z| as parameter.) Since $\mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi} \simeq \mathcal{E}_{U|X}^{\varphi+\varphi_0}$ for $\varphi_0 \in \mathcal{O}_X$, the Stokes curves depend on the choice of φ and ψ .

The Stokes lines L_i , defined as the half-lines tangent to ℓ_i at 0, are independent of the choice of φ and ψ .

The Stokes multipliers of \mathcal{M} describe how the isomorphism (9.8.1) changes when θ crosses a Stokes line.

Let us show how these data are topologically encoded in $\mathcal{DR}_X^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M})$. Set

$$F := \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=\operatorname{Re}\varphi\}} \simeq \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{t-\operatorname{Re}\varphi \ge a\}},$$
$$G := \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\mathsf{E}} \overset{+}{\otimes} \mathbf{C}_{\{t=\operatorname{Re}\psi\}} \simeq \underset{a \to +\infty}{\overset{\text{``lim''}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathbf{C}_{\{t-\operatorname{Re}\psi \ge a\}}.$$

By Corollary 9.2.3, Lemma 9.3.1 and (9.8.1),

$$(9.8.2) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{DR}_{X}^{\mathsf{E}}(\mathcal{M}) \simeq \mathsf{R}\mathcal{I}hom\left(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{U}, \mathbf{H}\right)[1],$$

where H is an enhanced ind-sheaf such that $H \simeq \pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_U \otimes H$ and

$$\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{S}}\otimes\mathrm{H}\simeq\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{S}}\otimes(\mathrm{F}\oplus\mathrm{G})$$

for any sufficiently small open sector S.

Let \mathfrak{b}^{\pm} be the vector space of upper/lower triangular matrices in $M_2(\mathbb{C})$, and let $\mathfrak{t} = \mathfrak{b}^+ \cap \mathfrak{b}^-$ be the vector space of diagonal matrices. Using Proposition 4.7.9 one gets

Lemma **9.8.1.** — Let S be an open sector. (i) If $S \subset \{\pm \operatorname{Re}(\varphi - \psi) > 0\}$, then $\operatorname{End}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}})}(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{S}} \otimes (\mathsf{F} \oplus \mathsf{G})) \simeq \mathfrak{b}^{\pm}.$ (ii) If $S \supset \operatorname{L}_{i}$ for some $i \in \mathsf{I}$ and $S \cap \operatorname{L}_{j} = \varnothing$ for $i \neq j$, then $\operatorname{End}_{\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{b}}(\mathsf{I}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{X}})}(\pi^{-1}\mathbf{C}_{\mathsf{S}} \otimes (\mathsf{F} \oplus \mathsf{G})) \simeq \mathfrak{t}.$

This proves that the Stokes lines are encoded in H. Let us show how to recover the Stokes multipliers of \mathcal{M} as gluing data for H.

Let S_i be an open sector which contains L_i and is disjoint from L_j for $i \neq j$. We choose S_i so that $\bigcup_{i \in I} S_i = U$.

Then for each $i \in I$, there is an isomorphism

$$\alpha_i \colon \pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{S}_i} \otimes \mathbf{H} \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{S}_i} \otimes (\mathbf{F} \oplus \mathbf{G}).$$

Note that α_i is unique only up to left multiplication by elements of $\mathfrak{t} \cap GL_2(\mathbb{C})$ by Lemma 9.8.1(ii).

Take a cyclic ordering of I such that the Stokes lines get ordered counterclockwise.

Since $\{S_i\}_{i \in I}$ is an open cover of U, the enhanced ind-sheaf H is reconstructed from $F \oplus G$ via the gluing data given by the Stokes multipliers

$$A_i = \alpha_{i+1} \alpha_i^{-1} |_{\pi^{-1}(S_i \cap S_{i+1})},$$

where $A_i \in \mathfrak{b}^{\pm} \cap \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ if $\pm \operatorname{Re}(\varphi - \psi) > 0$ on $S_i \cap S_{i+1}$ by Lemma 9.8.1(i).

Note that, replacing A_i with $A'_i = \gamma_{i+1}A_i\gamma_i^{-1}$ for $\gamma_i \in \mathfrak{t} \cap GL_2(\mathbb{C})$, one gets an enhanced ind-sheaf isomorphic to H.

Acknowledgements

We thank Pierre Schapira, who taught us that the ind-sheaf \mathcal{O}_X^t of tempered holomorphic functions is an appropriate language for the study of irregular holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules.

We also thank Takuro Mochizuki for his explanations on the structure of irregular holonomic \mathcal{D} -modules.

The first author acknowledges the kind hospitality at RIMS, Kyoto University, during the preparation of this paper.

Finally, we wish to thank the anonymous referee for his/her careful reading of our manuscript and his/her suggestions to simplify the proof of Proposition 4.9.6.

ANDREA D'AGNOLO, MASAKI KASHIWARA

REFERENCES

- 1. D. G. BABBITT and V. S. VARADARAJAN, Local moduli for meromorphic differential equations, *Astérisque*, **169–170** (1989), 217 pp.
- A. D'AGNOLO, On the Laplace transform for tempered holomorphic functions, Int. Math. Res. Not., 16 (2014), 4587– 4623.
- 3. A. D'AGNOLO and M. KASHIWARA, On a reconstruction theorem for holonomic systems, *Proc. Jpn. Acad., Ser. A, Math. Sci.*, **88** (2012), 178–183.
- 4. A. D'AGNOLO and P. SCHAPIRA, Leray's quantization of projective duality, Duke Math. J., 84 (1996), 453-496.
- P. DELIGNE, Équations Différentielles à Points Singuliers Réguliers, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 163, Springer, Berlin, 1970, iii + 133 pp.
- 6. P. DELIGNE, B. MALGRANGE and J.-P. RAMIS, Singularités Irrégulières, Correspondance et documents, Documents Mathématiques, vol. 5, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2007, xii + 188 pp.
- S. GUILLERMOU and P. SCHAPIRA, Microlocal theory of sheaves and Tamarkin's non displaceability theorem, in *Homological Mirror Symmetry and Tropical Geometry*, Lect. Notes of the UMI, vol. 15, pp. 43–85, Springer, Berlin, 2014.
- E. HILLE, Ordinary Differential Equations in the Complex Domain, Pure and Applied Mathematics, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1976, xi + 484 pp.
- 9. M. KASHIWARA, The Riemann-Hilbert problem for holonomic systems, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 20 (1984), 319-365.
- M. KASHIWARA, *D-modules and Microlocal Calculus*, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 217, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 2003, xvi + 254 pp.
- M. KASHIWARA and P. SCHAPIRA, Sheaves on Manifolds, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 292, Springer, Berlin, 1990, x + 512 pp.
- M. KASHIWARA and P. SCHAPIRA, Moderate and formal cohomology associated with constructible sheaves, Mém. Soc. Math. France, 64 (1996), iv + 76 pp.
- 13. M. KASHIWARA and P. SCHAPIRA, Ind-sheaves, Astérisque, 271 (2001), 136 pp.
- 14. M. KASHIWARA and P. SCHAPIRA, Microlocal study of ind-sheaves. I. Micro-support and regularity, Astérisque, 284 (2003), 143–164.
- M. KASHIWARA and P. SCHAPIRA, *Categories and Sheaves*, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 332, Springer, Berlin, 2006, x + 497 pp.
- K. S. KEDLAYA, Good formal structures for flat meromorphic connections, I: surfaces, *Duke Math. J.*, 154 (2010), 343–418.
- K. S. KEDLAVA, Good formal structures for flat meromorphic connections, II: excellent schemes, J. Am. Math. Soc., 24 (2011), 183–229.
- H. MAJIMA, Asymptotic Analysis for Integrable Connections with Irregular Singular Points, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1075, Springer, Berlin, 1984, xiv + 249 pp.
- T. MOCHIZUKI, Good formal structure for meromorphic flat connections on smooth projective surfaces, in Algebraic Analysis and Around, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 54, pp. 223–253, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2009.
- 20. T. MOCHIZUKI, Wild harmonic bundles and wild pure twistor \mathcal{D} -modules, Astérisque, **340**, (2011), x + 607 pp.
- G. MORANDO, An existence theorem for tempered solutions of D-modules on complex curves, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 43 (2007), 625–659.
- G. MORANDO, Preconstructibility of tempered solutions of holonomic *D*-modules, Int. Math. Res. Not., 4 (2014), 1125– 1151.
- C. SABBAH, Équations différentielles à points singuliers irréguliers et phénomène de Stokes en dimension 2, Astérisque, 263, (2000), viii + 190 pp.
- 24. C. SABBAH, Introduction to Stokes Structures, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2060, Springer, Berlin, 2013, xiv + 249 pp.
- 25. D. TAMARKIN, Microlocal condition for non-displaceability, 2008, 93 pp., arXiv:0809.1584v1.
- W. WASOW, Asymptotic Expansions for Ordinary Differential Equations, Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. XIV, Wiley, New York, 1965, ix + 362 pp.

RIEMANN-HILBERT CORRESPONDENCE

A. D. Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Padova, via Trieste 63, Padova 35121, Italy dagnolo@math.unipd.it

M. K. Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan masaki@kurims.kyoto-u.ac.jp

> Manuscrit reçu le 13 novembre 2013 Manuscrit accepté le 4 août 2015 publié en ligne le 26 août 2015.